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Manitoba Public Insurance delivers value to Manitobans through  

an optimum combination of price, coverage, service and access.   

It’s what we call our Value Equation.
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Manitoba Public Insurance is a provincial Crown corporation that has provided automobile insurance coverage since 1971.  
We assumed a broader spectrum of services in 2004, when we merged driver and vehicle licensing into our operations.  

The Corporation is governed by The Manitoba Public Insurance Corporation Act and The Drivers and Vehicles Act. 

This annual report is available in French at mpi.mb.ca 

Le rapport annuel est disponible en français sur le site Web mpi.mb.ca

Customer service 
Winnipeg

Tel: 204-985-7000

Outside Winnipeg

Tel: 800-665-2410

Deaf Access TTY/TDD

Tel: 204-985-8832

Out-of-Province Claims

Tel: 800-661-6051

Administrative offices
Winnipeg

234 Donald Street
Box 6300
R3C 4A4

Brandon

731-1st Street
R7A 6C3

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Service locations

WINNIPEG
Service Centres

15 Barnes Street
40 Lexington Park
1284 Main Street
930 St. Mary’s Road
125 King Edward Street East
1103 Pacific Avenue
420 Pembina Highway

cityplace 

Service Centre - Main Floor
ID Verification and Data Integrity
Rehabilitation Management Centre
Serious and Long-Term Case  
	 Management Centre 
Bodily Injury Centre
234 Donald Street

Physical Damage Centre 

Holding Compound/Receiving
Salvage
Commercial Claims
1981 Plessis Road

ARBORG 
Service Centre

323 Sunset Boulevard

BEAUSEJOUR
Service Centre

848 Park Avenue

BRANDON
Service Centre

731-1st Street

DAUPHIN
Service Centre

217 Industrial Road

 

 

FLIN FLON
Claim Centre

8 Timber Lane

PORTAGE LA PRAIRIE
claim Centre

2007 Saskatchewan Avenue West
 

Driver and Vehicle

Licensing Centre

25 Tupper Street North

SELKIRK
Service Centre

1008 Manitoba Avenue

STEINBACH
Claim Centre

91 North Front Drive
 

Service Centre

165 Park Road West 
Clearspring Village Mall, Unit 2

SWAN RIVER
Claim Centre

125-4th Avenue North

THE PAS
Claim Centre

424 Fischer Avenue

THOMPSON
Service Centre

53 Commercial Place

WINKLER
Service Centre

355 Boundary Trail

Manitoba Public Insurance Locations
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Manitoba Public Insurance delivers value to Manitobans through  

an optimum combination of price, coverage, service and access.   

It’s what we call our Value Equation.
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Letters of Transmittal

June 1, 2012

Honourable Andrew Swan 
Minister Responsible for Manitoba Public Insurance 
Room 104, Legislative Building 
450 Broadway 
Winnipeg, MB R3C 0V8

Dear Minister:

In accordance with Section 43(1) of The Manitoba Public Insurance Corporation 
Act, I have the honour of submitting the Annual Report of the Manitoba Public 
Insurance Corporation for the fiscal year ended February 29, 2012.

Respectfully submitted,

Jake Janzen 
Chairperson of the Board

June 1, 2012

The Honourable Philip S. Lee 
Lieutenant Governor of the Province of Manitoba 
Room 235, Legislative Building 
450 Broadway 
Winnipeg, MB R3C 0V8

May it please your Honour:

I have the privilege of presenting the Annual Report of the Manitoba 
Public Insurance Corporation for the fiscal year ended February 29, 2012.

Respectfully submitted,

Andrew Swan 
Attorney General and Minister of Justice 
Minister Responsible for Manitoba Public Insurance
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2011 Year-End Summary
The following are 2011/12 fiscal year totals, covering the period March 1, 2011 to February 29, 2012.

Dollars and Cents	

Approximate value of Autopac claims paid per working day	 $2.4 million

Total Autopac claims paid for injury and property damage occurring in 2011/12,  

	 respectively (before expenses) 	 $138.2 million and $458.4 million

Amounts paid by Manitoba Public Insurance to Manitoba medical practitioners on behalf of customers 	 $29.6 million

Commissions paid by Manitoba Public Insurance to independent insurance brokers for product sales	 $77.0 million

Grants-in-lieu of taxes paid to Manitoba municipalities by Manitoba Public Insurance	 $1.8 million

Provincial premium taxes paid by Manitoba Public Insurance	 $18.8 million

Dollars invested in road safety programs	 $15.8 million

Estimated savings to policyholders through use of recycled parts	 $15.3 million

Estimated direct savings to policyholders through subrogation	 $15.7 million

Significant Numbers

Average number of Autopac claims reported to Manitoba Public Insurance per working day	 1,109 

Total Autopac claims reported	 277,198 

Bodily injury claims reported	 16,595 

Property damage claims reported	 260,603 

Total theft claims reported in Winnipeg	 1,587 

Total theft claims reported elsewhere in province	 745

Number of Autopac policies in force (average)	 1,012,922 

Corporate Five Year Statistics	 2011/12		 2010/11		 2009/10	 2008/09		 2007/08

Premiums Written ($000)	 959,540 	 929,724 	 906,229 	 885,682 	 842,053   

Claims Incurred ($000)	 701,850  	 418,411  	 614,198  	 605,643  	 618,399  

Number of Claims	 277,201  	 275,763  	 267,611  	 254,856  	 280,319  

Average Cost per Claim ($)	 2,532 	 1,517  	 2,295  	 2,376  	 2,206  

Claim Expenses ($000)	 132,325  	 110,857  	 97,448  	 90,443  	 84,505 

Other Expenses ($000)	 238,347  	 236,104  	 232,973  	 221,563  	 194,879  

Net Income (Loss) ($000)	 37,423  	 292,516  	 86,944 	 (6,555	) 	 97,440  

Net Income (Loss)  
 After Surplus Distribution ($000)	 23,303 	 (29,162	) 	 86,944 	 (6,501	) 	 34,875  

Investments At Year-End ($000)	 2,254,732 	 2,420,738		 2,207,582	 2,022,893		 2,181,838

Total Assets ($000)	   2,787,210 	 2,992,030		 2,791,551	 2,434,137		 2,570,939
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Seated (Left to Right) 

Kerry Bittner, Vice-Chairperson
Jake Janzen, Chairperson 
Manisha Pandya

Standing (Left to Right) 

Marilyn McLaren, Ex-Officio
Debbie Mintz 
Ed Arndt
Mary Johnson 
Annette Maloney 
Dale Paterson 
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Forty years ago, Manitoba Public Insurance  
was established to provide all Manitobans with 
guaranteed access to mandatory automobile 
insurance. The founding principles included 
providing rates lower than charged by private 
insurers for comparable coverage, being  
financially self-sufficient and operating at a  
financial breakeven level, providing ease in  
claims procedures, and pursuing road safety  
and loss prevention programs. These principles 
translate into what we call our value equation, 
where price + coverage + service + access  
add up to value for all Manitobans. 

Four decades later, our founding principles  
remain solid as the Corporation evolves its business  
to meet the changing needs and expectations  
of Manitobans. 

Last year, 87 cents on every dollar was returned  
back to Manitobans in the form of claims  
benefits – significantly higher than the  
industry average.

We also continued with our record of rate stability  
by holding the line or reducing rates for 13 of the  
last 14 years. For the coming insurance year, the 
Public Utilities Board approved an eight per cent 
decrease in premium rates. In fact, a recent price 
comparison clearly shows that our public auto 
insurance system provides excellent value:

•	 A 35-year-old couple, each with no claims or 	
	 convictions for 15 years, driving a 2010 Dodge 	
	 Grand Caravan SE, can expect to pay rates eight 	
	 per cent higher in Regina than in Winnipeg. 	
	 In Calgary, those rates would be 44 per 		
	 cent higher and in Toronto they would be  
	 343 per cent higher.  

It’s the same story for most drivers and it 
demonstrates that comparable comprehensive 
auto insurance costs less in Manitoba than almost 
anywhere else in Canada. Our rates are among the 
lowest in the country and we regularly outperform 
private insurance companies in the ratio of claims 
benefits paid to premium revenue collected. 
The Corporation’s use of investment income to 
supplement premium revenue, our break-even 
financial mandate and our comparatively low 
administrative expense ratio have enabled us to  
pay out a high percentage of premium revenue  
in the form of claims benefits.  

Year after year, Manitobans have told us that they 
would choose the most complete coverage over  
the lowest price. Our public auto insurance system 
has successfully and consistently provided both.

I would like to recognize the commitment of my 
colleagues on the Board of Directors and commend 
the executive team, management and employees 
of Manitoba Public Insurance who are constantly 
examining opportunities to enhance the value that 
public auto insurance provides. We have faithfully 
served Manitobans for the past 40 years and, 
working together, we will continue to fulfill  
our mandate of reducing risk on the road. 

Jake Janzen
Chairperson of the Board

0 5
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Seated (Left to Right) 

Kathy Kalinowsky  
General Counsel and Corporate Secretary

Dan Guimond  
Vice-President,  
Strategy and Innovation and  
Chief Information Officer 

Heather Reichert  
Vice-President,  
Finance and Chief Financial Officer

Standing (Left to Right)

Marilyn McLaren  
President and Chief Executive Officer

Christine Martin  
Vice-President,  
Service Operations

Ted Hlynsky  
Vice-President,  
Claims Control and Safety Operations

MaryAnn Kempe  
Vice-President,  
Community and Corporate Relations



Manitoba Public Insurance Annual Report 2011

Manitoba Public Insurance has been a vital part  
of the provincial landscape since 1971, when  
public automobile insurance replaced a system  
that was seen as expensive, inadequate and 
confusing to the public. 

During these 40 years, results have shown that  
the public auto insurance system clearly works for 
the benefit of all Manitobans. Within the context 
of our Value Equation, Manitoba Public Insurance 
provides guaranteed access to high-quality coverage 
at an affordable price – without prejudice towards 
age, gender or other arbitrary factors – and excellent 
service when and where you need it. 

Independent information shows that Manitobans 
pay among the lowest auto insurance rates in the 
country, and the injury coverage guaranteed through 
The Manitoba Public Insurance Corporation Act is 
among the broadest and most comprehensive.  
The Personal Injury Protection Plan (PIPP) ensures 
that Manitobans are compensated adequately, fairly 
and promptly for economic losses from automobile 
collisions anywhere in Canada and the United States. 
Last year, PIPP benefits were increased to provide 
even greater coverage for those who need it most.  

While our coverage remains among the best 
in Canada, the global financial climate and the 
unpredictability of weather patterns is such that  
cost restraint is imperative. The Corporation will 
continue to exercise due fiscal restraint to ensure  
all expenditures are appropriate and necessary.  

And as always, service remains a top priority.  
Last year, the Corporation continued the transition 
of Claim Centres into Service Centres, providing a 

wider range of services under one roof. Thanks  
in large part to the strength of our employees  
and business partners, including our strong broker 
network, 80 per cent of our customers told us  
they’ve had a positive experience when dealing  
with Manitoba Public Insurance. We firmly believe 
that customer satisfaction must be earned every 
single day and, as a result, we are continually 
listening to Manitobans to learn how we can better 
serve their needs – both now and in the future.

Last year, we held public consultations where 
Manitobans were invited to share their views on the 
Corporation’s role in the area of road safety. The 
results were grounded in a clear understanding of 
the connection between claims costs and rates, 
and showed strong support for our involvement in 
promoting road safety.  

However, we understand that the needs of Manitobans 
are constantly evolving and we continue to look for 
ways to enhance our service, to be more innovative 
and efficient, and to stay at the forefront of the industry. 

For four decades, Manitobans have relied on 
Manitoba Public Insurance to provide quality 
automobile insurance coverage and, as we move 
forward, we will continue to deliver value through 
the best possible combination of price, coverage, 
service and access.  

  
Marilyn McLaren 
President and Chief Executive Officer

0 7
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Public automobile insurance was introduced  
in Manitoba after extensive public hearings  
found the existing private system to  
be inadequate, expensive and confusing.  

The Manitoba Public Insurance Corporation  
officially opened for business in 1971 and for  
the past 40 years has undergone constant  
and meaningful change to continually improve  
and enhance service and value for Manitobans.  

Created to deliver guaranteed access to  
mandatory insurance and to offer additional  
coverage in competition with others, the goals  
of the Corporation were to: 

•	 offer protection at a lower price than that  
	 charged by private insurance companies  
	 for comparable coverage

•	 be financially self-sufficient

•	 return 85 per cent of premium revenue  
	 in the form of claims benefits

•	 operate at a financial break-even level  
	 over the long term

•	 minimize inconvenience in claims service

•	 promote road safety

•	 encourage investment of insurance capital  
	 in Manitoba

From 1971 until now, the Corporation has delivered  
on these goals and we have been successful,  
in large part, because we have never lost sight  
of these founding principles. As we drive forward,  
we will remain focused and will continue to ensure 
that Manitoba Public Insurance remains relevant to 
the citizens of this province and that the combination  
of price, coverage, service and access continues  
to equal value for all Manitobans.

0 9

Autopac On-Line 
introduced

Merger with 
Division of 
Driver and 

Vehicle 
Licensing

TIPS line 
introduced to 
combat fraud

1 9 9 5 2 0 0 4 2 0 0 9

government will continue to regulate
many DVL activities after the Act
comes into effect—for example, it
will still set the standards for driver
and vehicle fitness, rules ofoperation, fees and appeals.While the merger presents many

opportunities, they will not be fully
realized unless the staff and partners
of Manitoba Public Insurance begin
to think of the corporation in new

A natural evolution 
Manitoba begins issuing driver
licences and registering vehicles

Motor Vehicle Branch is created to
administer driver licencing, vehicle
registration and safety programs

Manitoba Public Insurance opens its
doors, providing mandatory insurance
for all registered vehicles

Manitoba Public Insurance begins
Road Safety program in keeping with
founding objectives

Motor Vehicle Branch becomes
Division of Driver and Vehicle
Licencing (DDVL)

High school driver education,
snowmobile and bicycle safety, and
vehicle inspection programs are
transferred from DDVL to Manitoba
Public Insurance

Manitoba Public Insurance introduces
the Personal Injury Protection Plan Autopac On-Line is launched, providing

real-time and convenient transactions
for brokers and customers

Graduated Driver Licencing program is
unveiled in a joint effort between
DDVL and Manitoba Public InsuranceManitoba Public Insurance and DDVL

merge with aim of improvingcustomer service and efficiency.

M A N I TO B A  P U B L I C  I N S U R A N C E 2 0 0 4 A N N U A L  R E P O R T

13 |

Q | So where does the integration go
from here? 

A | In 2005 we’ll be working veryaggressively on a business process
review that will help us determine
where the best opportunities are and
which ones we should pursue first.
One thing is certain: We have an aging
driver’s licence system and an aging
licence photo system that have to be
dealt with. We have teams working
right now to figure out how to best
address those urgent requirements. 

When the integration is completed, 
I think Manitobans will see the most
tangible improvements in the area of
road safety. For example, we have
the opportunity to forge muchstronger links between the financial

incentives for good drivers in our
insurance programs, and themonitoring and corrective efforts of

our Driver Improvement and Control
Program. By working together, we
can provide much stronger incentives
for the kind of safe road behaviour
that everyone wants and supports.

13 |

1908

Early
1950s

1971

1981

1984

1987

1994

1995

2002

2004

•••

ways. It’s important to articulate
a new vision that reflects the full
scope of our role and theimportance of partnership. Webegan the new fiscal year guided

by a new mission statement:“Working with Manitobans toReduce Risk on the Road.” As we
embark on the next stage of ourevolution, we look forward toexploring many new ways offulfilling this vision.

“Safe driving hasalways been one of ourmain concerns, forboth business andsocietal reasons. Nowwe’ll have more of thefactors at our control.”

1 9 9 8

improved services 
related to 

Driver Education 
registration, 

driver testing, 
Vehicle Safety and 

Inspection and 
glass claims

2 0 1 0

Driver licensing 
services  

expandED

Winkler Claim 
Centre becomes 

test site for 
new full Service 

Centre model 
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Driver Safety 
Rating introduced

Multi-year Renewals and  
one-piece licences 

introduced 

 Protect yourself

 against the cost of 

insurance fraud. 

All calls are completely confi dential.  

Call the 

Tips Line 

985-8477 
1-877-985-8477

Outside Winnipeg

E-Mail: tips@mpi.mb.ca

Fax: 985-8299

985-8477

Know of 

 false claim?someone making a
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WHAT MATTERS 

v a l u i n g

Manitoba Public Insurance delivers value to 
Manitobans through an optimum combination  
of price, coverage, service and access. It’s what  
we call our Value Equation.

We continually seek ways to enhance the value of the 
equation through ongoing dialogue with Manitobans. 

Our surveys show that Manitobans believe value is 
about more than price. Given a choice, 74 per cent 
of our customers say they would choose the most 
complete coverage over the lowest cost insurance. 
We are proud to provide both.

 

1 0
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price  
Affordable  
insurance

coverage  
Comprehensive  

protection against  
the cost of  
collisions

service  
Service where  

and when  
you need it

ACCESS   
Easily attainable  

coverage and  
services that do  
not discriminate

Our rates are consistently among the lowest and most stable in Canada. 
For example, a 21-year-old male with a clean driving record living in Ontario 
would pay almost eight times the rate he would here in Manitoba, and in 
Alberta he would pay 2.5 times more. 

Since 1994, the cost of auto insurance for Manitobans has grown at a 
consistently lower rate than the national average, ensuring premiums 
remain reliable and affordable. While Manitoba’s rates have increased  
1.9 per cent per year, the national average has grown at 4.6 per cent  
per year – 2.4 times higher than in Manitoba.

The majority of Manitobans want complete coverage and that’s what  
we’re delivering. The Personal Injury Protection Plan (PIPP) provides fair 
and timely access to high-quality benefits for all Manitobans injured in a 
motor vehicle collision anywhere in Canada and the United States. Even 
if you don’t drive or own a vehicle, you qualify for comprehensive bodily 
injury insurance just because you live in this province. And for those who 
need vehicle repairs following a collision, we work with industry partners  
to ensure we remain a leader in service, repair quality and cost containment. 

We strive to be easy to reach. Our toll-free contact centre is open six 
days a week, a range of services are available through more than 300 
Autopac agents across the province, and our Service Centre model 
provides the convenience of a full range of services at one location.

It all adds up to quality service, and 92 per cent of Manitobans who 
completed an Autopac or driver’s licence transaction at either an 
Autopac agent or Service Centre said they are satisfied with the 
service they received. 

Although that’s a high level of customer satisfaction, we are not 
resting on our laurels. We recognize that our customers’ needs 
and expectations continuously change and we pride ourselves on 
constantly evolving to deliver high levels of service and value that 
meet those needs. 

Manitoba Public Insurance was founded on the principle of universal  
access to mandatory auto insurance.

Rates are based, in part, on an individual’s driving behaviour. That’s why the 
Driver Safety Rating recognizes safe driver behaviour in a fair and simple 
way – safe driving behaviour yields more savings, while higher-risk driving 
behaviour brings higher premiums. Drivers are not discriminated against 
on the basis of age, gender, marital status or other arbitrary factors, making 
affordable, comprehensive auto insurance within reach of all Manitobans.

Currently, 90 per cent of Manitobans live within an hour of a Service or 
Claim Centre.

Manitoba Public Insurance Annual Report 2011
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for all Manitobans. 

Here’s how
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When the provincial government’s Division of 
Driver and Vehicle Licensing merged with Manitoba 
Public Insurance in 2004, three key objectives were 
set – to improve customer service, to save costs 
and become more efficient by reducing overlap  
and duplication, and to create a new model to  
meet the licensing, registration and insurance 
needs of Manitobans. 

In order to maximize the opportunities presented 
by the merger, the Corporation established the 
Extension Development Fund, which appropriated 
excess retained earnings from the competitive lines 
of business to defray the costs of improvement 
initiatives. 

Through the integration of driver licensing, vehicle 
registration, driver insurance and vehicle insurance, 
Manitoba Public Insurance was able to develop a 
holistic view of our customers and their vehicles.  
This enabled us to provide products and services 
that are responsive and relevant to the changing 
needs of our communities. It also led to the 
refinement of our customer-centric model, allowing 
us to serve Manitobans where and when they 
need us and reduce unnecessary or lower-value 
interactions.

Since 2004, we’ve been continuously working on 
initiatives that have been made possible by the 
merger and can now say we’ve fully realized  
our long-term vision. Following is a summary  
of those initiatives:

1 2

THROUGH ENHANCED  
CUSTOMER SERVICE AND VALUE

   V I S I O N    R E A L I Z E D
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Long-term  
vision initiatives

Service Centre  Delivery Model

The conversion of Claim Centres into full Service Centres  
allows a full range of products and services to be offered in one  
convenient location, often with extended hours on evenings  
and Saturdays. One-stop convenience was also added  
to driver testing. 

Vehicle Registration, Insurance and Driver Licensing

Manitobans can now renew their driver’s licence and insurance at once  
as well as benefit from multi-year, streamlined licence and policy renewals, 
reducing the time spent at an Autopac agent.

Driver Safety Rating

Manitobans believe that safe driving should be recognized through  
lower Autopac premiums, and a large majority of Manitoba drivers told  
us it is important to consider a person’s driving history when determining 
individual insurance rates. The Driver Safety Rating program was  
developed with that in mind. Introduced in 2010, it  recognizes safe  
driving behaviour in a fair and simple way. It offers stronger financial  
incentives to drive safely, is easy to understand and provides a direct  
link between driving behaviour and driver licence and Autopac premiums.

Identification Cards

The 2009 introduction of the Enhanced Identification Card and the  
Enhanced Driver’s Licence ensures ease and affordability to cross  
the U.S. border by water or land, while the Manitoba Identification 
Card provides secure and widely-recognized photo identification.  
A one-piece driver’s licence was also introduced that year.

Driver Education

Registration for the Driver Education program, previously only conducted  
at high schools, is now available at Autopac agents throughout the province. 
Further convenience was added as Manitobans are also now able to purchase 
and book a road or knowledge test at any Autopac agent or Service Centre. 

The merger with the Division of Driver and Vehicle Licensing brought  
together all aspects of the driving experience from driver education and  
testing to acquiring a licence, and insuring and registering a vehicle.  
This has enabled the Corporation to better align and improve its road  
safety efforts for all drivers and focus on maximizing ways to further  
improve safety in the future.

 

The merger between Manitoba  
Public Insurance and the Division  
of Driver and Vehicle Licensing 
presented many opportunities to 
enhance value for all Manitobans.  
We have maximized those  
opportunities and the results are 
benefiting Manitobans through 
the optimum combination of price, 
coverage, service and access that 
makes the Manitoba auto insurance 
system one of the best values  
in Canada.

Manitoba Public Insurance Annual Report 2011
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Safer roads, saving lives  
and preventing injuries

Road safety is an issue that matters a great deal 
to Manitobans. Safer roads mean fewer collisions, 
fatalities and injuries and lower auto insurance  
rates – goals we can all agree on.

Last year, Manitobans were invited to share their 
views on the Corporation’s role in the area of 
road safety. Approximately 1,100 responses were 
received, providing valuable insight. 

Manitobans shared their thoughts through an 
online survey, written comments and in-person 
conversations with Manitoba Public Insurance staff at 
shopping malls across the province. The Corporation’s 
executive also met with representatives from 16 
stakeholder groups. The findings were compiled 
in a report on road safety, which is available on our 
website at mpi.mb.ca/RoadSafetyConsultation/
indexresults.html

There was strong recognition that Manitoba Public 
Insurance has unique insight into road safety issues, 
given our experience and knowledge of drivers 
and their related claims and road safety behaviour. 
Results show that nine out of 10 people agree that 
Manitoba Public Insurance should be involved in 
promoting road safety and eight out of 10 people 

believe the Corporation should play a lead role  
in this regard.

This demonstrates that there is clear support for a 
broader role for Manitoba Public Insurance. Road 
safety is an issue that matters a great deal to the 
public and to the many stakeholders and expert 
groups in the province.

Support from citizens for Manitoba Public Insurance’s 
actions seems grounded in a clear understanding 
of the linkages between claims costs and rates. It 
has been and remains important to us to align our 
activities and programs with public expectations and 
to build public awareness and understanding for 
emerging approaches that can reduce risk on the road.

With respect to the many stakeholder groups, the 
Corporation is gratified by their overwhelming 
call for Manitoba Public Insurance to lead and 
coordinate road safety efforts in the province,  
and to collaboratively develop a comprehensive 
road safety strategy.

Going forward, we are committed to working with 
stakeholders to redefine a clear road safety role  
and mandate.
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IMPROVEMENTS 
TO THE driver safety  
rating PROGRAM

True to our mission of working with Manitobans to reduce 
risk on the road, we launched several new safety initiatives 
last year, and some of our long-term programs celebrated 
significant milestones. 

•	 To combat the use of hand-operated electronic devices, 	
	 including cell phones, we provided $120,000 in funding 	
	 to Winnipeg Police Service, RCMP and Brandon Police 	
	 Service to conduct dedicated enforcement.

•	 We launched a province-wide campaign to raise 		
	 awareness about the likelihood of wildlife  
	 collisions, and we partnered with the City of Winnipeg 	
	 and Winnipeg Police Service on a pilot project to 		
	 warn drivers of wildlife dangers in high-risk city areas. 	
	 The Corporation also provides province-wide maps  
	 on our website identifying high-risk areas. 

•	 Recognizing an increasing trend for Manitobans to use 	
	 cycling as a form of transportation and recreation, we 	
	 worked with cycling advocates and the City of Winnipeg 	
	 to promote safe cycling and raise both driver and cyclist 	
	 awareness of their respective rights when sharing the road. 

•	 Two new programs targeting young drivers were also 	
	 launched. More than 16,000 Manitoba teens attended 	
	 sessions of the Friends for Life speaker series, where 	
	 they heard first-person accounts of the real-life physical 	
	 devastation and emotional trauma caused by drinking 	
	 and driving. Our Rethink Road Safety video contest 	
	 invited 16-25 year-olds to create videos showing the 	
	 dangers of impaired driving, speeding, aggressive 		
	 driving or distracted driving. 

•	 In response to concerns from the Manitoba Association 	
	 of School Superintendents, we launched a pilot 		
	 project to encourage safety in school zones by raising 	
	 awareness among parents of speeding and traffic 		
	 congestion near schools.

•	 The 60-Second Driver, a popular television series,  		
	 celebrated 10 years of broadcasting safe-driving tips.	
	 And school safety patrols celebrated 75 years of helping 	
	 kids travel safely to and from school.

 
Road Safety is one of three inextricably linked key business 
elements currently being examined to determine a 
new business vision that capitalizes on new technology, 
business practices and opportunities. Through awareness 
programs and enforcement, Manitoba Public Insurance 
is continuously working towards achieving our mission of 
reducing risk on Manitoba roadways.

reducing risk  
on the road

The Driver Safety Rating recognizes 

and rewards safe driver behaviour: 

safe driving yields more savings, 

while higher-risk driving brings 

higher premiums. 

Last year, drivers who demonstrated  
the safest behaviour earned even 
greater savings. The premium discount 
for Manitobans who have driven safely 
for 15 years was increased to 33 per cent 
of their basic Autopac premium. People 
who have demonstrated safe driving 
behaviour for 10 to 14 years save 
between 26 and 30 per cent. 

To better encourage safe driving 
behaviour, those who display the 
highest-risk behaviour will pay  
more with the maximum  
driver licence premium  
increasing to $2,000 in 2012.
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Manitoba Public Insurance works hard  
to be known for service excellence

We recognize that our customers are unique and 
have varying needs for services and products,  
and for how and when they access them.  

Our polling shows that Manitobans are extremely 
satisfied with the service they receive. However,  
we understand that our customers’ needs and 
expectations continually change and we constantly 
evolve to ensure we are meeting those expectations. 
We are committed to enhancing service, year-in and 
year-out, even as the price of Basic Autopac goes down. 

When we merged with Manitoba’s Division of Driver 
and Vehicle Licensing in 2004, the ultimate goal was 
to improve service and value through a more holistic 
customer experience. This vision has been realized 
through a number of service improvements, and 
we continue to examine customer service as one 
of three inextricably linked key business elements 
to help determine a new business vision that 
capitalizes on new technology, business practices 
and opportunities.  

1 6
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service centres

The new Selkirk Service Centre officially opened, providing area residents  
the convenience of a full range of services under one roof. The facility 
is almost double the size of the former Claim Centre, which had been in 
operation since 1976. 

The new centre was designed to meet the certification requirements for the 
silver Leadership in Energy and Environmental Design (LEED) rating,  which 
will reduce energy consumption and environmental impact, contributing to 
operational cost savings that ultimately benefit all customers. 

Meanwhile, two of our existing facilities – St. Mary’s Road Service Centre and 
cityplace  – became the latest Manitoba Public Insurance workplaces to be 
certified as BESt buildings by the Building Owners and Managers Association 
of Manitoba. BESt is Canada’s leading environmental certification program 
for commercial buildings and the designations reflect the Corporation’s 
commitment to protecting the environment. Service Centres in Arborg, 
Beausejour, Winkler and Winnipeg (Pembina Highway, King Edward Street  
and Pacific Avenue locations) have previously received the designation.

Driver Education 
and testing

Minimizing disruptions   
during extraordinary circumstances

Last spring, Manitoba Public Insurance maintained service and minimized 
disruptions for our customers during severe overland flooding that affected 
a significant portion of the province. We worked to meet customer needs 
in affected regions by ensuring timely claims payments, temporarily halting 
late-payment notifications and suspensions, and rescheduling services and 
appointments. Our employees also volunteered their time in flood fighting 
efforts.

This past year we made it more 
convenient to register for both 
Driver Education classes and 
road tests. Registration for Driver 
Education, previously conducted  
at high schools, is now available 
at Autopac agents throughout the 
province. Payment options were 
enhanced and all course schedules 
and availability are accessible to 
students online at mpi.mb.ca.

One-stop convenience was also 
added to driver testing. Manitobans  
are now able to purchase and book 
a road or knowledge test at any 
Autopac agent or Service Centre 
throughout the province. 

Further enhancements  
were added in select rural  
Service Centres, where  
a new role combines  
the responsibilities of  
an adjuster and a driver  
examiner. This new role  
addresses variability in  
customer need and provides  
more effective and efficient  
service for customers  
at these locations.

Official opening of  
Selkirk Service Centre
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Claims Administration

The current physical damage claims management 
model has long been an industry leader in terms  
of service, efficiency and cost containment. 

Emerging technologies and best practices are creating 
opportunities to refine and improve this model. 
Physical Damage Claims Administration is one of three 
inextricably linked key business elements currently 
being examined to determine a new business vision 
that capitalizes on new technology, business practices 
and opportunities. 

Going forward, we will continue to ensure safe, high 
quality repairs, to contain costs wherever possible 
through the claims life cycle and to achieve efficiencies 
with the repair industry. 

Our historic four-year agreement with the  
Automotive Trades Association and the Manitoba  
Motor Dealers Association has set the stage for the 
collaborative development of process improvements 
that will ensure a robust and sustainable repair  
industry. We are addressing recruitment and  
retention of highly-skilled trades people through  
financial incentives to registered apprentices.  
Last year, Manitoba apprentices in the Motor Vehicle 
Body Repairer Program and Motor Vehicle Body Painter 
Program received more than $400,000 in tool 
allowances and program grants.

The Corporation is also a sponsor of Skills Manitoba, 
a not-for-profit organization that promotes the skilled 
trades and technology sectors. We provide assistance 
to the organization’s mechanical and autobody  
repair competitions.

p h y s i c a l   dama g e
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Enhanced coverage  
for injured Manitobans 

THE PERSONAL INJURY PROTECTION PLAN 

Manitoba Public Insurance administers a world-class 
Personal Injury Protection Plan (PIPP) to support 
Manitobans who are recovering from injuries 
sustained in vehicle collisions. 

PIPP provides claimants with superior care and 
support, allowing them to lead fulfilling and active 
lives. All Manitoba residents who hold a licence  
or insurance are covered in the event of a motor 
vehicle collision anywhere in Canada and the U.S.

Last year, PIPP benefits were increased to provide 
even greater coverage and assistance for claimants 
with lifestyle changes associated with their injuries.

Through The Manitoba Public Insurance Corporation 
Act, the government determines the appropriate 
balance between coverage and cost. The Province 
of Manitoba is also continually seeking new and 
innovative ways to further enhance the benefits  
that PIPP provides and to ensure Manitoba continues 
to be a leader in comprehensive injury coverage.

1 9



valuing What Matters

our COMMUNITies

Employee Participation
Manitoba Public Insurance employees actively 
participate in fundraising and volunteer efforts  
to benefit their communities. 

More than 1,300 employees contributed to last  
year’s United Way workplace campaign. The generosity 
of employees also extended to the Red Cross Horn of 
Africa Drought Appeal and the Red Cross and Salvation 
Army flood relief efforts in Manitoba. Additionally, staff 
members donated time and effort to fight floodwaters 
in Lundar and St. Laurent.

During the annual Operation Donation campaign, 
employees donated more than 13,200 pounds of 
food to Winnipeg Harvest and 12 other food banks 
and soup kitchens throughout the province. 

Two teams of employees participated in the Manitoba 
Dragon Boat Festival raising funds for the Canadian 
Cancer Society. 

The Corporation is the primary sponsor of Operation 
Red Nose and more than 100 staff volunteered their 
time to get drivers and their vehicles home safely 

during the holiday season. Employees participated 
in the communities of Arborg, Brandon, Dauphin, 
Flin Flon, Gimli, Portage la Prairie, Selkirk, The Pas, 
Thompson and Winnipeg. 

Employees also rallied in support of the Christmas 
Cheer Board, donating goods to fill more than 
20 hampers and volunteering their time to make 
deliveries to families in need. 

Individuals also volunteered their time and raised 
money for a number of other worthy organizations 
throughout the year, including Habitat for Humanity, 
Cerebral Palsy Association of Manitoba, Heart and 
Stroke Foundation, Koats for Kids, Juvenile Diabetes 
Research Foundation and more. 

This spirit of giving continues a long tradition of 
Manitoba Public Insurance and its employees 
working throughout the province to help build safe, 
healthy and sustainable communities.

Manitoba Public Insurance and its employees are committed to enhancing the well-being of our communities. 
This commitment is demonstrated through support for a wide range of initiatives across the province.2 0

S U P p oR T i ng
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School Safety Patrols: Patrols celebrated 

their 75th anniversary last year. From humble origins in 

1936 at Greenway School, the program has grown to 

include 8,000 elementary school children in Winnipeg 

and 2,000 in other areas across the province. Manitoba 

Public Insurance provided $50,000 in funding in 2011, 

and partners with CAA Manitoba to administer the 

program and help kids travel safely to and from school.

Citizens on Patrol Program: We marked 

10 years as a proud sponsor of the Citizens on Patrol 

Program (COPP), which now has 70 active groups 

throughout the province. Manitoba Public Insurance 

provides $200,000 in funding to COPP, a volunteer-based, 

grassroots program that provides an effective outlet  

for citizens to address local community concerns 

with an emphasis on reducing crime and creating 

community awareness of road-safety issues.

Driver Education: The Corporation offered two 

new programs to improve access to driver training. 

We provided a Driver Education course at the Natural 

Resources Youth Training Program – held last summer 

80 kilometres north of The Pas – for aboriginal youth in 

isolated northern areas. Eleven young people received 

professional driving instruction and obtained their 

Class 5L licence (Learner Stage).  

We also administered a Manitoba government pilot 

program called Drive to Succeed, which incorporated 

Driver Education into the Salvation Army’s Life and 

Employability Enhancement Program for recent 

immigrants. The program provides driver training 

for newcomers to whom a driver’s licence can be an 

essential tool that can help gain and keep employment 

and assist in day-to-day living.

Initiatives in  

our communities
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Corporate Profile 

Corporate Vision

Manitoba Public Insurance will be a leader in 
automobile insurance and driver services, providing 
Manitobans with guaranteed access to superior 
products, coverage and value. We will anticipate and 
meet the evolving needs of Manitobans. We are 
dedicated to offering province-wide accessibility and, 
in co-operation with our business partners, will 
perform at the highest attainable levels of economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness. 

Manitoba Public Insurance will make our roadways 
and communities safer by enforcing standards for 
drivers and vehicles, by raising awareness of the 
inherent risk of driving and by investing in lasting 
solutions. We will develop educational programs  
and controls that help and encourage Manitobans  
to acquire the skills to avoid collisions. 

Our people will deliver knowledgeable service with 
care, efficiency and justifiable pride, and will be 
appropriately recognized for their contributions in 
helping the Corporation achieve its goals. Manitoba 
Public Insurance will be one of the best and most 
inclusive places in the province to work and pursue  
a career, where people will deliver knowledgeable 
and caring services in new and innovative ways. 

We will ensure Manitobans understand and support 
the unique contribution Manitoba Public Insurance 
makes to the province.

Corporate Mission 

Working with Manitobans to reduce risk on the road. 

Corporate Values 

At Manitoba Public Insurance, we value: 

OUR CUSTOMERS

Our customers’ interests are at the heart of everything 
we do. We balance the individual customer’s needs 
with the needs of Manitobans as a whole. We base 
our relationships on respect, fairness, honesty and 
integrity. We safeguard the confidentiality of information 
and personal privacy. We are committed to the 
highest ethical standards and excellence in service. 

OUR PEOPLE 

Our people are given the skills, tools and encouragement  
they need to succeed. We provide a respectful, 
inclusive and safe environment where our staff is well 
trained, confident and committed to the Corporate 
Mission. We provide our people with clear and 
consistent direction. Our people have the authority 
they need to do their jobs, providing a sense of 
achievement from their work, and the opportunity for 
career growth and advancement. We encourage and 
support our people to make a positive contribution, 
both inside and outside the workplace.

WORKING TOGETHER 

We work co-operatively with each other and with  
our business associates, sharing expertise, ideas  
and resources. Each of us, in our daily work, creates  
a team environment, drawing on one another to  
do the best job possible. Our communication with 
one another is respectful, appropriate and helpful.

FINANCIAL RESPONSIBILITY 

Manitoba Public Insurance holds the funds of its 
policyholders in trust to meet their needs into the 
future. We operate in a fiscally responsible and 
cost-effective manner, using investment income  
to reduce rates and provide long-term benefits  
to Manitobans. 

EXCELLENCE AND IMPROVEMENT 

We constantly improve our products, services  
and procedures. As our customers’ needs and the 
business environment continue to change, so must 
we. We value initiative, creativity and a strong desire 
for personal, team and corporate success in 
everything we do. We recognize and reward 
excellence and improvement in our work. 

OUR CORPORATE CITIZENSHIP 

We lead by example, conducting our affairs 
responsibly and professionally. We contribute  
to the social and economic well-being of  
our communities as well as the sustainable  
development of Manitoba now and into the future.

Social and Economic Contribution

Manitoba Public Insurance takes a proactive role  
in identifying, and investing in, lasting solutions  
to community safety issues related to our business 
mandate. Like any major corporate citizen, we 
support local charities and non-profit organizations  
to enhance the quality of life for Manitobans. It is  
with an eye to future generations and the health of 
our communities and province that Manitoba Public 
Insurance ensures its business and purchasing 
practices as well as its operations are in keeping  
with the principles of sustainable development.

The Corporation’s Service  
Delivery Model 

Manitoba Public Insurance was created in 1971  
with the primary purpose of administering the basic 
compulsory, universally available auto insurance 
program. From the beginning, basic insurance was 
charged to both vehicle owners and drivers in an 
integrated manner, along with vehicle registration  
and driver licensing. Said another way, registration 
and insurance have been inextricably linked on both 
driver’s licences and vehicle registration since 1971. 

This integration of licensing and insurance is one  
of the greatest advantages of our public insurance 
system, because it significantly reduces the likelihood 
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of uninsured drivers on the roadway by ensuring that  
all licensed drivers are insured drivers and all registered 
vehicles are insured vehicles. 

From 1971 until the Division of Driver and Vehicle 
Licensing (DDVL) merged with the Corporation in 2004, 
work effort and responsibility were shared in the 
following manner: 

•	 Manitoba Public Insurance administered vehicle 
registration and insurance processing.

•	 DDVL administered driver’s licensing and insurance. 

In 2004, the government merged the operations of the 
former DDVL (which was a division of the Ministry of 
Transportation) and Manitoba Public Insurance, and the 
Corporation became responsible for the administration 
of The Drivers and Vehicles Act (DVA). 

The government’s stated objectives for the  
2004 merger were to: 

•	 Improve customer service. 

•	 Save costs and become more efficient by reducing 
overlap and duplication.

•	 Create a new model for meeting the licensing, 
registration and insurance needs of Manitobans. 

The Corporation’s chosen approach to achieving the 
third objective was to enhance its customer-centric 
service model and create a truly holistic approach to 
serving Manitobans. The Board of Directors took the 
view that not only was this an opportunity to significantly 
improve service, but a responsibility to enhance value to 
Manitobans to the maximum extent possible. A portion 
of excess retained earnings from non-Basic lines of 
business was set aside beginning in 2007 for this 
purpose. A total of $91.7 million has been set aside,  
of which $70.9 million has been expensed to date. 

Today, the Corporation, its staff and business partners 
are available to serve Manitobans where and when they 
need us and we have significantly reduced unnecessary 
or lower value interactions. This new model would not 
have been possible without the merger and is clearly  
a leading practice in delivering customer service. 

BROKER NETWORK 

Independent insurance brokers are the main conduit for 
selling and renewing Autopac insurance and renewing 
driver’s licences. Brokers have also taken on additional 
responsibilities, including registration for Driver Education.

As well, a significant change in driver testing occurred 
last year. Driving tests can now be scheduled at any of 
the more than 300 broker locations throughout the 
province and at all Service Centres. 

Customers have responded very favourably to the 
broadening of the Autopac broker’s role. In general, 93 
per cent of Autopac and driver’s licence customers were 
satisfied with the overall level of service they received at 
a broker’s office. More specifically, last year 92 per cent 
of customers said they received prompt service while at 

a broker’s office, 98 per cent of customers responded 
positively when asked if their account transactions are 
processed promptly and 97 per cent said brokers treated 
them courteously and politely.

Brokers have welcomed and supported the changes to 
the service delivery model. They have recognized that 
together, we are enhancing the value provided  
to Manitobans by the automobile insurance  
and registration system.

SERVICE CENTRES

The Corporation continued to move forward with its new 
service model, opening the Selkirk Service Centre in May 
2011. The new Service Centre model combines all claims, 
insurance sales, driver testing and licensing services 
under one roof and is proving popular among Manitobans.

The Selkirk Service Centre follows the construction of 
three Winnipeg Service Centres in 2010. After a full year 
of operations, feedback indicates customers are extremely 
satisfied with the comprehensive services, locations, 
hours of service and professionalism of employees. 

As further convenience for our customers, all non-contentious 
claims from across the province were centralized into  
a dedicated Claims Processing Unit. This new unit 
enables a pool of claims processors access to handle  
any customer query on the first call. This increased 
accessibility has allowed for faster response times  
and a consistent application of policies and procedures.

A hybrid position of driver examiner and adjuster was 
also introduced last year at the Dauphin, Thompson, 
Selkirk and Steinbach Centres. This new position 
provides the flexibility required to meet the seasonal 
variations in demand for services in these areas so 
customers can now obtain driver tests in a more 
convenient and timely manner. 

ROAD SAFETY 

Manitoba Public Insurance continues to focus efforts on 
education, awareness and strategies to build community 
involvement in helping to reduce risk on the road. Our 
goals are to inform and educate Manitobans about key 
road safety concerns, including the risks and costs 
associated with speed and aggressive driving, impaired 
driving (whether from alcohol, drugs or fatigue), the use 
of hand-held devices when driving and non-use of 
occupant restraints such as child car seats and seat belts. 

In collaboration with other like-minded road safety 
stakeholders and community groups throughout 
Manitoba, we continue to develop new initiatives  
to address emerging safety concerns. 

With the understanding that traditional road safety 
models require coordinated education and enforcement 
efforts to have a maximum impact, we continue to work  
closely with the Manitoba Association of Chiefs of Police, 
which includes representation from the Royal Canadian 
Mounted Police, the Brandon Police Service and the 
Winnipeg Police Service. This partnership has resulted in 
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a yearly integrated awareness and enforcement campaign 
calendar that is distributed across the province to 
facilitate coordinated action from community groups, 
enforcement agencies and Manitoba Public Insurance. 
This integrated approach is an effective way to improve 
driver behaviour and ensure efficient use of valuable road 
safety resources. We also provide data and data-capture 
tools that assist police agencies in tailoring their 
enforcement efforts. 

Reducing impaired driving continued to be a key focus  
of our awareness activities. Report Impaired Drivers 911, 
a pilot project to educate Manitobans on how to spot and 
report impaired drivers, was launched in partnership with 
Brandon Police Service, MADD Canada and the Manitoba 
Liquor Control Commission.The campaign resulted in 
increased 911 calls to report impaired drivers and will be 
expanded to other communities in the future. The Corporation 
also increased funding to RoadWatch, a successful 
program that combines increased law enforcement  
and public awareness to reduce impaired driving.

Community involvement remained a key component of 
our safety initiatives. Participation grew significantly in 
SpeedWatch, which lends radar-operated speed reader 
boards to community groups. The boards display the 
posted limit and the driver’s speed, sending the message 
that speeding is not acceptable. There are now 24 
community members in the SpeedWatch program. 
Nearly all of them are also part of our Citizens on Patrol 
Program (COPP), a crime prevention and community 
safety program that grew by 17 per cent last year. 

The Corporation also remains the proud sponsor of 
Manitoba’s High School Driver Education Program, and 
works closely with Safety Services Manitoba in the delivery  
of other road safety and driver improvement courses.

THE CORPORATE SERVICE VISION

Manitoba Public Insurance will continue to define a new 
corporate vision and philosophy for Customer Service, 
Physical Damage Claims Administration and Road  
Safety – three distinct, yet inextricably linked elements  
of our business. 

Over the next few years, we will create a service delivery 
framework and transformational roadmap that will serve 
as a foundation for the development of a comprehensive 
project plan. This plan will guide our staff and business 
partners as we work together to meet the evolving 
needs and expectations of our customers.

Corporate Governance

Responsibilities of the Board 

Manitoba Public Insurance was created by an act of the 
Legislature to achieve the Corporation’s founding 
principles. The Corporation’s Board, appointed by the 
Government of Manitoba, ensures that corporate policies 
are consistent with its public policy mandate. The Board 
is also responsible for policy development and approval, 
and provides oversight and monitoring. The Board is 

currently at eight members. The President and Chief 
Executive Officer is an Ex-Officio Member of the Board 
and the Board Committees. 

The Corporation has a comprehensive annual strategic 
planning process. The Board approves a five-year 
strategic plan. Flowing from that document are lines of 
business strategies, human capital forecasts, premises 
and technology requirements, as well as a financial 
forecast. Divisional plans and departmental strategies 
support the strategic plan. 

In 2005, the Corporation introduced an anonymous and 
confidential Whistleblower Hotline system for the receipt, 
retention and treatment of complaints about suspected 
fraud or financial mismanagement from employees. In 
2006, the Corporation took steps to ensure it was fully 
compliant with the then-new Public Interest Disclosure 
(Whistleblower Protection) Act. 

As these matters are of paramount concern to the Board 
of Directors and senior management, the Corporation 
has retained the services of an independent third party  
to administer the Hotline, receive complaints and provide 
reports directly to the Chair of the Audit Committee,  
the corporate General Counsel and Manager of Internal 
Audit – recognizing that employees will be more likely  
to submit reports if they have a direct channel open  
to them with which they are comfortable.

Furthermore, it is the policy of the Corporation to ensure 
there are no reprisals against any employee for accessing 
the Whistleblower Hotline and making a report, should 
the identity of the reporting employee become known 
despite stringent provisions for confidentiality. The purpose 
of the policy is to discipline those responsible, not to 
discipline those who report such abuses. 

Under the provisions of The Manitoba Public Insurance 
Corporation Act, the Board Chairperson is required to 
provide the Minister Responsible for Manitoba Public 
Insurance with an annual report, which is subsequently 
reviewed by the Standing Committee of the Legislature. 
Additional oversight is provided by the Crown 
Corporation Council, a body given legislative authority  
to conduct a mandate and strategy review of provincial 
Crown corporations. The Public Utilities Board approves 
Basic Autopac insurance rates.

Whistleblower Report 

This report on the Whistleblower Hotline covers  
the fiscal period March 1, 2011, to February 29, 2012. 

A report was submitted to the Whistleblower Hotline 
regarding the potential inappropriate assignment  
and use of a corporate vehicle to an employee.  
An investigation was conducted which revealed there was 
merit to the allegation and use of the car was terminated. 
The employee, however, had been authorized to use  
the vehicle by their supervisor, who had since retired.  
The whistleblower was informed of the results of the 
investigation and the complaint concluded.
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Fair Practices Office 

Our public auto insurance system strives for continuous 
improvement in all aspects of its operation, particularly 
those aimed at ensuring fair and appropriate service 
to customers. With that goal in mind, the Fair Practices 
Office (FPO) was created in 1999. 

The FPO is a means for customers and other interested 
parties to bring issues of a systemic nature to the attention 
of the Corporation. The FPO generally deals with concerns 
related to corporate policy, or issues involving complex 
or unusual situations where the correct interpretation 
of policy may seem unclear. The office may initiate its 
own investigations or respond to inquiries referred by 
others. It is free to scrutinize the Corporation’s policies 
and procedures in an objective and constructive manner. 

The office reports its observations directly to the 
President and Chief Executive Officer. It can make 
recommendations about an operational decision on  
a specific case(s) and alert senior management of any 
systemic concerns or policies that should be addressed. 

Many of these matters are referred to the FPO by the 
provincial Ombudsman, by staff and by customers. 
Inquiries of a systemic or policy nature may also be 
referred by the Customer Relations unit, which deals 
primarily with individual customers. 

The number of inquiries continues to decline and is 
indicative of a trend over the years. This year the office 
handled 173 inquiries, down from 198 last year. The 
Corporation continues to improve processes for 
handling escalating concerns and for identifying 
duplicate inquiries. As a result, we anticipate individual 
customer inquiries will continue to be successfully 
resolved without the involvement of the FPO.

Compliance to Legislative Authority: 
Sustainable Development Act 

In accordance with Section 14 of The Manitoba 
Sustainable Development Act (1997), the Corporation 
did not experience any environmental incidents 
between March 1, 2011, and February 29, 2012.  
The Corporation has a sustainable development 
program including policies and guidelines to reduce 
the environmental impact of the Corporation and  
its business partners. Highlights of this program  
are outlined as follows.

ENVIRONMENTAL TESTING 

The Corporation undertakes environmental testing  
to ensure that environmental risks are detected  
and managed. 

Environmental Testing  Results (2011/12)  

New properties to identify  
environmental issues.

No testing occurred during the reporting period. 

Well water quality at those sites  
where a well is used. 

Testing showed no bacterial contamination. 

Runoff water and sediments  
for vehicle related contaminants. 

Drainage water test samples showed levels below environmental 
guidelines except one sample that contained higher levels of heavier 
hydrocarbons (likely diesel or engine oil). The tanks and containment 
berms were checked for possible leakage with no problems being 
found. Subsequent testing showed only low levels of hydrocarbon.

Waste audits to evaluate recycling  
success and opportunities. 

  Results showed that the Corporation continues to achieve a high level 
of waste diversion.

  

2011 Fair Practice Results 

In the 2011/12 fiscal year, the FPO 
received 173 documented inquiries  
from the following referral sources:

The FPO recommended the Corporation 
revise its decision in 24 situations, or about 
14 per cent of the cases it reviewed.

Customer 25

Formal Ombudsman inquiries 11

Informal Ombudsman inquiries 117

Internal referrals 20
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FLEET VEHICLE MANAGEMENT

The Corporation has a fuel-efficient fleet highlighted 
by a large percentage of hybrid, four-cylinder and 
E-85 vehicles. Average fuel efficiency for the regular 
fleet improved from 11.9 to 11.6 litres /100 km  
in the last year.

FACILITIES MANAGEMENT 

The Corporation continues to apply sustainable 
practices in the construction and operation of its 
facilities including certifying buildings to accepted 
environmental standards.

•	 LEED (Leadership in Energy and Environmental 
Design) Silver Certification for New Construction: 
four undergoing verification.

•	 BOMA (Building Owners and Managers 
Association) Go Green Plus Certification for 
Existing Buildings: eight certified and one underway.

All of the Corporation’s newest Service Centres meet 
these standards. 

In older buildings, the Corporation pursues 
sustainable upgrades during lifecycle replacement or 
major renovations by adding features found in its 
newer buildings including: 

Heating, Ventilating  

and Air Conditioning (HVAC) 

•	 Digital control and integration  
of major HVAC components. 

•	 High efficiency components  
(boilers, roof-top units, heaters). 

•	 Geothermal heat pumps that utilize ground 
temperature to heat and cool the building. 

•	 Glycol heat recovery systems to reuse exhaust heat 
within the building. 

•	 Variable speed motors in HVAC components  
to conserve electricity. 

•	 Air quality sensors to control the amount of fresh 
air brought into the building. 

•	 Under-floor heat distribution. 

Electrical Conservation 

•	 Design elements (reflective light shelves, clerestory 
windows, skylights in garages) in newer facilities 
make better use of natural light and reduce the 
need for artificial lighting. 

•	 Sensor-controlled lighting uses occupancy and 
natural light sensors to control light fixture output. 

•	 Conversion of older incandescent lighting used  
in garages and outside buildings to more efficient 
compact fluorescent, T5 fluorescent, halogen 
lighting and LED exit lights. 

•	 High efficiency hot water tanks. 

•	 Temperature sensitive block heater plugs. 

•	 LED handheld estimating lights.

Water Conservation 

•	 Low flow toilets and fixtures. 

•	 Waterless urinals. 

•	 Sensor-controlled bathroom fixtures. 

RECYCLING AND THE USE OF RECYCLED GOODS 

The Corporation has programs to divert waste into reusable forms and promotes the use of materials  
with recycled content.

Results (2011/12) Activity

27,278 Salvage vehicles were sold to automobile recyclers and the public to be rebuilt  
or used for replacement parts.

21,603 Salvage vehicles had freon extracted from the vehicle air conditioning system.

3,168  Litres of gasoline extracted from salvage vehicles and used for corporate vehicles.

 
Materials are recycled including:

431 Electronic devices

194 Tonnes of paper and cardboard

0.3 Tonnes of plastic and metal containers

9.26 Tonnes of carpet

87,308  Recycled parts used in claims repairs
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STRATEGIES 

1.1	 Basic automobile insurance – to ensure that the 
basic, compulsory program meets the needs  
of Manitoba motorists for affordable, accessible 
and comprehensive coverage. 

1.2 	 To keep all controllable costs at their lowest 
possible level through loss prevention strategies. 

1.3	 To improve the efficiency and convenience of 
Manitoba Public Insurance’s distribution and 
service network by reducing or eliminating  
low value transactions. 

1.4	 To the maximum extent possible, leverage 
synergies offered by strategic partners that are 
mutually beneficial, improve customer service 
and reduce costs. 

1.5	 To increase the percentage of revenue derived 
from investment income while remaining within 
acceptable investment risk profiles. 

1.6 	 To create and maintain an information 
technology environment that is efficient, 
adaptable, expandable and current to capitalize 
on opportunities. We will use economies of 
scale, new technology and existing capabilities 
to improve customer service or reduce costs.

1.7 	 We will develop systems that leverage 
technologies and processes across divisions 
providing the greatest corporate  
benefit possible.

1.8	 To maintain the Basic Insurance Rate 
Stabilization Reserve to protect vehicle  
owners from rate increases caused by 
unexpected events and losses resulting  
from non-recurring events or factors. 

Corporate Goals, Strategies and Measures 

Manitoba Public Insurance’s Goals, Strategies and Measures are as follows:

Goal 1 

Universally available mandatory protection against the cost of automobile accidents. Rates, on average,  
will be lower than those charged by private insurance companies for comparable coverage and service.

measures 21 year old
Five-year clean  
driving record

35-year-old couple
Both with 15-year  

clean driving records

40-year-old couple
Both with 15-year  

clean driving records

16-year-old son
Accident-free

	 Winnipeg	 $ 1,179	 $992	 $1,037

	 Calgary	 $3,045	 $1,431	 $2,859

	 Toronto	 $9,370	 $4,398	 $8,041

	 2012 rates based on:  
2010 Dodge Caravan SE,  

$500 All Perils deductible,  
$2 million third-party liability

Notes:

1.	 The Dodge Caravan SE is the most common passenger vehicle registered in Manitoba.

2.	 Manitobans will pay less for their automobile insurance in 2012 than all major Canadian cities.

RATE COMPARISON CHART
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Goal 2 

The Basic plan will return at least 85 per cent of premium revenue to Manitobans in the form 
of claims benefits. 

STRATEGIES	

2.1	 To maintain operating costs at a maximum  
of 50 per cent of industry average.	

2.2	 To break even over the long term on Basic 
automobile insurance. 	

2.3	 To use investment income to reduce the 
average premium paid by Manitobans.	

Premium returned for each dollar earned

0
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100Per cent of every
premium dollar
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measures

Goal 3 

Manitoba Public Insurance will be a leader in automobile insurance and vehicle and driver licensing, providing 
Manitobans with superior products, coverage and service. The Corporation will utilize technology to provide 
products and services that will enhance the value it delivers to Manitobans.

STRATEGIES	

3.1	 To ensure Manitobans receive understandable 
information on Manitoba Public Insurance 
products, entitlements, services and service 
standards. The Corporation will adopt a 
strategy that ensures information reaches the 
appropriate target groups at appropriate times.

3.2	 Autopac Extension – to be profitable by 
providing products and services that continue 
to recognize the changing needs of our 
customers and continue to successfully achieve 
high levels of customer satisfaction through 
strategic pricing, accessibility and convenience. 
To mitigate risk through appropriate product 
design and automated underwriting techniques.

3.3	 Special Risk Extension – to be profitable by 
responding to the variable and specialized 
needs of our commercial customers and 
providing personalized auto-related insurance 
products that cannot be met by the universal 
compulsory program or by the automobile 
extension program. To partner with customers 
in pursuing fleet safety and loss prevention 
initiatives. To provide Manitobans with  
a stable market choice that promotes  
long-term partnerships.	

3.4	 To leverage the new service delivery model  
to meet customer expectations, increasing 
accessibility and convenience.	

3.5	 To expand the value that the Corporation 
provides Manitobans by capitalizing on the 
effectiveness of its technology and distribution 
channels to develop innovative solutions that 
benefit its customers in a cost-effective manner.

3.6	 To improve the service relationship between 
drivers and vehicle owners and the Corporation 
by modernizing business processes and 
ensuring all aspects of driver risk rating  
are consistent, clear and fair.	

Corporate Performance Index

1.0

2.0

3.0

4.0

5.0Overall index score

TARGET 

3.6

measures

Premium returned for each dollar earned

Corporate Performance Index
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Goal 4 

Manitoba Public Insurance will provide service that is responsive, fair, courteous and convenient.  
Manitoba Public Insurance will meet corporate customer service standards that are based  
on customer expectations. 

STRATEGIES

4.1	 To enhance a customer-centric service 
philosophy. 

4.2	 To create, publish and comply with 
comprehensive customer service standards  
for ourselves, brokers, business associates  
and service providers who are in contact  
with our customers. 

4.3	 To promptly address and respond to legitimate 
concerns expressed by our customers.  
To provide internal and external appeal 
mechanisms. 

Overall, how often we meet/exceed standardsPhysical Damage Claims

Driver and Vehicle Licensing

Bodily Injury Claims

Insurance Operations  
Policyholder Transactions

measures
Overall, how often we meet/exceed standards
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Goal 5 

Retained earnings and Rate Stabilization Reserve will be maintained within established target levels. 

STRATEGIES

5.1	 To maintain financial stability by setting 
appropriate premium rates, strengthening 
investment income and maintaining retained 
earnings and Rate Stabilization Reserve within 
established target levels.

5.2 	 To continuously identify and assess the 
likelihood and magnitude of potential risks and 
act explicitly to avoid and mitigate such risks.

5.3 	 To develop business strategies to ensure 
competitive lines of business are profitable  
and contribute to the benefit of all Manitobans.

5.4 	 To assess corporate financial risk in keeping 
with industry standards and establish 
appropriate retained earnings and Rate 
Stabilization Reserve target levels for each  
line of business.

Basic Rate Stabilization Reserve Extension Retained Earnings SRE Retained Earnings

Goal 6 

Manitoba Public Insurance will offer an environment and career opportunities that will encourage  
employees to strive for excellence. Our people will be treated with respect and fairness and their 
contributions will be recognized. 

STRATEGIES

6.1 	 To foster a culture that attracts and retains a 
diverse workforce throughout the Corporation. 
To remove systemic barriers that might impede 
our progress toward these goals. 

6.2 	 To continue to respond to the issues raised  
by our employees. Particular emphasis will be 
given to providing clear direction and fostering 
a management style that reflects our values  
and supports employee commitment  
to the organization. 

6.3 	 To use change management strategies  
that ensure communication, education and 
employee training support and facilitate 
business change. 

6.4	 To ensure employees are provided with 
effective, informative and timely two-way 
communication.	

Level of employee satisfaction

Basic Rate Stabilization Reserve
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(MPI Target: $210 M) 
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SRE Retained Earnings
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Goal 7 

Manitoba Public Insurance will lead driver and vehicle safety initiatives that reduce risk and protect 
Manitobans, their streets and their neighbourhoods. Manitobans will recognize the Corporation  
is living its mission. 

STRATEGIES	

7.1 	 To develop an evidence-based road safety 
strategy with an aim to reduce automobile 
accidents, using a multi-faceted approach. 

7.2	 To ensure Manitobans meet and continue  
to maintain established standards of 
knowledge, skill and behaviour to gain  
access to Manitoba roads. 

7.3 	 To ensure vehicles and vehicle repairs meet 
provincial mechanical standards. 

7.4 	 To develop strategies and initiatives that 
support continuous monitoring of vehicle and 
driver performance to ensure Manitoba roads 
remain safe for everyone. 

7.5	 To continue to provide a clear and 
understandable Driver Safety Rating program, 
which rewards safe drivers and motivates 
higher-risk drivers to improve their driving 
behaviour through insurance rates that reflect 
the risk they represent on the road. 

7.6 	 To partner with community groups across 
Manitoba supporting community-based 
initiatives that increase road safety awareness 
and education opportunities.

Public support for road safety

measures
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Results of Operations 

First Reporting Year Under IFRS 

The year ended February 29, 2012, reflects,  
for Manitoba Public Insurance, the adoption of 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)  
as issued by the International Accounting Standards 
Board. The comparative results as at February 28, 2011,  
and at the date of transition to IFRS, March 1, 2010, 
previously reported based on Canadian Generally 
Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP), have been 
restated based on IFRS. Note 33 – First-time 
Adoption of International Financial Reporting 
Standards, which accompanies the audited financial 
statements, contains a detailed description of the 
conversion to IFRS, including accounting policy 
changes and reconciliations of financial statements 
previously prepared under Canadian GAAP.

Corporate 

The Corporation’s financial mandate is to break  
even over the long term. During the reporting period, 
for every dollar of revenue earned after surplus 
distribution, the Corporation provided Manitobans 
with 87 cents in claims benefits. Operating, including 
regulatory and appeal expenses, accounted for 12 cents 
of every dollar of revenue earned after surplus 
distribution while broker commissions and premium 
taxes cost 11 cents. This resulted in an underwriting 
loss of 10 cents which was offset by investment 
income equal to 12 cents per dollar of revenue.  
The Corporation’s net income after surplus 
distribution was 2 cents for every dollar of revenue 
earned during the year.

CURRENT YEAR AND LAST YEAR 

In 2011/12, the Corporation had a net income after 
surplus distribution of $23.3 million, $52.5 million 
better than the previous year. This was due to an 
increase in investment income of $23.3 million,  
$3.2 million resulting from a gain on the disposal  
of property and the surplus distribution being  
$307.6 million lower than last year. This was offset  
by claims costs which were $302.7 million higher than 
last year due to the reduction in the claims reserve 
which occurred in 2010/11. 

REVENUE 

In 2011/12, total earned revenues increased to  
$987.8 million, an increase of 2.7 per cent from 
2010/11, due mainly to increases in the number  
and value of vehicles insured in Manitoba despite  
a 4.0 per cent rate decrease for Basic insurance.

Total earned revenues include $27.3 million received 
from the Province of Manitoba. Beginning April 1, 2011, 
the government increased its payments to the 
Corporation to $28.0 million as part of the 
agreement with the Province of Manitoba for 
providing services related to The Drivers and  
Vehicles Act (DVA) operations. 

CLAIMS COSTS 

Beginning in 2005, a new reserving method was 
implemented for older open Personal Injury 
Protection Plan (PIPP) claim files. Since the new 
reserving method was based on theoretical models 
that had not been empirically tested against 
Manitoba Public Insurance’s own emerging 
experience, the external appointed actuary was 
reluctant to fully reflect the results of the new  
method in establishing the reserves.

In 2010/11, there were five years of development 
observations under this process of reserving for  
open claims with continuing periodic payments. 
These observations have shown relative consistency  
in the periodic claim development patterns since the 
introduction of the new process in 2005. Therefore, 
beginning with the 2010/11 review, the Corporation 
has shifted to relying largely on the post-2005 claim 
development observations for all insurance years.  
The result of this change was a decrease in claims 
reserves of approximately $268 million in 2010/11. 

Excluding the one-time release of $268 million last 
year, in 2011/12, the Corporation’s overall claims 
incurred increased by approximately $15.4 million  

WHERE YOUR PREMIUM DOLLAR HAS GONE

Total Earned  
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Surplus Distribution
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to $701.9 million compared to 2010/11. Of this amount,  
injury claims incurred increased by $21.3 million while 
physical damage claims decreased $5.9 million. The 
total number of claims filed increased by 1,438 from 
275,763 in 2010/11 to 277,201 in 2011/12.

The increase in injury claims incurred is mainly the 
result of an $84.0 million increase in injury claim 
liabilities due to a lower interest rate assumption  
used when discounting these liabilities. Net of these 
adjustments, injury claims incurred decreased  
by $62.7 million. 

The physical damage claims decrease was mainly 
attributed to fewer collision claims – 149,764 in 2011/12 
compared to 155,115 last year, including a decrease of 
15.6 per cent in the number of theft and vandalism claims.

CLIMATE CHANGE 

For Manitoba, climate change has become 
synonymous with increasing and unpredictable  
levels of flooding, fires and severe weather conditions, 
including hailstorms. 

For Manitoba Public Insurance the impact of severe 
weather conditions, especially hailstorms, has been 
dramatic. For 25 years, from 1971 to 1996, the 
Corporation did not experience any significant claims 
costs related to hail damage requiring reinsurance 
recovery. However, since 1996, the once stable and 
consistent weather pattern has changed, resulting  
in the Corporation making four reinsurance claims 
following severe hailstorms. 

And while there were no reinsurance claims made in 
2011/12, we did realize a 45 per cent increase in hail 
claims (based over the long-term average). 

We will continue to carefully monitor and respond  
to future projections, which call for a continued trend 
in unpredictable and variable weather patterns.

EXPENSES 

Total corporate expenses increased to $222.5 million, 
up $4.5 million from last year as the Corporation 
continued to integrate The Drivers and Vehicles Act (DVA) 
operations and invest in customer service improvements 
made possible by the 2004 merger. 

INVESTMENT INCOME

Total investment income, net of impairments and 
investment management fees, rose to $119.0 million 
compared to $95.7 million last year, an increase of 
24.3 per cent. The $23.3 million improvement is 
primarily due to an increase in gains on the bond 
portfolio. Refer to Note 4 of the Financial Statements 
for a breakdown of investment income by type  
of investment. 

The Minister of Finance is responsible for investing 
the money that Manitoba Public Insurance sets aside 
for future claims payments and other liabilities. 
Investment income reduces rates that would 
otherwise be payable by policyholders. The total fair 
value of the Corporation’s investment portfolio was 
$2.2 billion at February 29, 2012, a decrease of 7.5 per 
cent or $182.3 million from the previous year, mainly 
due to the surplus distribution that was paid in 
2011/12. The bond portfolio, which accounts for  
62.2 per cent of the investment portfolio, is primarily 
invested in two types of bonds: 

•	 Marketable bonds, mainly issued by the 
governments of Manitoba and other provinces, 
including floating rate notes (39.6 per cent  
of the total portfolio market value).

•	 Non-marketable bonds issued by Manitoba 
municipalities, hospitals and school divisions, 
purchased through the Manitoba Department  
of Finance (22.6 per cent). 

The Minister of Finance through his government 
department contracts with four external investment 
managers to administer Manitoba Public Insurance’s 
Canadian equity portfolio, which represents  
16.5 per cent of the total investment portfolio.  
The Corporation also has 6.0 per cent of its portfolio 
in United States equities which are passively managed 
by one external investment manager with exposure  
to the U.S. equity market through two Indexed  
Funds – Russell 1000 Value and Russell 2000 Value. 
Short-term investments account for 6.0 per cent of  
the investment fund; venture capital and private 
equity investments represent 0.3 per cent of the 
portfolio’s carrying value, investment in infrastructure 
accounts for 0.5 per cent of investments and pooled 
real estate funds account for 6.9 per cent while 
directly held real estate investments account  
for 1.6 per cent of the investment portfolio. 

The total portfolio, on a market value basis, had  
a 6.4 per cent return during the fiscal year. Marketable 
bonds returned 11.9 per cent, non-marketable bonds 
5.7 per cent, floating rate notes 2.1 per cent and real 
return bonds 8.1 per cent. Large cap Canadian 
equities returned 7.2 per cent over the same time 
period, small cap Canadian equities returned  
4.7 per cent and U.S. equities returned 1.2 per cent. 
Over a four-year period, the investment portfolio  
has achieved an annualized return of 5.4 per cent.
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Basic 

CURRENT YEAR AND LAST YEAR 

In 2011/12, Basic insurance net income from annual 
operations of $22.3 million was $261.6 million lower 
than last year, due to the decrease in claims reserves 
of approximately $253 million the previous year. 
Basic’s share of investment income rose by $17.4 million 
to $101.2 million, an increase of 20.8 per cent 
compared to 2010/11. The surplus distribution  
was $307.6 million lower than last year offsetting  
the decrease in net income from annual operations.  
This resulted in net income after surplus distribution 
of $8.2 million, $46.0 million better than the  
previous year.

REVENUE 

The number of policies in force at year end increased 
to 995,682 from 955,564. This increase in policy 
volume was offset by a 4.0 per cent premium rate 
decrease. Total earned revenues increased by  
a net $12.1 million to $780.4 million. 

CLAIMS COSTS 

Total claims costs increased $287.8 million compared 
to last year. Excluding the one-time release of claims 
reserves, described earlier, claims costs increased  
by $35.0 million. 

Excluding the one-time release of claims reserves  
in 2010/11, injury claims incurred increased  
by $25.1 million due to declining interest rates  
which lead to an increase in injury claim liabilities.  
The number of injury claims dropped by  
3.4 per cent from 17,186 to 16,598. 

Physical damage claims incurred were marginally 
higher compared to last year, increasing  
by $1.1 million. 

Customer service improvement initiatives, including 
road safety expenditures, contributed to the increase 
in claims costs by $8.8 million. 

INJURY CLAIMS

Type of Claim*

Years Ended February 29/28 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008 

Fatal 172 126 135 131 159

Brain injury** 276 146 66 44 86

Quadriplegic 6 2 6 3 5

Paraplegic 1 1 3 6 6

Broken bones 849 705 754 766 785

Sprains and strains*** 3,980 3,198 – – –

Whiplash 8,646 10,735 13,885 14,669 15,173

Bruising/Lacerations 1,072 1,366 801 651 707

Other 1,593 907 1,021 673 790 

Total 16,595 17,186 16,671 16,943 17,711 

*	 In 2011, a new Bodily Injury claims management system became operational which classifies injury types utilizing  
	 the International Classification of Diseases – ICD10 codes.

**	 Under ICD10, brain injury includes concussions and loss of consciousness, which were not included in this category prior to 2011.

***	 Prior to 2011, sprains and strains were included in whiplash.

EXPENSES 

Basic’s expenses increased to $124.7 million,  
up $3.4 million compared to last year. The increase  
in premium taxes of $9.6 million is primarily related  
to the premium rebate that occurred in 2010/11 and 
was partially offset by a decrease in commission costs 
of $5.0 million, related to the implementation of the 
streamlined renewal process. 

INVESTMENT INCOME 

Basic’s share of corporate investment income was 
$101.2 million, net of impairments and investment 
management fees. This was an increase of $17.4 million 
or 20.8 per cent compared to last year attributable 
mainly to increased gains on investments in bonds.
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Extension 

CURRENT YEAR AND LAST YEAR 

Extension insurance reported net income of $21.8 million 
compared to $25.2 million the previous year. A decrease 
of $3.6 million in Extension’s underwriting results and an 
increase in its investment income of $0.2 million resulted 
in an overall reduction of $3.4 million in net income from 
the sale of extension products compared to last year.

REVENUE 

Earned revenues from the sale of Extension products 
increased by $5.9 million to $129.8 million compared  
to last year. All products, including the sale of coverage  
for third-party liability, deductible buy down and loss  
of vehicle use contributed to the increase.  

CLAIMS COSTS 

Total claims costs – including claims benefits, claims handling, 
loss prevention and road safety expenses – increased $0.7 
million to $69.1 million. Physical damage claims incurred 
decreased by 11.6 per cent due to an actuarial reduction 
in comprehensive claim reserves. In the current actuarial 
valuation, a provision for anticipated future deductible 
increases of $6.0 million previously established was removed.

EXPENSES 

Expenses related to the sale of Extension products was 
$47.0 million, an increase of $8.8 million from the previous year. 

This increase was primarily due to a rise in commission 
costs of $6.1 million due to an increase in the number  
of products in force as well as new commission rates 
according to the Agent Commissions Regulation under The 
Manitoba Public Insurance Corporation Act. An increase in 
operating expenses of $2.6 million also contributed to the 
increase in overall expenses.

INVESTMENT INCOME 

Extension’s share of corporate investment income  
of $8.1 million, net of impairments and investment 
management fees, was $0.2 million higher than last year.

RETAINED EARNINGS 

Extension’s total retained earnings are made up of retained 
earnings from the sale of Extension products and the 
Extension Development Fund (EDF). As at February 29, 2012, 
Extension retained earnings totaled $97.8 million 
compared to $81.3 million the previous year and the  
EDF totaled $20.8 million ($43.2 million the previous year). 

From its inception in 2007 to 2011, $91.7 million has been 
appropriated from Extension retained earnings ($33.3 
million) and Special Risk Extension retained earnings 
($58.4 million) to fund the EDF projects undertaken to 
maximize the opportunities presented by the 2004 merger 
of the Corporation and the Division of Driver and Vehicle 
Licensing. Activity to February 29, 2012, has reduced the 
EDF to $20.8 million. Additional information is provided  
in the Notes to Financial Statements (Notes 3 and 21).

Basic Autopac - Five Year Statistics ($000)

Years Ended February 29/28 2012(1)  2011(1) 2010 (1) 2009 (1) 2008 (1) 

Premiums written 779,953 759,552 738,999 714,265 675,762  

Claims incurred 612,037 333,071 515,788 519,541 525,287 

Claims expense 109,760 97,182 84,012 77,620 73,146 

Other expenses 137,669 137,976 140,221 129,997 123,963 

Net income (loss) 22,278 283,855 87,773 (8,165) 69,040 

Net income (loss) after  
surplus distribution 8,158      (37,823) 87,773  (8,111) 6,475  

(1)	 IFRS 
(2)	 Canadian GAAP

Extension Five Year Statistics ($000)

Years Ended February 29/28 2012(1)  2011(1) 2010 (2) 2009 (2) 2008 (2) 

Premiums written 126,300 121,118 118,985 118,694 110,618  

Claims incurred 50,991 57,259 57,863 63,517 59,621 

Claims expense 16,505 9,990 9,285 8,808 7,988 

Other expenses 48,540 39,250 35,703 32,421 26,764 

Net income (loss) 21,837 25,199 27,534  14,264   24,107  

(1)	 IFRS 
(2)	 Canadian GAAP

RETAINED EARNINGS 

At February 29, 2012, Basic retained earnings totaled $213.7 million compared to $205.5 million at February 28, 2011. Of the 
current year’s retained earnings, $155.7 million is allocated to the Rate Stabilization Reserve (RSR) and $58.0 million 
to Basic Retained Earnings. Additional information is provided in the Notes to Financial Statements (Note 3).
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The Drivers and Vehicles Act Operations

CURRENT YEAR AND LAST YEAR 

The Drivers and Vehicles Act (DVA) operations 
experienced a net loss of $4.5 million compared  
to a net loss of $27.0 million last year. Project costs 
associated with improvement initiatives contributed 
$9.3 million to the DVA operations net loss. These 
project costs are recovered from the Extension 
Development Fund. The current year’s income after 
this recovery was $4.8 million, $1.7 million due to 
DVA operations and $3.1 million from the gain on sale 
of property. This net income is returned to Extension 
retained earnings as partial repayment of the $14 
million used from Extension retained earnings 
(through the EDF) for the implementation of the 
Manitoba Enhanced Identification Card, Manitoba 
Enhanced Driver’s Licence and Manitoba 
Identification Card. 

REVENUE 

Beginning April 1, 2011, the government increased its 
payments to the Corporation to $28.0 million annually. 
This funding fully covers the cost of the DVA 
administrative operation and as indicated earlier  
also allowed for a contribution of $4.8 million for 
repayment of the start-up costs for the Manitoba 
Enhanced Identification Card, Manitoba Enhanced 
Driver’s Licence and Manitoba Identification Card.

In 2011/12, the Corporation received $27.3 million 
from the Province of Manitoba and reported $0.4 million 
in service fees and other revenue, resulting in overall 
revenue being $6.3 million higher than the previous year.

EXPENSES 

DVA operations’ expenses of $37.7 million were  
down $9.5 million compared with last year’s  
expenses of $47.2 million primarily due to  
a reduction in project costs. 

SRE - Five Year Statistics ($000)

Years Ended February 29/28 2012(1)  2011(1) 2010 (2) 2009 (2) 2008 (2) 

Premiums written 53,287 49,054 48,245 52,724 55,673  

Claims incurred 38,822 28,080 40,547 22,585 33,491 

Claims expense 6,060 3,685 4,151 4,016 3,371 

Other expenses 14,489 11,519 10,799 11,520 12,207 

Net income (loss) (2,192 ) 10,416  (685) 14,899   16,049  

(1)	 IFRS 
(2)	 Canadian GAAP

Special Risk Extension 

CURRENT YEAR AND LAST YEAR 

Special Risk Extension (SRE) insurance reported a net 
loss of $2.2 million, a decrease of $12.6 million from 
the previous year. An increase in earned revenue of 
$1.1 million and higher investment income of $2.2 million 
were offset by increases in claims costs, including 
claims expense and loss prevention and road safety 
expenses, of $14.2 million and expenses of $1.7 million.

REVENUE 

Total earned revenues in 2011/12 were $49.8 million 
compared to $48.7 million the previous year. The sales 
of SRE products, which include large trucking companies’  
liability, cargo and physical damage coverage, showed  
a growth of 2.3 per cent compared to last year. 

CLAIMS COSTS 

Total claims costs, including claims expense and loss 
prevention and road safety expenses, increased from 
$32.0 million in 2010/11 to $46.2 million in 2011/12. 
Liability and cargo claims incurred increased by  
$10.9 million due to higher volume and severity.  

Physical damage claims incurred decreased by less 
than 1.5 per cent compared to the previous year,  
a change of under $0.2 million. Claims expense  
and loss prevention and road safety costs increased 
by $3.5 million from the previous year.

EXPENSES 

SRE’s expenses increased to $13.2 million from $11.5 million, 
due to an increase in operating costs of $1.8 million 
offset by a minimal reduction in commission expense.  

INVESTMENT INCOME 

SRE’s share of corporate investment income,  
net of impairments and investment management  
fees, reflected a rise of $2.2 million to $7.4 million 
compared to last year.

RETAINED EARNINGS 

SRE’s retained earnings are derived from the annual 
operations of the SRE line of business. SRE’s retained 
earnings were $45.8 million as at February 29, 2012, 
compared to $48.0 million last year. Since inception 
of the EDF in 2007, SRE retained earnings have also 
contributed $58.4 million to the fund.
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INVESTMENT INCOME 

DVA operations portion of corporate investment income,  
net of investment management fees and impairments, 
increased by $3.5 million to $2.7 million compared  
to last year.

GAIN ON DISPOSAL OF PROPERTY 

In 2011/12 the Corporation sold property, including 
land and a building, located at 1075 Portage Avenue 
in Winnipeg, resulting in a net gain of $3.1 million. 
The property, acquired in 2004 as part of the merger 
between the Corporation and the Division of Driver 
and Vehicle Licensing, had been used for the 
administration of DVA operations and as such,  
the net gain on the sale has been reported  
as part of the DVA operations.

Risk Management

Like any enterprise, Manitoba Public Insurance 
assumes risks in its operations that must be handled 
effectively in order to achieve its goals. 

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors 
ensures that enterprise-wide risk assessment 
processes and controls are in place to identify and 
mitigate these risks. The Audit Committee also 
monitors the Corporation’s risks on an ongoing basis. 

Management is responsible for developing, updating 
and enforcing the Corporation’s Risk Management 
Framework, which includes: 

•	 Risk identification and assessment of impact if 
there were no risk mitigation actions in place. 

•	 Risk monitoring procedures.

•	 Processes and controls to manage  
and mitigate risks. 

•	 The residual risk, after consideration  
of management action. 

The Framework ensures a consistent approach for 
addressing risks and a common understanding of  
risk and its mitigation throughout the Corporation.  
The risks are categorized based on the Corporation’s 
seven overall strategic goals. 

Much of the risk management process is focused on 
Goal 1: Rates, on average, will be lower than those 
charged by private insurance companies for 
comparable coverage and service. 

The key risk mitigation areas are:

•	 maintaining adequate unpaid claims reserve 

•	 maintaining an adequate Rate  
Stabilization Reserve 

•	 governance of investments 

•	 loss prevention strategies 

•	 claims control strategies 

•	 information technology processes

Unpaid Claims

Manitoba Public Insurance maintains provisions for 
unpaid claims on a discounted basis to cover its future 
claims commitments. The Corporation makes 
provisions for future development on claims that have 
been made, and an estimate for those that may have 
occurred but have not yet been reported. 

In the case of major injuries, only a small portion  
of the total benefit is paid in the first year. As time 
passes and more information is available, the 
estimates are revised to reflect the most current 
forecast of claims costs. 

Because the total amount paid on any single claim 
may be different from its initial reserve, Manitoba 
Public Insurance reviews the adequacy of these 
reserves quarterly. Adjustments, if needed,  
are calculated by the Corporation’s actuary.  
An independent assessment of the reserves is also 
conducted twice a year by the Corporation’s external 
appointed actuary. The external auditor also reviews 
the adequacy of the reserves as part of its annual 
audit of the Corporation’s financial results.  
This process serves to mitigate risk of misstatement  
of unpaid claims reserves. 

For all insurance companies, long-lasting injury claims 
are the largest source of year-to-year variability in the 
estimate of ultimate costs. This variability and volatility 
is related to future events that arise from the date the 
loss was reported to the ultimate settlement of the 
claims. Accordingly, short-tail claims such as physical 
damage claims tend to be more reasonably predictable 
than long-tail claims such as Personal Injury Protection 
Plan (PIPP) and public liability claims. For Manitoba Public 
Insurance, factors such as the effects of inflationary 
trends and changing interest rates contribute to this 
variability. Investment portfolio management 
techniques help to reduce this potential volatility. 

The determination of the provision for unpaid claims, 
including adjustment expenses, relies on judgment, 
analysis of historical claim trends, investment rates of 
return and expectation on the future development of 
claims. The process of establishing this provision 
necessarily involves risks which could cause the actual 
results to deviate, perhaps substantially, from the best 
determinable estimate.

Beginning in 2005, a new reserving method was 
implemented for older open PIPP claim files. Since 
the new reserving method was based on theoretical 
models that had not been empirically tested against 
Manitoba Public Insurance’s own emerging 
experience, the external appointed actuary was 
reluctant to fully reflect the results of the new method 
in establishing the reserves. 

There are now six years of development observations 
under this process of reserving for open claims with 
continuing periodic payments. These observations 
have shown relative consistency in the periodic claim 
development patterns since the introduction of the 
new process in 2005. 
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The changes made in 2005 have proven over the last 
six years to enhance the quality of the claims reserve 
estimate. However, there will always be variability  
in the estimate from year to year.

Rate Stabilization Reserve 

The Corporation establishes and maintains a Rate 
Stabilization Reserve (RSR) to protect motorists from 
rate increases made necessary by unexpected losses 
arising from non-recurring events or factors.

The Public Utilities Board and the Corporation have 
differed on the methodology for determining the 
maximum required RSR for some time.

The Public Utilities Board target is reflective  
of 10.0 per cent to 20.0 per cent of written  
premiums or $77.9 million to $155.7 million.

Manitoba Public Insurance uses the Dynamic Capital 
Adequacy Test (DCAT), which is a test used by 
actuaries to assess the probable financial risks faced 
by a Corporation and the risk management and 
corrective actions required to address these risks.  
The DCAT is a transparent approach that creates  
a clear linkage between the RSR and the amount  
of the risk faced by the Corporation. The 2011  
Basic DCAT report indicates the Corporation’s  
current RSR target should be $210.0 million.

The Public Utilities Board’s direction in its last order 
was that it would revisit the methodology used to 
determine the amount of the RSR. The Corporation 
welcomes this direction. While the Corporation has 
accepted the Public Utilities Board ordered RSR in  
the past for rate-making purposes, this coming year 
we do not anticipate applying for a rebate given the 
Public Utilities Board stated intention to revisit the 
RSR target. 

Investments 

In accordance with Section 12(1) of The Manitoba 
Public Insurance Corporation Act, the Minister of 
Finance is responsible for the investments of the 
Corporation. The Minister has charged the 
Department of Finance with the operational 
management of the fund. The Corporation, through 
the Investment Committee of the Board, works 
collaboratively with the Department of Finance and 
makes recommendations to the Minister regarding 
appropriate policies and strategies to maximize 
return, minimize volatility and mitigate risk. For 
example, because the unpaid claims liabilities of  
the Corporation are inflation sensitive, investments 
that are inflation sensitive, such as real estate and 
infrastructure, are included in the portfolio. The 
Investment Committee has completed asset liability 
management studies to ensure that the asset mix 
chosen is compatible with the Corporation’s liability 
profile. A complete description of these risks and risk 
mitigation strategies is outlined in the Notes to 
Financial Statements (Note 31).

Loss Prevention Strategies

As part of its loss prevention strategy, the Corporation 
has been a key player in Manitoba’s fight against auto 
theft and claims fraud. 

AUTO THEFT STRATEGIES 

Manitoba Public Insurance continues to make 
significant progress in reducing auto crime.  
Since 2004 – just prior to the Corporation 
implementing its auto theft initiatives – auto thefts  
in Winnipeg have dropped 82 per cent. Across the 
province, the combined total and attempted thefts 
continue to be the lowest since 1992, and are 80 per 
cent lower than 2006 when this combined total peaked. 

Significant progress continued in 2011 with a combined 
reduction of 31.6 per cent of total thefts and 
attempted thefts from 2010. 

The Winnipeg Police Service reports that in 2011,  
the average number of vehicles stolen daily was 3.8, 
down from 5.2 in 2010 and approximately one-sixth  
of the number stolen in 2004, when an average  
of 24 vehicles were stolen every day. 

The bulk of the Corporation’s success continues to be 
attributed to two different but complementary initiatives: 
the Winnipeg Auto Theft Suppression Strategy (WATSS) 
and the Immobilizer Incentive Program. 

Impact of Auto Theft Initiatives 

The real cost of auto theft in 2011 was more than  
$30 million less than had been forecasted in 2004, 
before WATSS and the Immobilizer Incentive Program 
were implemented. 

In 2011, claims costs for total and attempted theft 
were roughly $11.8 million – a drop of approximately 
$3.1 million from the $14.9 million incurred in 2010. 
More specifically, from 2010 to 2011: 

•	 Total theft claims costs declined $1.6 million  
or 14.3 per cent. 

•	 Attempted theft claims costs declined  
by $1.5 million or 41.3 per cent. 

Most importantly, our multi-pronged approach to 
auto theft is keeping more reckless, joyriding car 
thieves off Manitoba roads, improving the safety and 
security of our communities.

SPECIAL INVESTIGATION UNIT 

The Special Investigation Unit (SIU) is a key 
component of the corporate loss prevention strategy. 
The SIU investigates suspicious claims which expose 
the Corporation to financial risk and fraud. 
Investigators with specialty expertise investigate 
claims which may arise due to arson, fraud, auto theft, 
organized criminal activity and other suspicious 
circumstances. The department works co-operatively 
with other departments within Manitoba Public 
Insurance, police agencies and the Crown attorney.  
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In addition, the department works to continually 
refine policies and procedures to deter criminal 
activity and identify suspicious claims for recovery. 

SPECIAL ACCOUNTS AND SUBROGATION 

The Special Accounts and Subrogation department 
(SAS) acts to secure, preserve and enforce the 
Corporation’s rights of recovery through its various 
services, such as subrogation, litigation and 
collections. The goal of maximizing recovery – and 
thereby minimizing claims loss – requires SAS to work 
closely with other internal departments on claims 
recoveries and with police agencies and Crown 
prosecutors to secure court ordered restitution  
on criminal recoveries. 

Last year, SAS activity resulted in roughly $11.3 million 
in recoveries for the Corporation.

Claims Control Strategies

Our cost-control measures with respect to claims 
management include: 

•	 Establishment of an accreditation program for the 
collision repair industry to ensure high quality, safe 
repairs at a reasonable cost. This requires shops 
and the technicians within shops to meet standards 
for facilities, equipment and annual training of 
technicians. 

•	 Delivery of high quality training programs to  
the collision repair industry to ensure repairs are 
performed by highly trained technicians to high 
standards using current technologies. 

•	 Use of estimating compliance software to ensure 
all repairs estimates are prepared accurately and 
consistently ensuring that only required repairs  
are performed. 

•	 Use of aftermarket and recycled parts in vehicle 
repairs. 

•	 Discounted pricing on glass replacement. 

•	 Ensuring collection of claims costs from other 
insurers and at-fault parties (subrogation). 

•	 A team-based approach to managing bodily injury 
claims intended to assist individuals in achieving  
as full a recovery as possible. 

The savings from these initiatives are significant.  
For example, the use of aftermarket and recycled 
parts resulted in savings of almost $29 million.  
These savings are directly passed on to customers  
in the form of lower insurance premiums. 

Information Technology Optimization

The Corporation depends on highly integrated quality 
systems to serve customers and fulfill its legislated 
mandate. It is imperative that we continue to ensure 
that the Corporation’s systems infrastructure is 
operating in the most effective and efficient manner. 
Applications and supporting infrastructure must be 
current and well supported 

Last year, the Corporation developed a robust,  
risk management strategy entitled Information 
Technology (IT) Optimization. This initiative will  
assess and address operational risk associated  
with information systems and capability, including  
risk associated with key areas of applications, 
infrastructure, operational processes, information 
security, controls and disaster recovery. These projects 
will refurbish the Corporation’s IT infrastructure to 
lower the risk of service interruption and to enable 
future service improvements to the benefit of 
ratepayers. At that time, the Board of Directors 
authorized the appropriation of $75.0 million from 
retained earnings of the Corporation to fund costs  
for IT Optimization projects. Since that time, the 
Corporation has determined that optimal risk 
mitigation approaches will require far less capital 
resources. As well, the Public Utilities Board did not 
support funding the IT Optimization projects through 
retained earnings. For both reasons, the special 
allocation of retained earnings was discontinued  
and the funds were returned to retained earnings. 
With respect to protecting our ongoing ability to 
serve customers, we are adopting processes and 
protocols to ensure business continuity in place  
of the previous approach of disaster recovery.

Outlook 

The Corporation remains committed to achieving its 
seven corporate goals. Actual results are monitored 
quarterly by the Board of Directors and corrective 
action is taken when necessary to ensure that 
expected outcomes are realized. 

BASIC AUTOPAC RATES 

Under The Crown Corporations Public Review and 
Accountability Act, Manitoba Public Insurance is 
required to submit Basic Autopac rates to the Public 
Utilities Board for approval. The Corporation 
generally files its rate application in June of each year 
for the fiscal year beginning the following March. 

On December 2, 2011, the Public Utilities Board 
released its ruling on Manitoba Public Insurance’s rate 
application for the 2012/13 fiscal year. Effective  
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March 1, 2012, overall Basic compulsory insurance 
premiums decreased by an average of 8.0 per cent. 
Average premiums decreased by 8.0 per cent for 
owners of private passenger vehicles, 8.8 per cent  
for commercial vehicles and 10.8 percent for the 
motorcycle major class.  

NET INCOME 

Current projections indicate that the Basic Autopac 
line is expected to incur a small loss in 2012/13 and 
2013/14. Extension and Special Risk Extension are 
expected to realize profits and on-going operations 
related to the administration of The Drivers and 
Vehicles Act are expected to continue to generate 
some limited net income to replenish the Extension 
retained earnings used for start-up costs for the 
Manitoba Enhanced Identification Card, Manitoba 
Enhanced Driver’s Licence and the Manitoba 
Identification Card. 

COST ALLOCATION 

For companies that operate a line of business that  
is subject to rate regulation and also operate other 
non-regulated lines of business, cost allocation 
methodologies serve as the basis for the regulators  
to determine how costs are allocated to the regulated 
line of business. 

For many years, Manitoba Public Insurance has 
allocated its operating expenses amongst the three 
insurance lines of business according to a cost 
allocation methodology that was vetted and 
approved by the Public Utilities Board. 

After the merger of Manitoba Public Insurance and 
the Division of Driver and Vehicle Licensing, both the 
Corporation and Public Utilities Board agreed  
the approved methodology required reconsideration. 
To that end, the Corporation hired Deloitte to conduct 
a new cost allocation study, the results of which were 
approved by the Board of Directors in June 2009. 

In its Order 161/09, the Public Utilities Board found 
both the Deloitte cost allocation methodology report 
and the evidence of Deloitte’s representative to be 
valuable and credible with respect to the 
development of a revised cost allocation formula for 
the Corporation. The Public Utilities Board directed 
the Corporation to further its research into the 
proposed methodology for consideration at the 2011 
General Rate Application. This further research was 
completed. However, in Order 145/10, the Public 
Utilities Board endorsed the new method but 
disallowed the use of the new methodology  
for ratemaking purposes. 

The Corporation is satisfied that the new 
methodology better allocates the costs to its lines  
of business, and therefore implemented the new 
methodology March 1, 2011. Compared to the  
old methodology, expenses will be reduced for  
both Basic insurance and DVA operations, while 
Extension and SRE insurance will experience an 
increase in allocated expenses. 

Future Public Utilities Board applications will calculate 
the required Basic Autopac rates, based on the old 
allocation basis until such time as the Public Utilities 
Board approves the use of the new methodology  
for Basic ratemaking.

ROAD SAFETY

Last year, Manitobans were invited to share their views 
on the Corporation’s role in the area of road safety. 
There was strong recognition that Manitoba Public 
Insurance has unique insight into road safety issues, 
given our experience and knowledge of drivers  
and their related claims and road safety behaviour.

There are many aspects of Road Safety. A key 
educational component is our High School Driver 
Education Program, which attracts more than 12,000 
new teen drivers annually. Manitoban parents rely  
on Manitoba Public Insurance to teach their children 
about the rules of the road through this training program. 

As our communities continue to grow, Manitoba 
Public Insurance recognizes the need to adopt new 
approaches, learning curriculum and technologies  
to meet the needs of Manitoba’s diverse population. 

Going forward, we are committed to developing an 
inclusive, world-class High School Driver Education 
program as we strengthen and expand our various 
road safety programs and services, answering the  
call of Manitobans.
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Responsibility for Financial  
Statements 

The financial statements are the responsibility of 
management and are prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards. The 
financial information contained elsewhere in the 
annual report is consistent with that in the financial 
statements. The financial statements necessarily 
include amounts that are based on management’s 
best estimate and judgments which have been 
reached based on careful assessment of data 
available through the Corporation’s information 
systems. In the opinion of management, the 
accounting practices utilized are appropriate in the 
circumstances and the financial statements fairly 
reflect the financial position and results of operations 
of the Corporation. 

In carrying out its responsibilities, management 
maintains appropriate systems of internal and 
administrative controls designed to ensure that 
transactions are accurately recorded on a timely 
basis, are properly approved and result in reliable 
financial statements. The adequacy and operation 
of the control systems are monitored on an ongoing 
basis by the Internal Audit Department. 

The financial statements were approved by the  
Board of Directors, which has overall responsibility 
for their contents. The Board of Directors is assisted 
with this responsibility by its Audit Committee  
(the Committee), which consists primarily of  
directors not involved in the daily operations  
of the Corporation. 

The general responsibilities of the Committee are 
categorized into the following: review of financial 
reporting, review of internal controls and processes, 
review of actuarial functions, monitoring of corporate 
integrity, compliance with authorities and review  
of performance reporting. The Committee’s role  
is that of oversight in these areas in order to  
ensure management processes are in place and 
functioning so as to identify and minimize risks  
to the business operations. 

In carrying out the above responsibilities, this 
Committee meets regularly with management, and 
with both the Corporation’s external and internal 
auditors to approve the scope and timing of their 
respective audits, to review their findings and to 
satisfy itself that their responsibilities have been 
properly discharged. The Committee is readily 
accessible to the external and internal auditors. 

The Committee is responsible for the review of 
the actuarial function. As well, the Committee 
recommends, for approval, the appointment of the 
external actuary and his fee arrangements to the 
Board of Directors. The actuary is responsible for 
ensuring that the assumptions and methods used 
in the valuation of policy and claims liabilities are 
in accordance with accepted actuarial practice, 
applicable legislation and associated regulations 
or directives. In addition, the actuary provides 
an opinion regarding the valuation of policy and 
claims liabilities at the balance sheet date to meet 
all policyholder obligations of the Corporation. 
Examination of supporting data for accuracy and 
completeness of assets and their ability to meet the 
policy and claims liabilities are important elements in 
forming the actuary’s opinion. 

KPMG LLP, the Corporation’s appointed external 
auditors, have audited the financial statements. 
Their Auditors’ Report is included herein. Their 
opinion is based upon an examination conducted 
in accordance with Canadian generally accepted 
auditing standards, performing such tests and other 
procedures as they consider necessary in order 
to obtain reasonable assurance that the financial 
statements are free of material misstatement  
and present fairly the financial position of the 
Corporation in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards.

M. J. McLaren				    H. D. Reichert, CA

President and Chief Executive Officer		  Vice-President, Finance and Chief Financial Officer

May 31, 2012 
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Independent Auditors’ 
Report 

To the Board of Directors of Manitoba Public 
Insurance Corporation: 

We have audited the accompanying financial 
statements of Manitoba Public Insurance 
Corporation, which comprise the Statements of 
Financial Position as at February 29, 2012, February 
28, 2011 and March 1, 2010, the Statements of 
Operations, Comprehensive Income, Changes 
in Equity and Cash Flows for the years ended 
February 29, 2012 and February 28, 2011, and notes, 
comprising a summary of significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory information. 

MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Management is responsible for the preparation and 
fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards, and for such internal control as 
management determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on  
these financial statements based on our audits.  
We conducted our audits in accordance with 
Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. 
Those standards require that we comply with  
ethical requirements and plan and perform  
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements are free from 
material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain 
audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial statements. The procedures selected 
depend on our judgment, including the assessment 
of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In 
making those risk assessments, we consider internal 
control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial statements in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s 
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating 
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and 
the reasonableness of accounting estimates made 
by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 
in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the financial statements present 
fairly, in all material respects, the financial position 
of Manitoba Public Insurance Corporation as at 
February 29, 2012, February 28, 2011 and March 1, 
2010, and its financial performance and its cash flows 
for the years ended February 29, 2012 and February 
28, 2011 in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards.

Chartered Accountants 
Winnipeg, Canada 
May 31, 2012 

Actuary’s Report 

To the Board of Directors of Manitoba Public 
Insurance Corporation: 

I have valued the policy liabilities of Manitoba 
Public Insurance Corporation for its Statement of 
Financial Position at February 29, 2012 and their 
change in the statement of operations for the year 
then ended in accordance with accepted actuarial 
practice in Canada including selection of appropriate 
assumptions and methods. 

In my opinion, the amount of policy liabilities makes 
appropriate provision for all policy obligations and 
the financial statements fairly present the results of 
the valuation. 

Joe S. Cheng

Fellow, Canadian Institute of Actuaries 
Toronto, Canada 
May 31, 2012
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Statements of Financial Position

(in thousands of Canadian dollars) Notes  
February 29, 

2012   
February 28, 

2011(1)   

March 1, 
2010 (1)  

Assets

Cash and investments 4  1,550,606  1,776,096  1,804,144

Equity investments 4 502,675 526,972 387,092

Investment property 4&5 190,990 123,521 38,541

Due from other insurance companies 6 2,545 11,971 10,656 

Accounts receivable 304,155 292,035 289,711 

Prepaid expenses 996 949 981 

Deferred policy acquisition costs 7 40,547 46,950 43,143 

Reinsurers’ share of unearned premiums 17 3,340 9,760 11,853 

Reinsurers’ share of unpaid claims 17&18 31,291 42,407   59,489 

Property and equipment 8 123,266 123,137 111,323 

Deferred development costs  9  36,799   38,232   34,618  

   2,787,210   2,992,030        2,791,551  

Liabilities

Due to other insurance companies 10 5,791 13,386 23,386 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 11 57,849 361,579 49,482 

Financing lease obligation 12 4,536 4,586   – 

Unearned premiums and fees 14 479,592 460,587 449,554 

Provision for employee current benefits 15 21,109 19,174 18,833 

Provision for employee future benefits 16 301,261 257,812 226,834 

Provision for unpaid claims 17&18  1,485,445   1,441,145    1,628,528  

   2,355,583   2,558,269        2,396,617  

Equity

Retained Earnings

Basic Insurance Retained Earnings

Rate Stabilization Reserve 155,700 140,525 154,000 

Retained Earnings 57,983   – 89,348 

Information Technology Optimization Fund  20  –   65,000   –  

   213,683   205,525   243,348  

Non-Basic Retained Earnings

Retained Earnings 139,060 101,457  87,744 

Extension Development Fund  21  20,769   43,227   48,279  

   159,829   144,684           136,023  

  373,512 350,209 379,371 

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income  22  58,115   83,552   15,563  

Total Equity   431,627   433,761   394,934  

   2,787,210   2,992,030   2,791,551  

(1)	 Refer to Note 33 for effects of adopting IFRS

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

Approved by the Board of Directors:

Jake Janzen				    Kerry Bittner
Chairperson				    Vice-Chairperson

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Statements of Financial Position

(in thousands of Canadian dollars) Notes  
February 29, 

2012   
February 28, 

2011(1)   

March 1, 
2010 (1)  

Assets

Cash and investments 4  1,550,606  1,776,096  1,804,144

Equity investments 4 502,675 526,972 387,092

Investment property 4&5 190,990 123,521 38,541

Due from other insurance companies 6 2,545 11,971 10,656 

Accounts receivable 304,155 292,035 289,711 

Prepaid expenses 996 949 981 

Deferred policy acquisition costs 7 40,547 46,950 43,143 

Reinsurers’ share of unearned premiums 17 3,340 9,760 11,853 

Reinsurers’ share of unpaid claims 17&18 31,291 42,407   59,489 

Property and equipment 8 123,266 123,137 111,323 

Deferred development costs  9  36,799   38,232   34,618  

   2,787,210   2,992,030        2,791,551  

Liabilities

Due to other insurance companies 10 5,791 13,386 23,386 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 11 57,849 361,579 49,482 

Financing lease obligation 12 4,536 4,586   – 

Unearned premiums and fees 14 479,592 460,587 449,554 

Provision for employee current benefits 15 21,109 19,174 18,833 

Provision for employee future benefits 16 301,261 257,812 226,834 

Provision for unpaid claims 17&18  1,485,445   1,441,145    1,628,528  

   2,355,583   2,558,269        2,396,617  

Equity

Retained Earnings

Basic Insurance Retained Earnings

Rate Stabilization Reserve 155,700 140,525 154,000 

Retained Earnings 57,983   – 89,348 

Information Technology Optimization Fund  20  –   65,000   –  

   213,683   205,525   243,348  

Non-Basic Retained Earnings

Retained Earnings 139,060 101,457  87,744 

Extension Development Fund  21  20,769   43,227   48,279  

   159,829   144,684           136,023  

  373,512 350,209 379,371 

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income  22  58,115   83,552   15,563  

Total Equity   431,627   433,761   394,934  

   2,787,210   2,992,030   2,791,551  

(1)	 Refer to Note 33 for effects of adopting IFRS

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

Approved by the Board of Directors:

Jake Janzen				    Kerry Bittner
Chairperson				    Vice-Chairperson

Statements of Operations

For the years ended

(in thousands of Canadian dollars) Notes February 29, 2012 February 28, 2011 (1) 

Earned Revenues

Gross premiums written  967,565  941,378

Premiums ceded to reinsurers   (8,025)  (11,654)

Net premiums written 959,540 929,724

Increase (decrease) in gross unearned premiums (17,735) (8,726)

Increase (decrease) in reinsurers’ share  
of unearned premiums   (6,420)  (2,093)

Net premiums earned 935,385 918,905

Service fees and other revenue 23 25,046 22,330

The Drivers and Vehicles Act operations recovery 24  27,325  20,995 

Total Earned Revenues   987,756  962,230 

Claims Costs

Direct claims incurred 710,002 421,828

Claims incurred ceded to reinsurers   (8,152)  (3,417)

Net claims incurred 701,850 418,411

Claims expense 132,325 110,857

Loss prevention/Road safety   15,828  18,052 

Total Claims Costs   850,003  547,320 

Expenses

Operating 113,554 117,104

Commissions 77,437 78,510

Premium taxes 28,071 18,329

Regulatory/Appeal   3,457  4,109 

Total Expenses   222,519  218,052 

Underwriting income (loss) (84,766) 196,858

Investment income 4 118,975 95,658

Gain on disposal of property   3,214  – 

Net income (loss) from annual operations 25 37,423 292,516

Surplus distribution 26  (14,120)  (321,678)

Net income (loss) after surplus distribution 25  23,303   (29,162)

Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss)

For the years ended

(in thousands of Canadian dollars) Notes February 29, 2012 February 28, 2011 (1) 

Net income (loss) after surplus distribution 25   23,303   (29,162)

Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Unrealized gains (losses) on Available for Sale assets 22 (23,310) 85,227

Reclassification of net realized (gains) losses related to 
Available for Sale assets 22  (2,127)  (17,238)

Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the period   (25,437)  67,989 

Total Comprehensive Income (Loss)    (2,134)   38,827 

(1)	 Refer to Note 33 for effects of adopting IFRS

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Statements of Changes in Equity

Basic Non-Basic Corporate

(in thousands of  
Canadian dollars)

Rate  
Stabilitization 

Reserve 
(RSR) 

Retained  
Earnings  

(B-RE) 

IT  
Optimization 
Fund (ITOF)

Retained  
Earnings  
(NB-RE) 

Extension 
Development 

Fund (EDF)
Retained  
Earnings 

Accumulated 
Other  

Comprehensive 
Income Equity 

Balance at  
March 1, 2010 (Note 33) 154,000     89,348  87,744    48,279    379,371      15,563 394,934

Net income (loss) after surplus  
distribution for the year                        (37,823 )  8,661                         (29,162 )                    (29,162 )

Other comprehensive income  
(loss) for the year 67,989 67,989

Transfer between RSR, B-RE & ITOF (13,475) (51,525) 65,000

Transfer between NB-RE & EDF                                          5,052      (5,052)                                               

Balance at February 28, 2011  140,525   –        65,000  101,457     43,227  350,209   83,552  433,761  

Net income (loss) after surplus  
distribution for the year 8,158 15,145 23,303 23,303

Other comprehensive income  
(loss) for the year (25,437) (25,437)

Transfer between RSR & B-RE 15,175 (15,175)

Transfer between B-RE & ITOF 65,000 (65,000)

Transfer between NB-RE & EDF      22,458 (22,458)       

Balance at February 29, 2012  155,700 57,983         –  139,060     20,769 373,512  58,115  431,627 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statements of Cash Flows

For the years ended

(in thousands of Canadian dollars) Notes February 29, 2012 February 28, 2011 (1) 

Cash Flows from (to) Operating Activities:

Net income (loss) after surplus distribution  23,303  (29,162)

Non-cash items:

Depreciation of property and equipment 6,747 7,600

Amortization of deferred development costs 8,406 5,594

Amortization of bond discount and premium 4,911 4,939

(Gain) loss on sale of investments (41,831) (32,796)

Unrealized (gain) loss on Fair Value Through  
Profit or Loss bonds (26,122) 3,653

Unrealized (gain) loss on investment in real estate (15,631) (3,455)

Unrealized (gain) loss on investment in infrastructure (645) –

Write-down of investments   13,599  736 

   (27,263)  (42,891)

Net change in non-cash balances:

Due from other insurance companies 9,426 (1,315)

Accounts receivable and prepaid expenses (12,167) (2,292)

Deferred policy acquisition costs 6,403 (3,807)

Reinsurers’ share of unearned premiums  
and unpaid claims 17,536 19,175

Due to other insurance companies (7,596) (10,000)

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (303,730) 312,097

Unearned premiums and fees 19,005 11,033

Provision for employee current benefits 1,935 340

Provision for employee future benefits 43,449 30,978

Provision for unpaid claims   44,300  (187,383)

   (181,439)  168,826 

   (208,702)  125,935 

Cash Flows from (to) Investing Activities:

Purchase of investments (1,093,650) (1,221,086)

Proceeds from sale of investments 1,386,583 1,091,854

Acquisition of property and equipment net  
of proceeds from disposals (6,876) (19,414)

Financing lease obligation (50) 4,586

Deferred development costs incurred   (6,973)  (9,208)

   279,034  (153,268)

Increase (decrease) in Cash and Short-Term  
Investments 70,332 (27,333)

Cash and short-term investments beginning of year   65,556  92,889 

Cash and Short-Term Investments End of Year 4  135,888  65,556 

Supplemental Cash Flow Information

Interest received   35,389   52,734  

Dividends received   12,570   10,037  

(1)	 No significant presentation differences have been made to the Statements of Cash Flows upon transition to IFRS. Refer to Note 33 for effects of adopting IFRS

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements

1. Status of Corporation

The Manitoba Public Insurance Corporation (the Corporation) was incorporated as a Crown corporation  
under The Automobile Insurance Act in 1970. In 1974, The Automobile Insurance Act was revised and became 
The Manitoba Public Insurance Corporation Act (Chapter A180 of the continuing consolidation of the Statutes 
of Manitoba). In 1988, the Act was re-enacted in both official languages as Chapter P215 of the Statutes of 
Manitoba. The address of the Corporation’s registered office is 234 Donald Street, Winnipeg, Manitoba.

Under the provisions of its Act and regulations, the Corporation operates an automobile insurance division and 
a discontinued general insurance division. The lines of business for the automobile insurance division provide 
for basic universal compulsory automobile insurance, extension and special risk coverages. For financial  
accounting purposes, the lines of business for the automobile insurance division and the discontinued general 
insurance division are regarded as separate operations and their revenues and expenses are allocated on a basis 
described in the summary of significant accounting policies (Note 3). For financial reporting purposes, due to the 
immateriality of the financial results of the discontinued general insurance operations (Note 27), the operations 
are reported as part of the Special Risk Extension line of business. The basic universal compulsory automobile  
insurance line of business rates are approved by the Public Utilities Board of Manitoba (Note 34).

Under The Drivers and Vehicles Act, the Corporation is responsible for operations pertaining to driver safety,  
vehicle registration and driver licensing, including all related financial, administrative and data processing services.

2. Basis of Reporting 

Statement of Compliance

The financial statements of the Corporation are in such form as prescribed by Section 43(1) of The Manitoba 
Public Insurance Corporation Act and are presented in accordance with International Financial Reporting  
Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). The Corporation adopted 
IFRS in accordance with IFRS 1, First Time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards, and IFRS 
was first applied at March 1, 2010. These are the Corporation’s first financial statements prepared in accordance 
with IFRS. Previously, Manitoba Public Insurance Corporation’s financial statements were prepared in accordance 
with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) as issued by the Canadian Institute of Chartered 
Accountants. An explanation of how the transition from previous Canadian GAAP to IFRS has affected the 
reported financial position and financial performance of the Corporation is provided in Note 33.

The financial statements were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on May 31, 2012.

In preparing these financial statements, the Corporation’s management has amended certain accounting and 
measurement methods previously applied under Canadian GAAP in order to comply with IFRS. An explanation 
of how the transition to IFRS has affected the reported financial position, financial performance and cash flows 
of the Corporation is provided in Note 33. This note includes the following reconciliations of amounts previously 
reported under Canadian GAAP with amounts reported under IFRS:

	 •	 Statements of operations and comprehensive income for the comparative periods ended  
February 28, 2011.

	 •	 Statements of financial position and changes in equity at the date of transition to IFRS, March 1, 2010 
and at the end of the comparative period, February 28, 2011.

The external actuary is appointed by the Board of Directors of the Corporation. With respect to preparation of 
these financial statements, the external actuary is required to carry out a valuation of the policy liabilities and to 
report thereon to the Corporation’s Board of Directors. 

The external actuary also uses the work of the external auditors in his verification of the information prepared by 
the Corporation used in the valuation of the policy liabilities. 

The external auditors are appointed by the Lieutenant Governor in Council to conduct an independent and 
objective audit of the financial statements of the Corporation in accordance with Canadian generally accepted 
auditing standards. In carrying out their audit, the external auditors also make use of the work of the external 
actuary and his report on the Corporation’s policy liabilities. The external auditors’ report outlines the scope of 
their audit and their opinion.
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Basis of Presentation

The Corporation presents its Statement of Financial Position broadly in order of liquidity.

These statements are presented in thousands of Canadian dollars except as otherwise specified.

Seasonality

The automobile insurance business, which reflects the primary business of the Corporation, is seasonal in nature. 
While net premiums earned are generally stable from quarter to quarter, underwriting income is typically 
highest in the first and second quarter of each year and lowest in the fourth quarter of each year. This is driven 
mainly by weather conditions which may vary significantly between quarters.

Basis of Measurement

The Corporation prepares its financial statements as a going concern, using the historical cost basis, except for 
financial instruments. Measurement of the financial instruments is detailed in Note 4.

Estimates and Judgments

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and judgments that affect 
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the 
financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual 
results could differ from these estimates.

3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

This summary outlines those accounting policies followed by the Corporation that have a significant effect on 
the financial statements. 

Investments

Funds available for investments are managed by the Department of Finance, on behalf of the Corporation, in 
accordance with Section 12(1) of The Manitoba Public Insurance Corporation Act.

The Corporation’s directly held real estate investments are being depreciated over their estimated useful life.

The Corporation has classified or designated its financial assets and liabilities in the following categories:

	 •	 available for sale (AFS)

	 •	 held to maturity (HTM)

	 •	 financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL), formerly held for trading (HFT)

	 •	 cash and short-term investments, loans and receivables

	 •	 other financial liabilities

Corporate investments that are determined to be impaired are written down to their expected recoverable 
amount. Equity investments, classified as AFS, would be considered impaired if there is objective evidence of  
a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the investment below its cost.

The fair value of financial instruments are obtained from external pricing services and are based on bid prices 
for financial assets. Short-term investments comprise investments due to mature within 12 months from the date 
of purchase and are carried at fair value. 

The Corporation accounts for the purchase and sale of securities using settlement date accounting.

i)	A FS Financial Assets

AFS financial assets are carried at fair value on the Statement of Financial Position starting on the settle-
ment date and the changes in fair value are recorded in other comprehensive income (OCI) until the asset 
is disposed of or has become impaired. As long as an AFS asset is held and not impaired, the gains and 
losses are not recognized in the Statement of Operations. When the asset is disposed of, or has become 
impaired, the gain or loss is recognized in the Statement of Operations and the amount is deducted from OCI.

Transaction costs related to AFS financial assets are capitalized on initial recognition.
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ii)	 HTM Financial Assets

HTM financial assets are carried at amortized cost on the Statement of Financial Position starting  
on the settlement date.

Transaction costs related to financial assets and liabilities classified as HTM are capitalized on initial  
recognition, when applicable.

iii)	 FVTPL Financial Assets

FVTPL financial assets are carried at fair value on the Statement of Financial Position starting on the  
settlement date and the changes in fair value are recorded in the Statement of Operations.

The fair value of FVTPL bonds including federal, provincial, certain municipal, certain hospitals,  
other provinces and corporations is estimated based on bid prices of these or similar investments.

Transaction costs related to FVTPL financial assets are recognized in the Statement of Operations  
on initial recognition.

Loans and Receivables 

Accounts receivable and due from other insurance companies are designated as loans and receivables and 
are carried at amortized cost using the effective interest method. These receivables include financing plans for 
customers using interest rates set at the prime rate of the Corporation’s principal banker plus 2.0% and updated 
at each fiscal quarter. The interest rate for a customer remains unchanged throughout the term of the policy.

Cash and Short-Term Investments 

Cash and short-term investments are comprised of cash, current operating accounts, provincial short term  
deposits and funds held in trust on behalf of other insurance companies and are designated as AFS.

Impairment of Financial Assets

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of each reporting 
period. Financial assets are considered to be impaired when there is objective evidence that, as a result of one 
or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows  
of the investment have been affected.

For equity investments classified as AFS, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the security below 
its cost is considered to be objective evidence of impairment.

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment could include:

	 •	 Significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or

	 •	 Default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; or

	 •	 The lender, for economic or legal reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, granting to the 
borrower a concession that the lender would not otherwise consider; or

	 •	 It is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganization; or

	 •	 The disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties; or

	 •	 Observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from 
a group of financial assets since the initial recognition of those assets, although the decrease cannot yet 
be identified with the individual financial assets in the group.

For financial assets carried at amortized cost, the amount of the impairment loss recognized is the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the 
financial asset’s original effective interest rate.

When an AFS asset is considered to be impaired, cumulative gains or losses previously recognized in other 
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss in the period.

With the exception of AFS equity instruments, if, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss  
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognized, 
the previously recognized impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying 
amount of the investment at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortized cost 
would have been had the impairment not been recognized.
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In respect of AFS equity securities, impairment losses previously recognized in profit or loss are not reversed 
through profit or loss. Any increase in fair value subsequent to an impairment loss is recognized in other  
comprehensive income.

Derecognition of Financial Assets

The Corporation derecognizes a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the 
asset expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of 
the asset to another entity. If the Corporation neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards 
of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Corporation recognizes its retained interest in 
the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Corporation retains substantially all 
the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Corporation continues to recognize the 
financial asset and also recognizes a collateralized borrowing for the proceeds received.

Financial Liabilities

All financial liabilities are designated as other financial liabilities and are recorded in the Statement of Financial 
Position at amortized cost. Financial liabilities include:

	 •	 Due to other insurance companies and accounts payable and accrued liabilities which are all current 
liabilities.

	 •	 Financing lease obligation which is a non-current liability, payable over the life of the lease.

The carrying value of the Corporation’s financial liabilities approximates their fair value.

Fair Value Determination

The fair values of financial instruments are obtained from external pricing services and are based on bid prices 
for financial assets. Short-term investments comprise investments due to mature within 12 months from the date 
of purchase and are carried at fair value. Refer to Note 4 for further information on the fair value of financial 
instruments.

Deferred Policy Acquisition Costs 

Commissions and premium taxes are deferred and charged to expense over the term of the insurance contract 
to which such costs relate. 

Property and Equipment 

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is provided on a 
straight-line basis which will depreciate the cost of each asset to its residual value over its estimated useful life:

	 •	 computer equipment	 3 years

	 •	 vehicles	 5 years

	 •	 furniture and equipment	 10 years

	 •	 HVAC systems	 20 years

	 •	 land improvements	 25 years

	 •	 roofing systems	 30 years

	 •	 elevators/escalators	 30 years

	 •	 buildings	 40 years

Buildings held under a long-term lease arrangement are depreciated on a straight-line basis over 40 years.

Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the term of the lease plus the first renewal period. 

Depreciation of construction in progress will begin, in accordance with the above policy, when construction has 
been completed. 
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Investment Property (Non-Financial Instruments)

In the determination of what constitutes investment property relative to property and equipment, the Corpo-
ration has considered the intended use of the property, the ability to sell the property, and the ability of the 
Corporation to lease the property or a portion of the property under a finance lease.

The Corporation’s investment property, which is property held to earn rentals and/or capital appreciation, is 
measured initially at its cost, including transaction costs. The Corporation has elected to use the cost model 
to subsequently value its investment property. Therefore, the investment property’s carrying amount is valued 
at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Depreciation is based on the useful life of each 
component of the investment property along with the property’s residual value. The Corporation assesses its 
investment property for impairment on an annual basis in accordance with the impairment test guidance set 
forth in IAS 36, Impairment of Assets.

Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis which will depreciate the cost of each asset to its residual value 
over its estimated useful life: 

	 •	 HVAC systems	 20 years

	 •	 roofing systems	 30 years

	 •	 elevators/escalators	 30 years

	 •	 buildings	 40 years

Depreciation of construction in progress will begin, in accordance with the above policy, when construction has 
been completed.

Deferred Development Costs (Intangible Assets) 

The costs of developing major information systems that are expected to provide an economic benefit to the 
Corporation are deferred to future periods. These information system expenditures are stated at cost net of 
accumulated amortization and are amortized on a straight-line basis over five years.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from development (or from the development phase of an  
internal project) is recognized if, and only if, all of the following have been demonstrated:

	 •	 The technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale.

	 •	 The intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it.

	 •	 The ability to use or sell the intangible asset.

	 •	 How the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits.

	 •	 The availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development  
and to use or sell the intangible asset.

	 •	 The ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during  
its development.

The amount initially recognized for internally-generated intangible assets is the sum of the expenditure  
incurred from the date when the intangible asset first meets the recognition criteria listed above. Where no 
internally-generated intangible asset can be recognized, development expenditure is recognized in profit  
or loss in the period in which it is incurred. Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated intangible 
assets are reported at cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses.

Impairment of Tangible and Intangible Assets (Other Than Financial Assets)

At each Statement of Financial Position date, the Corporation reviews the carrying amount of its tangible and 
intangible assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment 
loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the 
extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where the asset does not generate cash flows that are independent  
from other assets, the Corporation estimates the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit to which  
the asset belongs.
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Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use,  
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a discount rate that reflects current  
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates  
of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of 
the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognized as an expense immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset or cash generating unit is 
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not 
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognized for the 
asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognized as income immediately.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

MANITOBA PUBLIC INSURANCE AS A LESSEE

Assets held under finance leases are initially recognized as assets of the Corporation at their fair value at the 
inception of the lease or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding li-
ability to the lessor is included in the Statement of Financial Position as a finance lease liability.

Lease payments are apportioned between finance expenses and reduction of the lease obligation so as to 
achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.

Operating lease payments are recognized as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term, except 
where another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the 
leased asset are consumed.

MANITOBA PUBLIC INSURANCE AS A LESSOR

Manitoba Public Insurance leases retail, office and parking space to various food chains, stores, offices and in-
dividuals in cityplace properties, a building and parking facilities owned by the Corporation. All of these leases 
are considered operating leases.

Revenue

PREMIUMS

Written premiums comprise the premiums on contracts incepting in the fiscal year. Earned premiums represent 
the portion of written premiums earned through the year by way of insurance coverage. Written and earned 
premiums are stated gross of commissions and premium taxes payable and are reported on a gross basis and 
net of amounts ceded to reinsurance companies.

UNEARNED PREMIUMS 

The liability for unearned premiums is the portion of premiums that relate to the unexpired term of each  
insurance contract. 

INTEREST REVENUE

Interest revenue is recognized when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Corporation and 
the amount of revenue can be measured reliably. Interest revenue is accrued on a time basis, by reference to 
the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts  
estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying 
amount on initial recognition.

DIVIDEND INCOME

Dividend income from investments is recognized when the Corporation’s rights to receive payments  
is established.
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REALIZED GAINS AND LOSSES

The realized gain or loss on disposal of an investment is the difference between the proceeds received,  
net of transaction costs, and its original cost or amortized cost as appropriate.

The realized gain or loss on disposal of Property and Equipment is the difference between the proceeds  
received, net of transaction costs, and its original cost or depreciated cost as appropriate.

UNREALIZED GAINS AND LOSSES

Unrealized gains or losses represent the difference between the carrying value at the year-end and the carrying 
value at the previous year-end or purchase value during the year, less the reversal of previously recognized 
unrealized gains or losses in respect of disposals during the year.

Provisions

Provisions are recognized when the Corporation has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a 
past event, it is probable that the Corporation will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate 
can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognized as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present 
obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the 
obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its 
carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows.

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a 
third party, a receivable is recognized as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and 
the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

PROVISION FOR EMPLOYEE CURRENT BENEFITS

The provision for employee current benefits includes accruals for vacation pay and sick pay determined  
in accordance with the Collective Agreement. 

PROVISION FOR EMPLOYEE FUTURE BENEFITS

Included in the provision for employee future benefits are the pension benefit plan and other benefit plans. 

i.	P ension Benefit Plan 

The employees of the Corporation are members of a defined benefit pension plan administered under  
The Civil Service Superannuation Act. Included in the accounts is a provision for the employer’s future 
pension liability calculated on an indexed basis. The provision for pension is actuarially determined on 
an annual basis using the projected benefit method prorated on services. The actuarial present value of 
the accrued pension benefits is measured using the Corporation’s best estimates based on assumptions 
relating to market interest rates at the measurement date based on high quality debt instruments, salary 
changes, withdrawals and mortality rates. Changes in experience gains and losses are recognized in the 
current period.

The Corporation values its pension benefit plan at December 31, 2011. Roll-forward procedures  
are performed to ensure that the December 31, 2011 valuation is a reliable estimate of the valuation  
at February 29, 2012.

ii.	O ther Benefit Plans 

Other benefit plans consist of post-retirement extended health and severance pay benefits. 

The provision for post-retirement extended health benefits is actuarially determined on an annual basis 
using the projected benefit method prorated on services, which includes the Corporation’s best estimates 
based on assumptions relating to retirement ages of employees and expected health costs. Changes in 
experience gains and losses are recognized in the current period.

Employees of the Corporation are entitled to severance pay in accordance with the Collective Agreement 
and Corporate policy. The provision for severance pay is actuarially determined on an annual basis using 
the projected benefit method prorated on services, without salary projection, which includes the Corporation’s 
best estimates based on assumptions relating to the proportion of employees that will ultimately retire. 



Financial Statements Manitoba Public Insurance Annual Report 2011

5 5  

PROVISION FOR UNPAID CLAIMS

IFRS 4, Insurance Contracts permits the continued use of insurance liability valuation methods previously used 
under Canadian GAAP. The Corporation establishes reserves for payment of claims and adjustment expenses 
that arise from the Corporation’s insurance products. The reserve balance represents the expected ultimate cost 
to settle claims occurring prior to, but still outstanding as of, the reporting date. There are two categories of 
loss reserves: (1) reserves for reported losses and (2) reserves incurred but not yet reported (IBNR) losses. In addi-
tion, reserves are set up for internal loss adjustment expenses, which include estimated internal costs and other 
expenses that are expected to be incurred to finalize the settlement of the losses. The Corporation discounts 
its liabilities for unpaid claims and includes a provision for adverse deviations. Liabilities for unpaid claims are 
estimated using the input of assessment for individual cases reported to the Corporation and statistical analyses 
for the claims incurred but not reported. Claims and adjustment expenses are charged to income as incurred.

All of the Corporation’s insurance policies meet the definition of an insurance contract and have been  
accounted for in accordance with IFRS 4.

LIABILITY ADEQUACY TEST

At each end of the reporting period, insurance liability adequacy tests are performed to ensure the adequacy of 
the contract liabilities, net of related Deferred Policy Acquisition Costs (DPAC) and Reinsurers’ Share of Unpaid 
Claims. In performing these tests, current best estimates of future contractual cash flows and claims handling 
and administration expenses, as well as investment income from the assets backing such liabilities, are used.  
A premium deficiency exists when estimated future claims and related expenses exceed unearned premiums. 
Any resulting deficiency is recognized first by writing down the DPAC with any remainder recognized as a liability.

Salvage and Subrogation 

Recoveries from salvage and subrogation are recorded as an offset to claims costs. Expected future subrogation 
recoveries are included in the provision for unpaid claims. 

Allocation of Revenue, Claims Incurred and Expenses 

Premiums written, premiums earned and claims incurred are allocated directly to the division writing the  
insurance risk. 

Service fees and other revenue are allocated to the automobile insurance division lines of business and  
The Drivers and Vehicles Act operations on the following basis: 

i.	 Identifiable direct service fees and other revenue are allocated to each line of business. 

ii.	 Where direct allocation is not possible, service fees and other revenue are prorated to each line of business 
based mainly on factors such as premiums written ratios, expense allocation ratios and investment income 
allocation ratios. The formulas developed for the allocation of service fees and other revenue are approved 
by the Board of Directors. 

Investment income is allocated to the automobile insurance division lines of business and the discontinued 
general insurance division based on a monthly averaging of the funds available within each division.

Expenses, including claims expense, are allocated to the automobile insurance division lines of business  
and The Drivers and Vehicles Act operations on the following basis: 

i.	 Identifiable direct expenses are charged to each line of business.

ii.	 Where direct allocation is not possible, expenses are prorated to each line of business based mainly  
on factors such as space, number of employees, time usage, call centre statistics, premiums written ratios  
and claims incurred ratios. The basis for allocation of indirect shared expenses is approved by the Board  
of Directors.

iii.	 The allocation of improvement initiative costs is based on a review of each project to determine which line 
of business will benefit from the project. The allocation basis for each project is approved by the Board  
of Directors.

Reinsurance Ceded 

Premiums, claims and expenses are reported gross and net of amounts due to and recoverable from reinsurers. 
Estimates of amounts recoverable from reinsurers on unpaid claims are recorded separately from estimated 
amounts payable to policyholders. 

The reinsurers’ share of unearned premiums is recognized as an asset in a manner which is consistent with the 
method used in determining the unearned premium liability.



valuing What Matters

5 6

Foreign Currency 

Monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are adjusted to reflect the exchange rate in effect at the 
year-end. Revenue and expense items in foreign currencies are translated at the exchange rate in effect at the 
transaction date. Unrealized gains or losses arising on translation are charged to operations in the current year. 

Changes in unrealized foreign exchange currency translation amounts for AFS equity investments are recorded 
in other comprehensive income and included in accumulated other comprehensive income until recognized  
in the Statement of Operations. 

Basic Insurance Rate Stabilization Reserve 

The Basic Insurance Rate Stabilization Reserve relates to basic universal compulsory automobile insurance and 
is intended to protect motorists from rate increases made necessary by unexpected events and losses arising 
from non-recurring events or factors.

Immobilizer Incentive Fund 

The Immobilizer Incentive Fund was an appropriation from the Basic Insurance Rate Stabilization Reserve.  
The fund was used to provide financial resources for vehicle owners to install electronic immobilizers and cover 
the administrative costs of the program. As the Immobilizer Incentive Fund has been completely depleted, 
program costs incurred are being funded through normal operations. 

Information Technology Optimization Fund

In 2010/2011, the Corporation’s Board of Directors authorized the appropriation of $75.0 million from Retained 
Earnings of the Corporation to fund costs for Information Technology (IT) optimization projects. In 2011/2012, 
the Corporation’s Board of Directors approved the transfer of $65.0 million from the IT Optimization Fund back 
to Basic Retained Earnings and $10.0 million from the Extension Development Fund back to Extension Retained 
Earnings, eliminating the funds established for IT optimization projects. Management has been authorized  
to enter into an agreement to have Data Centre Optimization services provided by a third party. Given this  
agreement, the nature of the IT optimization costs has changed from being capital intensive to an annual  
management service fee. Consequently, the IT Optimization Fund is no longer required.

Extension Development Fund 

The Extension Development Fund (EDF) is an appropriation from the non-Basic Lines Retained Earnings.  
The EDF was established to defray the costs of projects undertaken to maximize the opportunities presented  
by the 2004 merger of Manitoba Public Insurance and the Division of Driver and Vehicle Licensing.

Retained Earnings 

Retained earnings are comprised of the accumulation of net income or losses for the Basic and non-Basic lines 
of business. Non-Basic lines of business consists of Extension and Special Risk Extension lines of business and 
The Drivers and Vehicles Act operations.

Comprehensive Income 

Comprehensive income consists of net income (loss) after surplus distribution and other comprehensive income 
(loss). Changes in unrealized gains and losses on financial assets classified as AFS, and related changes in  
unrealized foreign exchange currency translation amounts are recorded in other comprehensive income,  
and included in accumulated other comprehensive income until recognized in the Statement of Operations. 
Accumulated other comprehensive income is included on the Statement of Financial Position as a separate 
component.

Critical Accounting Judgments and Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

In the application of the Corporation’s accounting policies, management is required to make judgments, estimates 
and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other 
sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that 
are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting  
estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period  
or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.
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ALLOWANCE FOR DOUBTFUL ACCOUNTS

The Corporation must make an assessment of whether accounts receivable are collectible from customers. 
Accordingly, management establishes an allowance for estimated losses arising from non-payment of accounts 
receivable. At February 29, 2012 the allowance for doubtful accounts on accounts receivable is $7.1 million 
(Note 31).

DEFERRED DEVELOPMENT COSTS (INTANGIBLE ASSETS)

Deferred development costs represent $36.8 million of total assets on the Statement of Financial Position  
at February 29, 2012 (Note 9). A significant portion of ongoing expenditures relate to information systems  
development. Management estimates the expected period of benefit over which capitalized costs will be  
amortized. The considerations which form the basis of the assumptions for these estimated useful lives  
include the timing of technological obsolescence and customer service requirements, as well as historical  
experience and internal plans for the projected use of the information systems.

PROVISION FOR UNPAID CLAIMS

The Appointed Actuary is appointed by the Board of Directors of the Corporation. With respect to preparation 
of these financial statements, the Appointed Actuary is required to carry out a valuation of the policy liabilities 
and to provide an opinion to the Corporation’s Board of Directors regarding their appropriateness at the reporting 
date. The factors and techniques used in the valuation are in accordance with accepted actuarial practice,  
applicable legislation and associated regulations.

Provisions for unpaid claims and adjustment expenses are valued based on Canadian accepted actuarial 
practice, which are designed to ensure the Corporation establishes an appropriate reserve on the Statement of 
Financial Position to cover insured losses with respect to the reported and unreported claims incurred as of the 
end of each accounting period and claims expenses. The policy liabilities include a provision for unpaid claims 
and adjustment expenses on the expired portion of policies and of future obligations on the unexpired portion of 
policies. In performing the valuation of the liabilities for these contingent future events, the Appointed Actuary 
makes assumptions as to future loss ratios, trends, reinsurance recoveries, investment rates of return, expenses 
and other contingencies, taking into consideration the circumstances of the Corporation and the nature of the 
insurance policies.

The assumptions underlying the valuation of provisions for unpaid claims and adjustment expenses are  
reviewed and updated by the Corporation on an ongoing basis to reflect recent and emerging trends  
in experience.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT AND INVESTMENT PROPERTY (NON-FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS)

The Corporation estimates the useful life and residual value for all Property and Equipment and Investment 
Property which include all significant components.

PROVISION FOR EMPLOYEE FUTURE BENEFITS

The Corporation has a defined benefit pension plan, severance benefit plan and a post retirement extended 
health benefit plan. The determination of expense and liability associated with employee future benefits  
requires the use of critical assumptions such as discount rates, expected mortality rate, inflation rates,  
expected salary increases and expected health care cost increases. Due to the nature of the estimates used  
in the valuation process there is inherent measurement uncertainty within the employee future benefit  
assumptions. See Note 16 for further details of the significant estimates and changes impacting the current 
period financial statements.

FAIR VALUE OF LEVEL THREE AFS AND FVTPL INVESTMENTS

Due to the nature of Level 3 investments, they are valued using an approved valuation technique which requires 
the use of significant assumptions such as discount rates and volatility of future cash flows. Management considers 
current market information when selecting a discount rate and estimating the future cash flows related to each 
internally valued financial asset. See Note 4 for further details of valuation methods and assumptions.



valuing What Matters

5 8

CRITICAL JUDGMENTS IN APPLYING ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The following are the critical judgments, apart from those involving estimations that management have made 
in the process of applying the Corporation’s accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the 
amounts recognized in the financial statements.

Held to Maturity Investments

Management has classified certain municipal, hospital and school bonds as held to maturity. The assessment 
of the Corporation’s intent and ability to hold these investments until maturity is a matter of judgment.  
To determine the Corporation’s intent and ability to hold the investment until maturity, management 
considers internal investment policies, documented risk management policies, and the overall financial 
performance of the Corporation.

Leases

The Corporation enters into leasing arrangements for general business purposes. The assessment of when 
substantially all of the significant risks and rewards of ownership of leased assets are transferred is a matter  
of judgment. This judgment impacts the Corporation’s classification of leases as operating relative  
to financing leases.

Future Changes in Accounting Policy and Disclosure 

The International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) issued IFRS 9, Financial Instruments in November 2009. 
This standard is the completion of the first part of a three-part project to replace IAS 39, Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement. The new standard is to reduce complexity compared to IAS 39. The Standard is 
effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2015. Restatement of comparative period financial 
statements is not required on initial application.

In May, 2011, the IASB issued IFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement. This standard sets out, in a single IFRS,  
a framework to measure fair value and requires disclosures about fair value measurement. The Standard  
is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013, with earlier application permitted.

The IASB issued amendments to IAS 19, Employee Benefits in June, 2011. The amendments will improve the 
recognition and disclosure requirements for defined benefit plans. The new requirements are effective for  
annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013, with earlier application permitted.

Also in June, 2011, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 1, Financial Statement Presentation which improves 
how components of other comprehensive income are presented. The new requirements are effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after July 1, 2012.

The IASB is undertaking Phase II of the Insurance Contracts project to develop a standard to replace the 
interim IFRS 4, Insurance Contracts that was developed in Phase I. The revised exposure draft of the new IFRS is 
planned to occur in 2012 with an effective date to be confirmed.

4. Investments 

Cash consists of cash net of cheques issued in excess of amounts on deposit. There is no amount held in trust 
on behalf of other insurance companies included in cash and short-term investments (2011 – nil). 

Short-term investments have a total principal amount of $146,359,000 (2011 – $59,732,000) comprised of  
provincial short-term deposits with effective interest rates of 0.86% (2011 – 0.85%), with interest receivable  
at varying dates. 

The Corporation has an unsecured operating line of credit with its principal banker in the amount  
of $5.0 million. There were no drawdowns against this line of credit at February 29, 2012.
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Cash and Investments

(in thousands of Canadian dollars) Financial Instruments

As at February 29, 2012

Classified as 
Available  

for Sale

Classified  
as Held  

to Maturity

Classified  
as Fair Value 

Through Profit  
or Loss

Non-Financial 
Instruments

Total  
Carrying  

Value 

Cash and short-term 
investments   135,888         135,888 

Bonds

Federal 121,282 121,282

Manitoba:

Provincial 289,926 289,926

Municipal 17,591 36,952 54,543

Hospitals 12,482 12,482

Schools 490,157 490,157

Other provinces:

Provincial 319,976 319,976

Municipal 58,034 58,034

Corporations      49,957    49,957 

  –  507,748  888,609  –  1,396,357 

Other investments 6,771 6,771

Infrastructure      11,590    11,590 

Cash and investments 142,659 507,748 900,199 – 1,550,606

Equity investments 502,675 502,675

Investment property      154,086  36,904  190,990 

   645,334   507,748   1,054,285   36,904   2,244,271 

(in thousands of Canadian dollars) Financial Instruments

As at February 28, 2011

Classified as 
Available  

for Sale

Classified  
as Held  

to Maturity

Classified  
as Fair Value 

Through Profit  
or Loss

Non-Financial 
Instruments

Total  
Carrying  

Value 

Cash and short-term 
investments   65,556         65,556 

Bonds

Federal 359,113 359,113

Manitoba:

Provincial 314,930 314,930

Municipal 20,347 38,367 58,714

Hospitals 12,497 12,497

Schools 458,395 458,395

Other provinces:

Provincial 434,387 434,387

Municipal 36,450 36,450

Corporations    28,928    28,928 

  –  478,742  1,224,672  –  1,703,414 

Other investments  7,126     7,126 

Cash and investments 72,682 478,742 1,224,672 – 1,776,096

Equity investments 526,972 526,972

Investment property    85,799  37,722  123,521 

   599,654   478,742   1,310,471   37,722   2,426,589 
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(in thousands of Canadian dollars) Financial Instruments

As at March 1, 2010

Classified as 
Available  

for Sale

Classified  
as Held  

to Maturity

Classified  
as Fair Value 

Through Profit  
or Loss

Non-Financial 
Instruments

Total  
Carrying  

Value 

Cash and short-term 
investments   92,888         92,888 

Bonds

Federal 374,189 374,189

Manitoba:

Provincial 343,462 343,462

Municipal 23,598 60,823 84,421

Hospitals 12,901 12,901

Schools 425,182 425,182

Other provinces:

Provincial 408,012 408,012

Municipal 12,461 12,461

Corporations    42,978   42,978 

  –  448,780  1,254,826  –  1,703,606 

Other investments  7,650     7,650 

Cash and investments 100,538 448,780 1,254,826 – 1,804,144

Equity investments 387,092 387,092

Investment property     38,541  38,541 

   487,630   448,780   1,254,826   38,541   2,229,777 

The fair value of HTM bonds including schools, certain municipal and certain hospitals is based on their carrying 
value, which approximates market value.

The following table presents the financial instruments measured at fair value, classified by valuation method. 

The three levels have been defined as follows: 

Level 1 – Unadjusted quoted market prices of identical assets in active markets.

Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted market prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset,  
	 either directly or indirectly. 

Level 3 – Inputs that are not based on observable market data. 

The classification in the hierarchy of a financial instrument is based on the lowest level of input that is significant 
to the measurement of fair value. 

(in thousands of Canadian dollars)

As at February 29, 2012  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3 

FVTPL financial assets

Bonds  75,592  799,821  13,196

Infrastructure 11,590

Investment property    154,086    

Total FVTPL financial assets  75,592  953,907  24,786 

AFS financial assets

Cash and short term investments 135,888

Other investments 6,771

Equity investments  502,675      

Total AFS financial assets  638,563  –  6,771 

Total assets measured at fair value   714,155   953,907   31,557 
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(in thousands of Canadian dollars)

As at February 28, 2011  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3 

FVTPL financial assets

Bonds  195,425  1,015,893  13,354

Infrastructure

Investment property   85,799   

Total FVTPL financial assets  195,425  1,101,692  13,354 

AFS financial assets

Cash and short term investments 65,556

Other investments 7,126

Equity investments  526,972    

Total AFS financial assets  592,528  –  7,126 

Total assets measured at fair value   787,953   1,101,692   20,480 

(in thousands of Canadian dollars)

As at March 1, 2010  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3 

FVTPL financial assets

Bonds  364,915  876,640  13,271

Infrastructure

Investment property     

Total FVTPL financial assets  364,915  876,640  13,271 

AFS financial assets

Cash and short term investments 92,888

Other investments 7,650

Equity investments  387,092    

Total AFS financial assets  479,980  –  7,650 

Total assets measured at fair value   844,895   876,640   20,921 

Fair value measurement of instruments  
included in Level 3 FVTPL AFS 

(in thousands of Canadian dollars) 2012 2011 2012 2011 

Balance at March 1 13,354 13,271 7,126 7,650

Total gains/(losses)

Included in net income (158) (1,489) (595)

Included in other comprehensive income 83 1,294 1,062

Purchases 11,590 120 156

Sales    (280) (1,147)

Balance at February 29/28 24,786 13,354 6,771 7,126 
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Impairment

Impaired investments included in the Corporation’s portfolio include the following:

(in thousands of Canadian dollars)

As at February 29, 2012 Gross Impaired Net 

By investment type

  Available for sale 30,044 (13,599) 16,445 

 30,044 (13,599) 16,445 

(in thousands of Canadian dollars)

As at February 28, 2011 Gross Impaired Net 

By investment type

  Available for sale 1,314 (736) 578 

 1,314 (736) 578 

(in thousands of Canadian dollars)

As at March 1, 2010 Gross Impaired Net 

By investment type

  Available for sale 9,622 (3,061) 6,561 

 9,622 (3,061) 6,561 

Investment Income

(in thousands of Canadian dollars) 2012 2011 

Interest income 37,914 53,761

Gain (loss) on sale of Fair Value Through Profit or Loss bonds 39,704 14,821

Unrealized gain (loss) on Fair Value Through Profit or Loss bonds 26,122 (3,653)

Unrealized gain (loss) on investment property 15,631 3,455

Gain (loss) on infrastructure investments 519

Unrealized gain (loss) on infrastructure investments 645

Dividend income 12,444 10,191

Gain (loss) on sale of equities 2,126 18,352

Gain (loss) on foreign exchange (1) 81

Income from investment property 1,502 2,509

Write-down of investments (13,599) (736)

Investment management fees (4,032) (3,123)

Total 118,975 95,658 

Income from investment property consists of gross rental income of $11,022,000 (2011 – $10,905,000) and gross 
rental expenses of $9,520,000 (2011 – $8,396,000). 

Investment income is net of investment management fees paid to the Department of Finance in the amount 
of $4.0 million (2011 – $3.1 million). This includes $2.7 million (2011 – $1.8 million) of fees the province paid to 
outside managers on the Corporation’s behalf.
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5. Investment Property – Non-Financial Instruments

(in thousands of Canadian dollars)

Cityplace  
Building* 

Adjacent Surface 
Parking Lots 

Adjacent  
Parkade Total 

Cost         

Balance at March 1, 2010 23,822 4,578 10,822 39,222

Additions         

Balance at February 28, 2011 23,822 4,578 10,822 39,222

Additions         

Balance at February 29, 2012 23,822 4,578 10,822 39,222 

Accumulated Depreciation         

Balance at March 1, 2010 495 186 681

Depreciation 596  223 819

Balance at February 28, 2011 1,091 409 1,500

Depreciation 595  223 818 

Balance at February 29, 2012 1,686 – 632 2,318 

Carrying Amounts         

At March 1, 2010 23,327 4,578 10,636 38,541

At February 28, 2011 22,731 4,578 10,413 37,722

At February 29, 2012 22,136 4,578 10,190 36,904

Fair Value at February 29, 2012 34,192 6,600 10,250 51,042 

* Includes the portion of the cityplace building not used for administrative purposes

6. Due from Other Insurance Companies

(in thousands of Canadian dollars) 2012 2011 

Balance at March 1 11,971 10,656

Claims paid ceded to reinsurers 3,969 20,499

Less: recovery from reinsurers (13,395) (19,184)

Balance at February 29/28 2,545 11,971 

7. Deferred Policy Acquisition Costs

(in thousands of Canadian dollars) Premium Taxes Commissions Writedowns Total 

 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 

Balance at March 1 12,770 12,508 34,741 32,040 (561) (1,405) 46,950 43,143

Deferred during the year 28,603 18,591 77,017 81,211 105,620 99,802

Expensed during the year (28,071) (18,329) (77,437) (78,510) (105,508) (96,839)

Write-down  
(reverse write-down)     (6,515) 844 (6,515) 844 

Balance at February 29/28 13,302 12,770 34,321 34,741 (7,076) (561) 40,547 46,950 

Premium deficiencies are recognized first by writing down deferred policy acquisition costs with any remainder 
recognized as a liability. Refer to Note 3 for more information.
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8. Property and Equipment

(in thousands of Canadian dollars)

Land &  
Buildings (1) 

Furniture & 
Equipment (2) 

Property 
under  

Finance Lease(3) 

Property  
under  

Construction(4) Total 

Cost           

Balance at March 1, 2010 85,239 66,928 33,976 186,143

Additions 8,427 3,746 1,253 6,014 19,440

Disposals (722) (10) (732)

Transfer from (out of) Property 
under Construction 21,379  12,162 (33,541)  

Balance at February 28, 2011 115,045 69,952 13,415 6,439 204,851

Additions 2,344 3,791 25 1,889 8,049

Disposals (2,944) (1,010) (3,954)

Transfer from (out of) Property 
under Construction 4,532   (4,532)   

Balance at February 29, 2012 118,977 72,733 13,440 3,796 208,946 

Accumulated Depreciation           

Balance at March 1, 2010 17,991 56,829 74,820

Disposals (706) (706)

Depreciation 2,639 4,654 307  7,600 

Balance at February 28, 2011 20,630 60,777 307 – 81,714

Disposals (2,073) (708) (2,781)

Depreciation 3,028 3,383 336  6,747 

Balance at February 29, 2012 21,585 63,452 643 – 85,680 

Carrying Amounts           

At March 1, 2010 67,248 10,099 33,976 111,323

At February 28, 2011 94,415 9,175 13,108 6,439 123,137

At February 29, 2012 97,392 9,281 12,797 3,796 123,266

(1)	 Includes land, land improvements, leasehold improvements and building components: elevators, escalators, HVAC systems, roofing systems.
(2)	 Includes furniture, equipment, computer equipment and vehicles.
(3)	 Includes property located at 1284 Main Street in Winnipeg held under a financing lease. Refer to Note 12 for financing lease obligations.
(4)	 The Corporation is in the process of restoring the parkade in cityplace. Refer to Note 28 for commitments.

9. Deferred Development Costs

(in thousands of Canadian dollars) Internally Developed Intangible Assets 

Cost   

Balance at March 1, 2010 67,082

Additions 9,208 

Balance at February 28, 2011 76,290

Additions 6,973 

Balance at February 29, 2012 83,263 

Accumulated Amortization   

Balance at March 1, 2010 32,464

Amortization expense 5,594 

Balance at February 28, 2011 38,058

Amortization expense 8,406 

Balance at February 29, 2012 46,464 

Carrying Amounts   

At March 1, 2010 34,618

At February 28, 2011 38,232

At February 29, 2012 36,799
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10. Due to Other Insurance Companies

(in thousands of Canadian dollars) 2012 2011 

Balance at March 1 13,386 23,386

Increase (decrease) in reinsurance ceded premiums written  
less installment payments (6,271) (3,789)

Increase (decrease) in amounts received as collateral for reinsurers’  
share of unpaid claims (1,324) (6,211)

Balance at February 29/28 5,791 13,386 

11. Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities are comprised of the following:

(in thousands of Canadian dollars) February 29, 2012 February 28, 2011 March 1, 2010 

Due to the Province of Manitoba 8,959 7,727 9,401

Surplus distribution 321,678

Payroll 1,387 558 111

Broker commissions 10,488 9,996 7,187

Provision for fleet rebates 10,496 9,919 9,558

International Registration Program  
payable to other jurisdictions 2,502 1,564 2,055

Other payables and accrued liabilities 24,017 10,137 21,170 

 57,849 361,579 49,482 

12. Financing Lease Obligation

On March 29, 2010 a new Service Centre built on land in Winnipeg at 1284 Main Street became operational. 
The Service Centre and land are owned by a third-party and are leased to the Corporation. The provisions of 
the lease include an initial term of 25 years and, at the Corporation’s option, three further terms of five years 
each. In accordance with IAS 17, Leases, the land portion has been recorded as an operating lease and the 
building portion as a financing lease. The details of the financing lease are as follows:

 2012 2011 

Interest rate 6.70% 7.12%

Interest expense for the year (in thousands of Canadian dollars) 307 301

Financing lease obligation at February 29/28 (in thousands  
of Canadian dollars) 4,536 4,586

The minimum lease payments are as follows:

Minimum Lease Payments
Present Value of  

Minimum Lease Payments

(in thousands of Canadian dollars) 2012 2011 2012 2011

Not later than one year 356 357 343 344

Later than one year and not later than five years 1,460 1,441 1,275 1,259

Later than five years 7,360 7,735 4,189 4,281

Total 9,176 9,533 5,807 5,884
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13. Operating Leases

AS A LESSEE:

The Corporation leases offices in Winnipeg, Brandon, Portage la Prairie, Steinbach and Winkler and vehicles 
temporarily assigned to certain Corporate employees. These leases are classified as operating leases in  
accordance with IAS 17, Leases. The lease terms for the offices are all under ten years and the lease terms  
of the vehicles are all under five years. Also classified as an operating lease is the land portion of the Service  
Centre located at 1284 Main Street in Winnipeg. Refer to Note 12 Financing Lease Obligation. None of the 
leases are subleased and no contingent rent is payable for any of the lease arrangements.

Non-cancellable operating lease rentals are payable as follows:

(in thousands of Canadian dollars) 2012 2011 

Not later than one year 957 1,068

Later than one year and not later than five years 1,959 2,405

Later than five years 2,679 3,180 

Total 5,595 6,653 

During the year ended February 29, 2012, $1,040,000 was recognized as an expense for operating leases  
(2011 - $1,104,000) in the Statement of Operations.

AS A LESSOR:

On May 1, 2009, the Corporation purchased the cityplace property located in downtown Winnipeg including 
the Cityplace building, two adjacent parking lots and one adjacent parkade. The Cityplace building includes 
five floors of office space, three floors of parking and two floors of retail space. The Corporation uses  
approximately 60% of the building for administrative purposes and leases out the remaining 40%.  
The leases are all classified as operating leases.

Future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable leases to be received are:

(in thousands of Canadian dollars) 2012 2011 

Not later than one year 3,129 3,129

Later than one year and not later than five years 11,288 10,879

Later than five years 5,260 7,751 

Total 19,677 21,759 

During the year ended February 29, 2012, income from investment property includes gross rental income from 
operating leases of $11,022,000 (2011 - $10,905,000) and gross rental expenses pertaining to operating leases  
of $9,520,000 (2011 - $8,396,000). Included in rental income is income contingent on retail sales of $160,000 
(2011 - $184,000).

14. Unearned Premiums and Fees

2012 2011

(in thousands of Canadian dollars) Gross 
Reinsurers’ 

Share Gross 
Reinsurers’ 

Share 

Unearned premiums

Balance at March 1 425,652 9,760 416,926 11,853

Premiums written 967,565 8,025 941,378 11,654

Premiums earned (949,830) (14,445) (932,652) (13,747)

Balance at February 29/28 443,387 3,340 425,652 9,760

Prepaid premiums 31,922 31,094

Unearned fees 4,283 3,841  

Balance at February 29/28 479,592 3,340 460,587 9,760 
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(in thousands of Canadian dollars) February 29, 2012 February 28, 2011 March 1, 2010 

Unearned premiums – gross 443,387 425,652 416,926

Prepaid premiums 31,922 31,094 29,296

Unearned fees 4,283 3,841 3,332 

 479,592 460,587 449,554 

15. Provision for Employee Current Benefits

The provision for employee current benefits includes banked vacation, accrued vacation and sick leave liabilities.

(in thousands of Canadian dollars) 2012 2011 

Balance at March 1 19,174 18,833

Provisions 16,434 12,944

Payments (14,499) (12,603)

Balance at February 29/28 21,109 19,174 

16. Provision for Employee Future Benefits 

The Corporation has a defined benefit pension plan, severance benefit plan and a post-retirement extended 
health benefit plan available to eligible employees. The defined benefit pension plan is based on years of service 
and final average salary whereas the severance benefit plan is based on years of service and final salary. 

The Corporation uses an actuarial valuation, on an annual basis, to measure the accrued provision for its benefit 
plans. The most recent actuarial valuation was conducted by an external actuary as at December 31, 2011, with 
the next scheduled actuarial valuation being December 31, 2012. 

The actuarial valuation is based on the Corporation’s best estimate of various economic assumptions. With respect 
to the demographic assumptions, the Corporation relies on and uses the assumptions adopted by the Civil  
Service Superannuation Board. Results from the most recent actuarial valuations, projected to February 29/28 
and the corresponding economic assumptions are as follows:

Pension Benefit Plan Other Benefit Plans

2012 2011 2012 2011 

Discount rate 4.20% 4.85% 4.20% 4.85%

Inflation rate 2.00% 2.00%

Expected salary increase 2.90% 2.90%

Expected health care cost increase 6.00% 6.50%

Pension Benefit Plan Other Benefit Plans

(in thousands of Canadian dollars) 2012 2011 2012 2011 

Balance at March 1 218,872 189,113 38,940 37,721

Current service cost 10,773 9,318 3,819 4,824

Interest cost 10,631 9,990 738 764

Benefits paid (6,591) (5,980) (2,668) (3,537)

Actuarial (gains) losses 26,730 16,431 17 (832)

Balance at February 29/28 260,415 218,872 40,846 38,940 

Employee contribution for the year 6,603 6,387 – – 
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Plan Assets 

The Corporation has not segregated investment assets to fund the benefit plans. Funding occurs as benefits 
are paid. The Corporation has established a provision against general assets, which is being increased to match 
the increase in its benefit plan liabilities. The interest cost associated with the various benefit plans is based on 
market interest rates at the most recent valuation date.

Pension Benefit Plan Other Benefit Plans

(in thousands of Canadian dollars) 2012 2011 2012 2011 

Current service cost 10,773 9,318 3,820 4,824

Interest cost 10,631 9,990 738 764

Actuarial (gains) losses pertaining to interest 16,840 10,352

Actuarial (gains) losses pertaining to expenses 9,890 6,079 17 (832)

 48,134 35,739 4,575 4,756 

17. Insurance Contracts 

The following is a summary of the insurance contract provisions and related reinsurance assets as at the end of 
February, 2012 and 2011 and as at the date of transition to IFRS, March 1, 2010.

(in thousands of Canadian dollars)

February 29, 
2012 

February 28,  
2011 

March 1,  
2010 

Gross Insurance Contract Provisions

Outstanding case reserves 1,009,538 990,792 904,884

Provision for incurred but not reported claims 239,785 338,816 594,796

Provision for internal loss adjusting expenses 141,691 125,405 123,347

Effect of discounting (194,697) (260,937) (277,018)

Provision for adverse deviation 289,128 247,069 282,519 

Total Gross Provision for Unpaid Claims 1,485,445 1,441,145 1,628,528

Total Gross Provision for Unearned Premiums 443,387 425,652 416,926

Total Gross Insurance Contract Provisions 1,928,832 1,866,797 2,045,454  

Reinsurance Ceded

Outstanding case reserves 27,195 38,680 53,564

Provision for incurred but not reported claims 1,817 506 2,756

Effect of discounting (493) (462) (1,619)

Provision for adverse deviation 2,772 3,683 4,788

Total Reinsurers’ Share of Unpaid Claims 31,291 42,407 59,489

Total Reinsurers’ Share of Unearned Premiums 3,340 9,760 11,853 

Total Reinsurers’ Share of Insurance  
Contract Provisions 34,631 52,167 71,342 

Net Insurance Contract Provisions

Outstanding case reserves 982,343 952,112 851,320

Provision for incurred but not reported claims 237,968 338,310 592,040

Provision for internal loss adjusting expenses 141,691 125,405 123,347

Effect of discounting (194,204) (260,475) (275,399)

Provision for adverse deviation 286,356 243,386 277,731

Total Net Provision for Unpaid Claims 1,454,154 1,398,738 1,569,039

Total Net Provision for Unearned Premiums 440,047 415,892 405,073 

Total Net Insurance Contract Provisions 1,894,201 1,814,630 1,974,112 
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The following is a summary of the insurance contract provisions and related reinsurance assets by line of  
business as at the end of February, 2012 and 2011 and as at the date of transition to IFRS, March 1, 2010.

(in thousands of Canadian dollars) February 29, 2012 

 Gross 
Reinsurance 

Ceded Net 

Basic 1,641,690 24,313 1,617,377

Extension 93,823 260 93,563

Special Risk Extension 98,888 7,779 91,109 

Total undiscounted 1,834,401 32,352 1,802,049

Discounting with Provision for Adverse Deviation 94,431 2,279 92,152 

Total Insurance Contract Provisions 1,928,832 34,631 1,894,201 

(in thousands of Canadian dollars) February 28, 2011 

 Gross 
Reinsurance 

Ceded Net 

Basic 1,688,301 39,187 1,649,114

Extension 100,167 673 99,494

Special Risk Extension 92,197 9,086 83,111 

Total undiscounted 1,880,665 48,946 1,831,719

Discounting with Provision for Adverse Deviation (13,868) 3,221 (17,089)

Total Insurance Contract Provisions 1,866,797 52,167 1,814,630 

(in thousands of Canadian dollars) March 1, 2010 

 Gross 
Reinsurance 

Ceded Net 

Basic 1,828,629 46,981 1,781,648

Extension 103,092 1,943 101,149

Special Risk Extension 108,232 19,249 88,983 

Total undiscounted 2,039,953 68,173 1,971,780

Discounting with Provision for Adverse Deviation 5,501 3,169 2,332 

Total Insurance Contract Provisions 2,045,454 71,342 1,974,112 

18. Claims Liabilities 

METHODOLOGY AND ASSUMPTIONS

The best estimates of claim liabilities are determined based on a review of the projected ultimate claim  
liabilities using various standard actuarial techniques. In particular, the techniques used to project ultimate  
claim liabilities include the incurred loss development method, the paid loss development method, the incurred 
Bornheutter-Ferguson method, and the paid Bornheutter-Ferguson method. The projected ultimate claim  
liabilities are then determined by selection of the most appropriate technique by line of business, coverage,  
and maturity of the accident year.

Loss Development Method

The loss development method projects ultimate claims for each accident year using the reported/paid losses  
as at the valuation date, and assuming that future development on these losses is similar to prior accident years’ 
development. The underlying assumption of the method is that the reported/paid-to-date losses will continue  
to develop in a similar manner in the future.

Bornheutter-Ferguson Method

The Bornheutter-Ferguson Method projects ultimate claims for each accident year by adding the expected 
unreported/unpaid losses to the reported/paid losses as at the valuation date. The expected unreported/unpaid 
losses are determined as the product of the expected loss ratio and the percent unreported/unpaid, the latter 
based on the maturity of the accident year. An implicit assumption of this method is that the reported/paid-to-date 
losses contain no informational value as to the amount of losses yet to be reported/paid.
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Claim liabilities are initially determined on an undiscounted gross basis. Ceded claim liabilities are then  
deducted to determine the claim liabilities on an undiscounted net basis.

By line of business and coverage, losses paid and incurred for the last 19 accident years, on a gross basis, are 
organized in a triangular form by accident year and development period. Adjustments are made to the triangles 
for Comprehensive coverage and indexed coverages:

	 •	 For Comprehensive coverage, catastrophic losses are removed from the triangles. For the purpose of the 
valuation, catastrophic losses are defined as losses from a single catastrophic event whereby the incurred 
losses from the event exceed the Corporation’s catastrophe retention level for the applicable accident 
year. The claim liabilities for these catastrophic losses are evaluated separately.

	 •	 For indexed coverages, prior years’ losses are brought to current benefit levels so that the loss development 
factors are unaffected by indexation.

Ratios of loss amounts at successive development years are calculated to build loss development factor triangles. 
Loss development factors are selected based on observed historical development pattern. Judgment is used 
whenever there is significant variability in the observed historical development pattern, which happens with  
coverages with a small number of claims. Judgment is also used, in the absence of available supporting data,  
to determine tail factors for long-tailed coverages.

The loss data does not include internal loss adjustment expenses (ILAE). As such, a provision for ILAE is determined 
based on the observed historical ratios of paid ILAE to paid losses. The method assumes that half of the ILAE  
is paid when the claim is first set up, with the remaining half being paid to maintain the claim. An ILAE ratio is 
selected based on the observed historical ratios. Half of the selected ratio is applied to case reserves. The full 
ratio is applied to incurred but not reported (IBNR) losses.

The loss data includes salvage and subrogation. As such, a separate analysis is not performed.

Ceded claim liabilities and net claim liabilities are determined as follows:

	 •	 For catastrophe reinsurance, estimates of gross claim liabilities are determined for each catastrophic  
loss. The net claim liabilities are determined as the gross claim liabilities less the applicable recovery.  
The ceded claim liabilities are the applicable recovery.

	 •	 For casualty reinsurance, aggregate ceded claim liabilities by insurance year are determined taking into 
consideration discounting, retention levels, and other contract provisions. These liabilities are deducted 
from gross claim liabilities to determine net claim liabilities.

The undiscounted claim liabilities are adjusted to determine the discounted claim liabilities on an actuarial  
present value basis. Two adjustments are made to conform to the Actuarial Standards of Practice of the Canadian 
Institute of Actuaries:

	 •	 The undiscounted claim liabilities are discounted based on a selected discount rate, which is determined 
based on the average duration weighted yield for the Corporation’s bond portfolio as at the end of the 
fiscal year.

	 •	 Provisions for adverse deviation are added to the discounted claim liabilities to obtain the discounted 
claim liabilities on an actuarial present value basis.

The estimates for unearned premium liabilities are also tested to ensure that they are sufficient to pay for future 
claims and expenses in servicing the unexpired policies as of the valuation date.

CHANGES IN ASSUMPTIONS

Basic Accident Benefits – Weekly Indemnity Tail

In the February 28, 2011 valuation, the selected tail factor for Basic Accident Benefits – Weekly Indemnity included 
a 6.00% load. This load was removed in the February 29, 2012 valuation given that virtually all open weekly 
indemnity claims are fully reserved (after 10 years), and the payment amounts are stable over time. This change 
decreased the discounted net claim liabilities by $55.0 million.

Change in Discount Rate

The selected discount rate, determined based on the average duration weighted yield for the Corporation’s 
bond portfolio, decreased by 55 basis points between the February 28, 2011 valuation and the February 29, 2012 
valuation. This decrease in the selected discount rate increased the discounted net claim liabilities by $76.3 million 
and ILAE provision by $7.7 million. 
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Interest Rate Margin for Adverse Deviation

For the year ended February 29, 2012, the average duration weighted yield of the Corporation’s bond portfolio 
decreased from 4.10% to 3.55%. In that same period, Manitoba’s inflation rate has averaged 3.00% compared  
to the Corporation’s forecast of 2.00%. In light of the higher than forecasted inflation rate, coupled with the  
decreasing trend in the average yield, the interest rate margin for adverse deviation was increased by 25 basis 
points to reflect the higher uncertainty in the selected interest rate. The increase in the interest rate margin 
increased the discounted net claim liabilities by $32.8 million and ILAE provision by $3.3 million.

Provision for Future Deductible Increase

In the February 28, 2011, valuation, an IBNR provision was included to cover latent glass claims in the event 
of a deductible increase. This provision was removed for the current valuation, since it was opined that such a 
provision should not be accrued until an effective date is assured. The removal of this provision decreased the 
discounted net claim liabilities by $8.9 million.

Internal Loss Adjustment Expense Provision

For the Basic line of business, in light of recent significant decreases in unpaid claims, the methodology for  
determining the ILAE provision used in the valuation as of February 28, 2011, which compares the paid ILAE 
to the average of the paid and incurred losses, is no longer appropriate. As such, the methodology has been 
revised to the paid ILAE to paid losses method. The same change to the methodology is made to the Extension 
and Special Risk Extension (SRE) lines of business to standardize the approach used.

In addition, in the valuation as of February 28, 2011, the selected ILAE ratio was applied only to “pure” IBNR – 
the estimated portion of total IBNR reserved for accidents which have not been reported as of the valuation 
date. For the current valuation, the selected ILAE ratio has been applied to total IBNR, which better recognizes 
that the ILAE associated with closing long-term claims will likely be greater than that reflected in the historical ratios.

The total effect of both the change in the selected ILAE ratios and applying the selected ILAE ratio to total IBNR 
is an increase in the ILAE provision of $13.4 million.

The provision for unpaid claims, including adjustment expenses, by major claims category includes:

(in thousands of Canadian dollars) 
Balance at February 29, 2012 Gross 

Reinsurers’ 
Share Net 

Automobile Insurance Division

Liability 1,341,719 27,640 1,314,079

Physical Damage 139,929 3,651 136,278 

1,481,648 31,291 1,450,357

Discontinued Operations - Personal/Commercial Lines 3,797   3,797 

 1,485,445 31,291 1,454,154 

(in thousands of Canadian dollars) 
Balance at February 28, 2011 Gross 

Reinsurers’  
Share Net 

Automobile Insurance Division

Liability 1,271,794 37,655 1,234,139

Physical Damage 165,944 4,752 161,192 

1,437,738 42,407 1,395,331

Discontinued Operations - Personal/Commercial Lines 3,407   3,407 

 1,441,145 42,407 1,398,738 

(in thousands of Canadian dollars) 
Balance at March 1, 2010 Gross 

Reinsurers’  
Share Net 

Automobile Insurance Division

Liability 1,481,548 43,313 1,438,235

Physical Damage 143,021 16,176 126,845 

1,624,569 59,489 1,565,080

Discontinued Operations - Personal/Commercial Lines 3,959   3,959 

 1,628,528 59,489 1,569,039 
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CHANGES IN UNPAID CLAIMS AND ILAE PROVISIONS

Gross

(in thousands of Canadian dollars) 2012 2011 

Discounted unpaid claims at March 1 1,315,858 1,505,308

Effect of discounting and Provision for Adverse Deviation 14,079 (5,264)

Undiscounted unpaid claims at March 1 1,329,937 1,500,044

Ultimate claims for current accident year 624,935 633,832

Payment on current accident year claims (383,086) (360,672)

Change in ultimate claims from prior accident years (76,243) (225,093)

Payments on prior accident years claims (246,220) (218,503)

Undiscounted unpaid claims at February 29/28 1,249,323 1,329,608

Effect of discounting and Provision for Adverse Deviation 94,431 (13,868)

Discounted unpaid claims at February 29/28 1,343,754 1,315,740

ILAE provision 141,691 125,405 

Total unpaid claims provision 1,485,445 1,441,145 

Reinsurance Ceded

(in thousands of Canadian dollars) 2012 2011 

Discounted unpaid claims at March 1 42,410 59,534

Effect of discounting and Provision for Adverse Deviation (3,222) (3,169)

Undiscounted unpaid claims at March 1 39,188 56,365

Ultimate claims for current accident year 468 530

Payment on current accident year claims

Change in ultimate claims from prior accident years 8,617 2,797

Payments on prior accident years claims (19,261) (20,506)

Undiscounted unpaid claims at February 29/28 29,012 39,186

Effect of discounting and Provision for Adverse Deviation 2,279 3,221 

Discounted unpaid claims at February 29/28 31,291 42,407

ILAE provision   

Total unpaid claims provision 31,291 42,407 

Net of Reinsurance Ceded

(in thousands of Canadian dollars) 2012 2011 

Discounted unpaid claims at March 1 1,273,448 1,445,774

Effect of discounting and Provision for Adverse Deviation 17,301 (2,095)

Undiscounted unpaid claims at March 1 1,290,749 1,443,679

Ultimate claims for current accident year 624,467 633,302

Payment on current accident year claims (383,086) (360,672

Change in ultimate claims from prior accident years (84,860) (227,890)

Payments on prior accident years claims (226,959) (197,997)

Undiscounted unpaid claims at February 29/28 1,220,311 1,290,422

Effect of discounting and Provision for Adverse Deviation 92,152 (17,089)

Discounted unpaid claims at February 29/28 1,312,463 1,273,333

ILAE provision 141,691 125,405 

Total unpaid claims provision 1,454,154 1,398,738 

According to accepted actuarial practice, the discounted reserve includes a provision for adverse deviation  
of $286.4 million (2011 – $243.4 million) comprised of a claims development component of $137.6 million  
(2011 – $135.6 million), an interest rate component of $147.4 million (2011 – $106.0 million) and a reinsurance 
component of $1.4 million (2011 - $1.8 million). 
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Net claims incurred and adjustment expenses include no losses from catastrophes in the current fiscal  
year (2011 – nil). Catastrophes are an inherent risk to the Corporation and may contribute materially to the  
year-to-year fluctuations in the Corporation’s results of operations and financial condition when they occur. 

Changes in the estimate of net unpaid claims for discontinued operations recognized during the fiscal year 
ended February 29, 2012 are a increase of $0.4 million (2011 – decrease of $0.4 million). All of the net unpaid 
claims relate to loss dates prior to October 1, 1990.

Unpaid claim liabilities are carried at values that reflect their remaining estimated ultimate costs for all accident years. 

DEVELOPMENT OF ULTIMATE CLAIMS

Accident Year

Gross 
(in thousands of Canadian dollars) 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

5 Year  
Total 

Estimate of ultimate claims costs

At end of accident year 691,105 605,403 641,527 633,832 624,935

One year later 672,845 591,749 611,578 627,341

Two years later 669,780 576,028 608,583

Three years later 638,322 556,758

Four years later 636,848

Current estimate of cumulative 
claims costs 636,848 556,758 608,583 627,341 624,935 3,054,465

Cumulative payments to date 558,501 490,658 507,722 517,708 383,086 2,457,675

Accident Year

Net of Reinsurance Ceded 
(in thousands of Canadian dollars) 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

5 Year  
Total 

Estimate of ultimate claims costs

At end of accident year 649,685 604,931 618,906 633,302 624,467

One year later 632,232 591,300 590,027 626,998

Two years later 629,452 575,766 586,459

Three years later 598,086 556,563

Four years later 595,361

Current estimate of cumulative 
claims costs 595,361 556,563 586,459 626,998 624,467 2,989,848

Cumulative payments to date 518,557 490,659 488,081 517,708 383,087 2,398,092

There is uncertainty in the estimation process. The actual amount of ultimate claims can only be ascertained 
once all claims are closed. The unpaid claim liabilities for Personal Injury Protection Plan (PIPP) benefits represent 
the majority of the Corporation’s claim liabilities. PIPP claim liabilities are also the most uncertain because of the 
long term nature of these benefits. A 5.00% increase in net PIPP claim liabilities is equal to approximately $40.0 
million. Such a change could occur if the expected future development of payments to lifetime PIPP claimants is 
higher than anticipated. A 1.00% decrease in the interest rate would increase PIPP claim liabilities by approximately 
$110.0 million. However, this impact would be largely offset by gains on the Corporation’s fixed income portfolio. 
Changes to assumptions for other coverages or lines of business are considered to be less material. 

19. Reinsurance 

The Corporation follows the practice of obtaining reinsurance to limit its exposure to losses. Under agreements 
in effect at February 29, 2012, these reinsurance agreements limit the Corporation’s exposure on a casualty 
basis to a maximum amount of $5.0 million (2011 – $5.0 million) on any one occurrence. 

The reinsurance arrangements also limit the Corporation’s liability in respect to a series of claims arising out of 
a single occurrence, including catastrophic claims, to a maximum of $16.7 million (2011 – $16.7 million). These 
arrangements protect the Corporation against losses up to $266.7 million (2011 – $266.7 million). 

Certain lines of insurance carry maximum limits lower than these amounts. While these arrangements are made 
to protect against large losses, the primary liability to the policyholders remains with the Corporation. 
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20. Information Technology Optimization Fund

Activity in the Information Technology Optimization Fund includes:

(in thousands of Canadian dollars) 2012 2011 

Balance at March 1 65,000

Transfer from (to) Basic Insurance Retained Earnings (65,000) 65,000 

Balance at February 29/28 – 65,000 

See Note 3 for full details of the Extension Developement Fund.

21. Extension Development Fund

Activity in the Extension Development Fund includes:

(in thousands of Canadian dollars) 2012 2011 

Balance at March 1 43,227 48,279

Transfer (to) from Non-Basic Retained Earnings  
for IT optimization projects (10,000) 10,000 

Transfer (to) Non-Basic Retained Earnings for program costs (12,458) (15,052)

Balance at February 29/28 20,769 43,227 

See Note 3 for full details of the Extension Development Fund.

22. Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) 

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (AOCI) reflects the net unrealized gain or loss on financial assets 
classified as AFS. Changes in AOCI by type of asset are presented below. 

(in thousands of Canadian dollars)

Equity  
Investments 

Other  
Investments Total AOCI 

Balance at March 1, 2010 14,813 750 15,563

Unrealized gains (losses) on AFS assets 84,761 466 85,227

Reclassification of net realized (gains) losses related 
to AFS assets (17,833) 595 (17,238) 

Balance at February 28, 2011 81,741 1,811 83,552

Unrealized gains (losses) on AFS assets (24,604)  1,294 (23,310) 

Reclassification of net realized (gains) losses related 
to AFS assets (2,127)  (2,127) 

Balance at February 29, 2012 55,010 3,105 58,115 

23. Service Fees and Other Revenue

(in thousands of Canadian dollars) 2012 2011 

Transaction fees 7,701 6,363

Time payment fees 2,578 2,453 

Time payment interest 12,236 10,097

Late payment fees 881 1,031 

Dishonoured payment fees 771 696

Identity card/Enhanced identity card fees 439 290

Other miscellaneous revenue 440 1,400 

 25,046 22,330 
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24. The Drivers and Vehicles Act Operations Recovery 

Under The Drivers and Vehicles Act (DVA), the Corporation is responsible for operations pertaining to driver 
safety, vehicle registration and driver licensing, including all related financial, administrative and data  
processing services. 

The Province of Manitoba provided funding to the Corporation in the amount of $21.0 million annually, from 
October, 2004 to March, 2011, to defray the cost borne by the Corporation for DVA operations. Beginning  
April 1, 2011 the Province of Manitoba increased its payments to the Corporation to $28.0 million per year. 

The Corporation, on behalf of the Province of Manitoba, collects and transfers motor vehicle registration fees 
and driver licensing fees to the Province of Manitoba. 

Fees collected on behalf of and transferred to the Province of Manitoba include:

(in thousands of Canadian dollars) 2012 2011 

Vehicle registration fees 138,082 130,845

Driver licensing fees 22,681 20,990 

 160,763 151,835 

25. Net Income (Loss) From Annual Operations  

The lines of business reported net income (loss) from annual operations as follows: 

(in thousands of Canadian dollars) 2012 2011 

Basic insurance 22,278 283,855 

Extension insurance 21,836 25,199 

Special risk extension insurance (2,191) 10,416 

The Drivers and Vehicles Act operations (4,500) (26,954)

 15,145 8,661 

Net income (loss) from annual operations 37,423 292,516

Surplus distribution (14,120) (321,678)

Net income (loss) after surplus distribution 23,303 (29,162)

26. Surplus Distribution 

During the last quarter of the previous fiscal year, based on the Public Utilities Board Orders 122/10 and 43/11, a 
surplus distribution of Basic motor vehicle premiums written based on 2009/2010 rates, estimated to be $321.7 
million, was recorded. The surplus distribution was actualized in May, 2011 when $318.5 million was paid to 
Basic policyholders. 

On June 6, 2011, in response to customer feedback, the Corporation applied to the Public Utilities Board, 
requesting that the Board vary its Order 43/11, regarding the distributed rebate. The Corporation requested 
permission to issue an additional rebate of $16.0 million, estimated to be 5.0% of the original rebate. The most 
recent rebate, like previous rebates, was calculated on premiums paid in the 2009/2010 insurance year. The 
Corporation requested that all ratepayers receive the “greater of” calculation based on both premiums paid in 
fiscal year 2009/2010 and on the 2009/2010 insurance rating year. This would ensure affected customers receive 
a rebate based on the calculation that was most advantageous to them and eliminated any potential disadvan-
tage based on their particular vehicle or Autopac insurance purchasing decisions. 

On June 23, 2011, the additional proposed surplus distribution was approved by the Public Utilities Board in its 
Order 86/11. The additional surplus was actualized during the third quarter of 2011/2012 when $17.3 million was 
paid to Basic policyholders.

27. Discontinued General Insurance Operations 

The Corporation discontinued writing reinsurance assumed business effective November 18, 1987, and personal 
and commercial insurance policies effective October 1, 1990. 

As of February 28, 2001, the Corporation accepted a third-party offer to purchase the reinsurance assumed 
business from the Corporation. Under the terms of the agreement, the Corporation transferred and assigned to 
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the third party the title, interest and all of the obligations resulting from the un-commuted reinsurance assumed 
treaties written by the Corporation for the period July 1, 1975 to November 18, 1987, including retrocessional 
treaties. The obligations include all known or unknown liabilities. The primary liability to the treaty holders 
remains with the Corporation in the event of the third party’s insolvency. 

Claims costs and expenses on personal and commercial policies will be incurred until all claims on existing  
policies are settled. 

Discontinued operations resulted in a net loss of $0.2 million (2011 – net income of $0.6 million) which is reported 
as part of the Special Risk Extension line of business (Note 25). Included in the provision for unpaid claims  
is $3.8 million (2011 – $3.4 million) relating to discontinued operations.

28. Commitments 

The Corporation has committed $2.5 million for the restoration of the parkade and the construction  
of a daycare in cityplace.

29. Related-Party Transactions

Key management personnel are comprised of all members of the Board of Directors and the named Executive. 
The summary of compensation of key management personnel for the year is as follows:

(in thousands of Canadian dollars) 2012 2011 

Short-term benefits 1,674 1,754

Post-employment benefits 51 45 

Other long-term benefits 20 19 

Termination benefits 269 346 

 2,014 2,164 

Key management personnel and their close relatives may have insurance policies with the Corporation as 
required by The Manitoba Public Insurance Corporation Act. The terms and conditions of such transactions are 
the same as those available to all policy holders and employees of the Corporation.

30. Capital Management 

The Corporation’s Board of Directors has approved risk-based capital adequacy target levels by line of business 
to maintain financial stability. In addition, specific levels of retained earnings have been appropriated to support 
one corporate initiative:

The Extension Development Fund, which was established to defray the costs of projects undertaken to 
maximize the opportunities presented by the 2004 merger of Manitoba Public Insurance and the Division of 
Driver and Vehicle Licensing. (Refer to Notes 3 and 21 for full details of the Extension Development Fund.) 

Basic Retained Earnings are comprised of the Rate Stabilization Reserve (RSR) and Retained Earnings in excess 
of the RSR. The Corporation’s Board of Directors’ current target RSR level is $210.0 million based on the 2011 
Basic Insurance Dynamic Capital Adequacy Test (DCAT) report. In his report, the Corporation’s internal actuary 
concluded that a minimum RSR level of $210.0 million would be required for Basic to achieve a satisfactory 
future financial condition. An RSR level lower than $210.0 million would result in a “not satisfactory” opinion  
because there were plausible adverse scenarios identified where liabilities exceed assets. In 2010, the Corporation 
began using the maximum of the Public Utilities Board RSR target in its Public Utilities Board rate applications 
for ratemaking purposes.

The Public Utilities Board of Manitoba, by its Order 162/11, has established the Basic RSR target for rate-setting 
purposes to be $77.9 million to $155.7 million. The target is reflective of 10.0% to 20.0% of written premiums. 

In the same order, the Public Utilities Board agreed that it would revisit the RSR target during the 2013 General 
Rate Application process.

The Corporation’s Board of Directors’ current target level for Extension Retained Earnings is $35.0 million based 
on the 2011 Extension DCAT report. Based on this target the Corporation’s internal actuary has concluded that 
the future financial condition of this line of business is satisfactory. 

The Corporation’s Board of Directors’ current target level of $37.0 million for SRE Retained Earnings is based 
on the 2011 SRE DCAT report. The Corporation’s internal actuary has concluded that, based on this target, the 
future financial condition of this line of business is satisfactory.
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31. Financial Risk Management 

Investments carry certain financial risks including market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. In accordance with 
Section 12(1) of The Manitoba Public Insurance Corporation Act, the Minister of Finance is responsible for the 
investments of the Corporation. The Minister has charged the Department of Finance with the operational 
management of the fund. The Corporation, through the Investment Committee of the Board, and the Department 
jointly determine appropriate policies and strategies to mitigate risk. The investment objectives and goals of 
the Corporation are embodied in an Investment Policy document, which sets target asset allocation and portfolio 
concentration limits as well as defining the credit quality of the counterparties and the percentage of highly 
liquid investments required to meet cash flow needs. 

Market Risk 

Market risk is the risk that changes in foreign exchange rates, market interest rates and other changes in market 
prices will result in fluctuation of the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument.

CURRENCY RISK

Currency risk is the risk that changes in foreign exchange rates will result in fluctuation of the fair value or future 
cash flows of a financial instrument. The Corporation has low exposure to currency risk because the Corporation 
has limited non-Canadian financial instruments. At February 29, 2012, total U.S. dollar financial instruments  
had a carry value of $134,951,000 U.S. ($134,330,000 Cdn) which is approximately 5.0% of the Corporation’s 
investment portfolio. 

The Corporation has entered into a currency swap relating to a Province of Quebec provincial bond denominated 
in U.S. dollars for $10,000,000. The currency swap provides a fixed 5.76% return in Canadian dollars. The agreement  
also provides that at predetermined future dates, the Corporation pays a fixed 7.5% rate based on the U.S. 
$10,000,000 par value of the bond and receives 5.76% return based on a Canadian dollar notional value  
of $13,350,000. The maturity date of the currency swap and the bond is July 15, 2023.

INTEREST RATE RISK

Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in market interest rates will result in fluctuation of the fair value or future 
cash flows of a financial instrument. 

The market valuation of the Corporation’s fixed income portfolio is directly impacted by fluctuations in interest 
rates and will have a larger impact on instruments with a long duration. 

Bonds Average Effective Rate - % 

 2012 2011 

Federal 2.17 2.34

Provincial 2.82 3.32 

Municipal 3.38 4.14 

Hospitals 2.50 3.45 

Schools 5.47 5.67 

Corporations 3.32 4.93 

As at February 29, 2012, a 100 basis point change in interest rates would result in a change in the fair value  
of the Corporation’s fixed income portfolio of approximately $68.7 million (2011 - $82.2 million). As all of the 
Corporation’s marketable fixed income assets are now classified as FVTPL, all changes would affect net income.

Fluctuations in interest rates would also have an impact on the Corporation’s unpaid claims. The Corporation’s 
duration of its fixed income portfolio approximates the duration of its unpaid claims liability and therefore, any 
change in interest rates related to these investments is largely mitigated by an offsetting impact on the unpaid 
claims liability.

EQUITY PRICE RISK

The fair value of equity securities held by the Corporation can be affected by changes in market prices, other 
than currency and interest rate risks, which may be caused by factors specific to the individual financial instrument 
or factors affecting all similar financial instruments. General economic conditions, political conditions and other 
factors affect the equity market. As at February 29, 2012, a 10.0% change in the fair value of the Corporation’s 
equity portfolio would result in a $50.2 million (2011 - $52.7 million) change in other comprehensive income. 
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As all equities are classified as AFS, all changes in prices are recorded as other comprehensive income and 
do not directly impact the Statement of Operations until such time as an investment is sold or has become 
impaired (Refer to Note 3). The Corporation has policies in place to limit and monitor its exposure to individual 
issuers and classes of issuers of equity securities.

Credit Risk 

Credit risk is the potential for the Corporation to incur a financial loss due to the failure of the other party to 
discharge an obligation. Financial instruments that give rise to potential credit risk for the Corporation include 
fixed income securities, accounts receivable, reinsurance receivables and structured settlements. 

The following table summarizes the Corporation’s maximum exposure to credit risk on the Statement of  
Financial Position. The maximum credit exposure is the carrying value of the asset net of any allowance for loss. 

(in thousands of Canadian dollars) 2012 2011 2010 

Bonds 1,396,357 1,703,414 1,703,606

Due from other insurance companies 2,545 11,971 10,656

Accounts receivable 304,155 292,035 289,711 

Reinsurance receivable 27,268 38,007 49,289 

Maximum credit risk exposure on the Statement of 
Financial Position 1,730,325   2,045,427  2,053,262 

FIXED INCOME SECURITIES CREDIT RISK

The Corporation mitigates its exposure to credit risk by placing fixed income securities with high-quality institutions 
with investment grade ratings. The credit quality of financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired can 
be assessed by reference to external credit ratings, where available, or to historical information about counterparty 
default rates. The following table highlights the fixed income securities by credit quality according primarily  
to Moody’s Investors Service. All Manitoba municipal, schools and hospitals bonds are backed by the province 
of Manitoba and, as such, have been assigned the credit rating of the Province of Manitoba Bonds.

February 29, 2012 February 28, 2011 March 1, 2010 

 

Carrying 
Value  

(in thousands 
of Canadian 

dollars) 
Percentage  
of Portfolio

Carrying Value 
(in thousands 
of Canadian 

dollars) 
Percentage  
of Portfolio

Carrying Value  
(in thousands 
of Canadian 

dollars) 
Percentage  
of Portfolio 

Aaa 190,790 13.6 438,066 25.7 421,669 24.7

Aa 1,158,928 83.0 1,238,750 72.7 1,244,625 73.1

A 45,446 3.3 25,548 1.5 24,411 1.4

Not rated 1,193 0.1 1,050 0.1 12,901 0.8 

 1,396,357 100.0 1,703,414 100.0 1,703,606 100.0 

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE CREDIT RISK

The Corporation’s accounts receivable are comprised of customers with varying financial conditions as the  
Corporation is required to provide Basic insurance to all vehicle owners and drivers in the province of Manitoba. 
All significant past due receivables, including subrogation receivables, are fully provided for due to the uncertainty 
of collection. The credit risk pertaining to premiums receivable is mitigated as a customer’s policy may be  
cancelled for default of payment. 
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The following table highlights the Corporation’s accounts receivable by major category.

(in thousands of Canadian dollars)

February 29, 
2012 

February 28,  
2011 

March 1, 
2010 

Policy and time payments 275,706 264,026 260,983

Accrued interest 23,202 25,601 26,783

Subrogation and other receivables 12,304 10,895 12,493 

Allowance for doubtful accounts (7,057) (8,487) (10,548) 

 304,155   292,035  289,711 

Details of the allowance for doubtful accounts are as follows:

(in thousands of Canadian dollars) 2012 2011 

Balance at March 1 8,487 10,548

Accounts written off (1,227) (1,653) 

Current period provision (203) (408) 

Balance at February 29/28 7,057 8,487 

REINSURANCE RECEIVABLE CREDIT RISK

The Corporation evaluates the financial condition of its reinsurers to minimize the exposure to significant losses 
from reinsurer insolvency. The Corporation holds collateral in regards to unregistered reinsurance in the form of 
amounts on deposit and letters of credit of $3.0 million (2011 – $4.4 million). Furthermore, a corporate guideline 
requiring reinsurers to have a minimum credit rating of A- from A.M. Best and BBB+ credit rating from Standard 
& Poors is in place. 

For the 2011/2012 fiscal year, nine reinsurers share the Corporation’s casualty reinsurance coverage, ranging 
from 2.5% to 35.0% on any one layer. The reinsurer exposed to 35.0% of the losses is licensed in Canada by the 
Office of the Superintendent of Financial Institutions and, therefore, subject to minimum capital requirements. 

For the 2011/2012 fiscal year, 15 reinsurers share the Corporation’s catastrophe reinsurance coverage, none 
holding more than 22.0% of the reinsurance exposure on any one layer. The 2011/2012 catastrophe reinsurance 
program is placed on a rolling one-third, three-year term to further mitigate the Corporation’s exposure to 
reinsurer insolvency. 

No amount due from reinsurers was considered uncollectible during 2011/2012 and no allowance for doubtful 
accounts has been established as at February 29, 2012.

STRUCTURED SETTLEMENTS CREDIT RISK

The claims settlement processes may involve the use of structured settlements, which are purchased through 
various financial institutions. As of the Statement of Financial Position date, the present value of expected  
payments totals $157.0 million (2011 – $138.5 million) based on various dates of purchase. The Corporation  
assumes a financial guarantee to make payments to claimants in the event that financial institutions default  
on payments under the terms of the structured settlement. 

Liquidity Risk 

A significant risk of the insurance industry is the ability to match the cash inflows of the investment portfolio  
with the cash requirements of the policy liabilities and operating expenses. The Corporation has taken the  
overall historical liability settlement pattern as a basis to define diversification and duration characteristics  
of the investment portfolio. To meet the cash requirements for claims and operating expenses, the Corporation 
has policies to ensure that assets and liabilities are broadly matched in terms of their duration. 

Cash and cash equivalents are essential components of the Corporation’s financial liquidity management.  
Cash flows are monitored to ensure sufficient resources are available to meet our current operating requirements. 
Excess funds not needed to meet current operating requirements are invested in long-term instruments  
to generate additional revenue for future obligations.
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Bonds - Maturity Profile 

February 29, 2012 

(in thousands of Canadian dollars) Within One Year
One Year  

To Five Years After Five Years
Total  

Carrying Value 

Federal 13,392 50,468 57,422 121,282

Manitoba

Provincial 27,719 29,632 232,575 289,926

Municipal 17,013 21,680 15,850 54,543

Hospitals 12,482 12,482

Schools 3,030 7,792 479,335 490,157

Other Provinces

Provincial 41,487 41,071 237,418 319,976

Municipal 5,383 52,651 58,034

Corporations 23,574 26,383 49,957 

 102,641 192,082 1,101,634 1,396,357 

February 28, 2011 

(in thousands of Canadian dollars) Within One Year
One Year  

To Five Years After Five Years
Total  

Carrying Value 

Federal 174,452 184,661 359,113

Manitoba

Provincial 5,089 87,921 221,920 314,930

Municipal 465 40,651 17,598 58,714

Hospitals 12,497 12,497

Schools 3,142 16,130 439,123 458,395

Other Provinces

Provincial 55,910 135,548 242,929 434,387

Municipal 5,344 31,106 36,450

Corporations 301 28,627 28,928 

 64,907 460,046 1,178,461 1,703,414 

March 1, 2010 

(in thousands of Canadian dollars) Within One Year
One Year  

To Five Years After Five Years
Total  

Carrying Value 

Federal 10,095 91,598 272,496 374,189

Manitoba

Provincial 14,648 49,222 279,592 343,462

Municipal 681 38,597 45,143 84,421

Hospitals 12,901 12,901

Schools 4,393 23,677 397,112 425,182

Other Provinces

Provincial 7,229 188,760 212,023 408,012

Municipal 5,000 7,461 12,461

Corporations 5,039 37,939 42,978 

 37,046 401,893 1,264,667 1,703,606 
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32. Non-current assets and liabilities

The following table presents financial assets and liabilities the Corporation expects to recover or settle  
in 12 months or greater at February 29, 2012, February 28, 2011 and March 1, 2010.

(in thousands of Canadian dollars)

February 29, 
2012 

February 28,  
2011 

March 1, 
2010 

Assets:

Bonds 1,293,716 1,638,507 1,666,560

Equity investments 502,675 526,972 387,092 

Investment property 154,086 85,799  

Infrastructure and other investments 18,361   7,126  7,650 

Reinsurers’ share of unpaid claims 28,427 37,600 40,992 

Total assets 1,997,265 2,296,004 2,102,294  

Liabilities:

Financing lease obligation 4,180 4,229

Provision for unpaid claims 1,228,332 1,150,790 1,362,278 

Total liabilities 1,232,512 1,155,019 1,362,278  

Net assets due after one year 764,753 1,140,985 740,016 

33. First-time Adoption of International  
Financial Reporting Standards

Canadian publicly accountable enterprises, including Manitoba Public Insurance, are required to prepare their 
financial statements, in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) for periods beginning 
on or after January 1, 2011. The financial statements included herein have been prepared based on IFRS. Comparative 
results for the twelve months ended February 28, 2011, previously reported based on Canadian Generally  
Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP), have been restated based on IFRS which required the preparation of 
an opening IFRS Statement of Financial Position on the Corporation’s Transition Date to IFRS, March 1, 2010.

No significant presentation differences have been made to the Statement of Cash Flows upon transition to IFRS.

In preparing the financial statements in accordance with IFRS 1, First-time adoption of IFRS, retrospective 
application of IFRS to create or revise estimates is prohibited. Adjustments made to restate items previously 
prepared in accordance with Canadian GAAP to IFRS are presented in the Reconciliations from Canadian GAAP 
to IFRS tables below.

IFRS 1, First-time adoption of IFRS – Exemption

IFRS 1 allows for a number of electable exemptions upon first-time adoption to IFRS. The Corporation  
has elected the following exemptions in preparing its opening March 1, 2010, Statement of Financial Position:

Designation of Financial Instruments – The Corporation has elected to use the IFRS 1 exemption  
and change the classification of AFS Bonds to FVTPL. The effect of this change is detailed in Note B  
of the Reconciliations from Canadian GAAP to IFRS tables presented below.

Claims Development – The Corporation has elected to disclose only five years of information related to 
claims development, in the February 29, 2012 year-end financial statements, consistent with the transition 
provisions of IFRS 4, Insurance Contracts (Note 18). Each subsequent year, the Corporation will add an  
additional year of disclosure until such time as it is disclosing ten years.

Defined Benefit Plans – The Corporation has elected to disclose only two years of information relating  
to the present value of the defined benefit obligation and the experience adjustment arising on plan  
benefits upon transition, in the February 29, 2012 year-end financial statements (Note 16). Each subsequent 
year, the Corporation will add an additional year of disclosure until such time as it is disclosing five years.

Arrangements Containing a Lease – The Corporation has elected to apply the transitional provision in 
IFRIC 4, Determining whether or not an Arrangement contains a Lease. This election allows the Corporation 
to use the facts and circumstances that exist at the transition date to determine whether or not arrangements 
existing at transition date contain a lease.



valuing What Matters

8 2

RECONCILIATIONS FROM CANADIAN GAAP TO IFRS

Statement of Financial Position

as at March 1, 2010  

(in thousands of Canadian dollars) Notes
Canadian 

GAAP  
IFRS  

Adjustments IFRS  

Assets

Cash and investments 1,804,144 1,804,144

Equity investments 387,092 387,092

Investment property D. 15,215 23,326 38,541

Due from other insurance companies 10,656 10,656

Accounts receivable 289,711 289,711

Prepaid expenses 981 981

Deferred policy acquisition costs 43,143 43,143

Reinsurers' share of unearned premiums 11,853 11,853

Reinsurers' share of unpaid claims 59,489 59,489

Property and equipment D. 134,649 (23,326) 111,323

Deferred development costs  34,618   34,618  

  2,791,551  – 2,791,551  

Liabilities

Due to other insurance companies 23,386 23,386

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 49,482 49,482

Financing lease obligation –

Unearned premiums and fees 449,554 449,554

Provision for employee current benefits A. 15,666 3,167 18,833

Provision for employee future benefits 226,834 226,834

Provision for unpaid claims  1,628,528   1,628,528  

  2,393,450  3,167 2,396,617  

Equity

Retained Earnings

Basic Insurance Retained Earnings 154,000 154,000

Rate Stabilization Reserve A. & B. 70,709 18,639 89,348

Retained Earnings

Information Technology Optimization Fund     

  224,709  18,639 243,348  

Non-Basic Retained Earnings    

Retained Earnings A. & B. 85,389 2,355 87,744

Extension Development Fund  48,279   48,279  

  133,668  2,355 136,023  

  358,377  20,994 379,371  

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income B. 39,724  (24,161) 15,563  

Total Equity  398,101  (3,167) 394,934

  2,791,551  – 2,791,551  
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Statement of Financial Position

as at February 28, 2011  

(in thousands of Canadian dollars) Notes
Canadian 

GAAP  
IFRS  

Adjustments IFRS  

Assets

Cash and investments 1,776,096 1,776,096

Equity investments 526,972 526,972

Investment property D. 100,791 22,730 123,521

Due from other insurance companies  11,971 11,971

Accounts receivable 292,035 292,035

Prepaid expenses  949 949

Deferred policy acquisition costs  46,950 46,950

Reinsurers' share of unearned premiums  9,760 9,760

Reinsurers' share of unpaid claims  42,407 42,407

Property and equipment D. 145,867 (22,730)  123,137

Deferred development costs  38,232   38,232  

  2,992,030  – 2,992,030  

Liabilities

Due to other insurance companies 13,386  13,386

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 361,579  361,579

Financing lease obligation  4,586 4,586

Unearned premiums and fees 460,587  460,587

Provision for employee current benefits A. 16,007 3,167 19,174

Provision for employee future benefits 257,812  257,812

Provision for unpaid claims   1,441,145   1,441,145  

   2,555,102  3,167 2,558,269  

Equity

Retained Earnings

Basic Insurance Retained Earnings

Rate Stabilization Reserve A. & B. 127,880 12,645  140,525

Retained Earnings

Information Technology Optimization Fund  65,000   65,000  

  192,880   12,645  205,525  

Non-Basic Retained Earnings    

Retained Earnings A. & B. 99,969 1,488  101,457

Extension Development Fund  43,227   43,227  

  143,196  1,488  144,684  

  336,076  14,133  350,209  

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income B. 100,852  (17,300) 83,552  

Total Equity  436,928  (3,167) 433,761

  2,992,030  – 2,992,030  



valuing What Matters

8 4

Statement of Operations 

For the year ended February 28, 2011  

(in thousands of Canadian dollars) Notes
Canadian 

GAAP  
IFRS  

Adjustments IFRS  

Earned Revenues

Gross premiums written 941,378 941,378

Premiums ceded to reinsurers  (11,654)  (11,654)

Net premiums written 929,724 929,724

Increase (decrease) in gross unearned premiums (8,726) (8,726 )

Increase (decrease) in reinsurers’ share of unearned 
premiums  (2,093)  (2,093)

Net premiums earned 918,905 918,905

Service fees & other revenue C. & D. 16,907 5,423 22,330

The Drivers and Vehicles Act operations recovery  20,995  20,995 

Total Earned Revenues  956,807 5,423 962,230 

Claims Costs

Direct claims incurred 421,828 421,828

Claims incurred ceded to reinsurers  (3,417)  (3,417)

Net claims incurred 418,411 418,411

Claims expense 110,857 110,857

Loss prevention/Road safety  18,052  18,052 

Total Claims Costs  547,320 – 547,320 

Expenses    

Operating C. & D. 109,904 7,200 117,104

Commissions 78,510 78,510

Premium taxes 18,329 18,329

Regulatory/Appeal  4,109  4,109 

Total Expenses  210,852 7,200 218,052 

Underwriting income (loss) 198,635 (1,777) 196,858  

Investment income B. & D. 100,742 (5,084) 95,658  

Gain on disposal of property     

Net income (loss) from annual operations 299,377 (6,861) 292,516  

Surplus distribution  (321,678)  (321,678)

Net income (loss) after surplus distribution  (22,301) (6,861) (29,162)

Statement of Comprehensive Income (Loss)  

For the year ended February 28, 2011  

(in thousands of Canadian dollars) Notes
Canadian 

GAAP  
IFRS  

Adjustments IFRS  

Net income (loss) after surplus distribution  (22,301) (6,861) (29,162)

Other Comprehensive Income (loss)   

Unrealized gains (losses) on Available for Sale assets 84,613 614 85,227

Reclassification of net realized (gains) losses related to 
Available for Sale assets  (23,485) 6,247 (17,238)

Other Comprehensive Income (loss) for the period  B. 61,128 6,861 67,989 

Total Comprehensive Income (loss)  38,827 – 38,827 
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Statement of Changes in Equity

Retained Earnings  Basic Non-Basic Corporate 

(in thousands  
of Canadian dollars) Notes

Rate  
Stabilization 

Reserve 
Retained  
Earnings 

IT  
Optimization  

Fund

Total  
Retained  
Earnings 

Retained 
Earnings 

Extension 
Development 

Fund

Total  
Retained 
Earnings 

Total  
Retained 
Earnings 

Balance at February 28, 
2010 (GAAP)  154,000 70,709 224,709 85,389 48,279 133,668 358,377 

Accounts payable and  
accrued liabilities –  
provision for sick leave A. (2,378) (2,378) (789) (789) (3,167)

Investments – reclassification 
from AFS to FVTPL B.  21,017 21,017 3,144 3,144 24,161 

Total adjustments  – 18,639 – 18,639 2,355 – 2,355 20,994 

Balance at March 1, 2010 
(IFRS)  154,000 89,348 – 243,348 87,744 48,279 136,023 379,371 

Balance at February 28, 
2011 (GAAP)  127,880  65,000 192,880 99,969 43,227 143,196 336,076 

Accounts payable and  
accrued liabilities –  
provision for sick leave A. (2,378) (2,378) (789) (789) (3,167)

Investments – reclassification 
from AFS to FVTPL B. 15,023  15,023 2,277 2,277 17,300 

Total adjustments  12,645 – – 12,645 1,488 – 1,488 14,133 

Balance at February 28, 
2011 (IFRS)  140,525 – 65,000 205,525 101,457 43,227 144,684 350,209 

Accumulated Other  
Comprehensive Income 
(in thousands of Canadian dollars) Notes Bonds Equity Investments 

Other  
Investments 

Total  
Accumulated 

Other  
Comprehensive 

Income  

Balance at February 28, 2010 (GAAP) 24,161 14,813 750 39,724

Investments – reclassification from AFS to FVTPL B. (24,161)   (24,161)

Balance at March 1, 2010 (IFRS)  – 14,813 750 15,563 

Balance at February 28, 2011 (GAAP)  17,300 81,741 1,811 100,852 

Investments – reclassification from AFS to FVTPL B. (17,300)   (17,300)

Balance at February 28, 2011 (IFRS)  – 81,741 1,811 83,552 
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A.	 Upon transition to IFRS, a provision for sick leave benefits has been established for $3,167,000. Under IFRS, a 
provision is required for plans that allow for sick leave entitlements to be carried forward to future years. The 
provision was calculated based on the average number of employees who receive sick leave benefits in a 
given year in excess of the plan’s entitlement. The plan’s current entitlement is one and one-half days of sick 
leave per month (subject to a doctor’s certification in certain instances) for each full time employee. Employees 
do not receive any payout upon leaving the Corporation for any unused sick leave entitlements accrued.  
The provision did not materially change between the March 1, 2010 transition date to IFRS and February, 28, 2011 
and therefore, no change to the provision was recorded in fiscal year 2010/2011. Under Canadian GAAP, 
there was no equivalent requirement to establish such a provision.

B.	 Upon transition to IFRS, the Corporation has elected to change bonds previously classified as AFS to FVTPL 
as permitted by IFRS 1, First-Time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards. Under Canadian 
GAAP, the fair value of AFS bonds was reported in Other Comprehensive Income on the Statement of  
Comprehensive Income and in Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (AOCI) on the Balance Sheet.  
As a result of the election exercised under IFRS 1, the fair value of FVTPL bonds of $24,161,000 was  
transferred from AOCI to Retained Earnings on March 1, 2010.

During the year ended February 28, 2011, the fair value of FVTPL bonds decreased by $6,861,000 and is 
now reported as Investment Income on the Statement of Operations under IFRS. Previously under Canadian 
GAAP, the bonds were classified as AFS and the decrease in fair value was reported in Other Comprehensive 
Income on the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

C.	As permitted under Canadian GAAP, debit and credit card fees were previously charged against Service Fees 
and Other Revenue. Under IFRS, debit and credit card fees are charged to Operating Expenses. 

During the year ended February 28, 2011, Service Fees and Other Revenue and Operating Expenses both  
increased by $7,796,000 as a result of this change. This change has no effect on Net Income (Loss) from  
Annual Operations.

D.	Under Canadian GAAP, the entire cityplace building was classified as Property and Equipment on the  
Balance Sheet. Under IFRS, the portion of the cityplace building that is not used by the Corporation (40.0%) 
is classified as Investment Property on the Statement of Financial Position. This change resulted in two  
adjustments on the Statement of Operations, neither of which has an effect on Net Income (Loss) from  
Annual Operations.

	 i.	 Under Canadian GAAP, rental income received from the cityplace building was reported as Service  
Fees and Other Revenue. Under IFRS, rental income from the cityplace building is reported as Investment 
Income.

During the year ended February 28, 2011, Service Fees and Other Revenue decreased and Investment 
Income increased by $2,373,000 as a result of this change.

	 ii.	 Under Canadian GAAP, the related depreciation expense was reported as an Operating Expense. Under 
IFRS, the related depreciation expense is reported as an offset to Investment Income.

During the year ended February 28, 2011, Operating Expenses and Investment Income decreased by 
$596,000 as a result of this change.
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34. Rate Regulation 
Under the provisions of The Crown Corporations Public Review and Accountability Act, the Public Utilities Board 
has the authority to review and approve Basic Insurance rates, premiums and service fees charged with respect 
to compulsory driver and vehicle insurance provided by the Corporation. No new rates or fees for services can 
be introduced without the approval of the Public Utilities Board. 

Annually the Corporation prepares its Basic Insurance general rate application and files it with the Public Utilities 
Board in the month of June for implementation the following fiscal year commencing on March 1. The general 
rate application includes the prospective rate requirements based on historical and forecasted financial and 
other information as well as the application of actuarial, accounting and statistical principles and practices. 

The Corporation is required to pay a portion of the Public Utilities Board’s operating costs relating to the  
Corporation’s share of the overall Public Utilities Board budget. In addition, the Public Utilities Board can  
also order the Corporation to reimburse other proceeding participants for specified costs such as their time, 
legal and expert witness fees.
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Manitoba Public Insurance is a provincial Crown corporation that has provided automobile insurance coverage since 1971.  
We assumed a broader spectrum of services in 2004, when we merged driver and vehicle licensing into our operations.  

The Corporation is governed by The Manitoba Public Insurance Corporation Act and The Drivers and Vehicles Act. 

This annual report is available in French at mpi.mb.ca 

Le rapport annuel est disponible en français sur le site Web mpi.mb.ca

Customer service 
Winnipeg

Tel: 204-985-7000

Outside Winnipeg

Tel: 800-665-2410

Deaf Access TTY/TDD

Tel: 204-985-8832

Out-of-Province Claims

Tel: 800-661-6051

Administrative offices
Winnipeg

234 Donald Street
Box 6300
R3C 4A4

Brandon

731-1st Street
R7A 6C3

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Service locations

WINNIPEG
Service Centres

15 Barnes Street
40 Lexington Park
1284 Main Street
930 St. Mary’s Road
125 King Edward Street East
1103 Pacific Avenue
420 Pembina Highway

cityplace 

Service Centre - Main Floor
ID Verification and Data Integrity
Rehabilitation Management Centre
Serious and Long-Term Case  
	 Management Centre 
Bodily Injury Centre
234 Donald Street

Physical Damage Centre 

Holding Compound/Receiving
Salvage
Commercial Claims
1981 Plessis Road

ARBORG 
Service Centre

323 Sunset Boulevard

BEAUSEJOUR
Service Centre

848 Park Avenue

BRANDON
Service Centre

731-1st Street

DAUPHIN
Service Centre

217 Industrial Road

 

 

FLIN FLON
Claim Centre

8 Timber Lane

PORTAGE LA PRAIRIE
claim Centre

2007 Saskatchewan Avenue West
 

Driver and Vehicle

Licensing Centre

25 Tupper Street North

SELKIRK
Service Centre

1008 Manitoba Avenue

STEINBACH
Claim Centre

91 North Front Drive
 

Service Centre

165 Park Road West 
Clearspring Village Mall, Unit 2

SWAN RIVER
Claim Centre

125-4th Avenue North

THE PAS
Claim Centre

424 Fischer Avenue

THOMPSON
Service Centre

53 Commercial Place

WINKLER
Service Centre

355 Boundary Trail

Manitoba Public Insurance Locations
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Manitoba Public Insurance delivers value to Manitobans through  

an optimum combination of price, coverage, service and access.   

It’s what we call our Value Equation.
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